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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a high investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware
of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more
suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the main board of the Stock Exchange and
no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for
the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of Inno-Tech Holdings Limited (the ‘Directors”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the purpose of giving information with regard to Inno-Tech Holdings Limited.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive and there are no
other matters the omission of which would make any statement in this report misleading.
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Corporate Information
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Five-year Financial Summary

HFMEHE

Period
from 1 April
2007 to
Year ended Year ended 30 June
30 June 30 June 2008
2010 2009 —ETTtE
8E BE MAE—HZ  Period from 1 July to 30 June
—E-Z% ZTENEF “TENE BEA-BEANAZTHILHE
~A=+H ~NAZTH ~NA=TH 2007 2006
LEE IEFE IR0 —ETLF —EERE
Audited Audited Audited Unaudited Unaudited
it 17 BEZ TERZ RICER RICEZ
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FiET FET THL T
Turnover L 9,345 78,112 143,971 57,342 72,343
Cost of sales HEKA (20,019) (80,698) (111,964) (42,046) (53,566)
Gross (loss)/profit (£8)/EF (10,674) (2,586) 32,007 15,296 18,777
Other revenue and other HipA
net income 14,616 5,487 6,413 3,285 1,190
Marketing and promotion expenses 35 # & I 5 251 (5,265) (4,660) (19,199) (2,476) (1,055)
Administrative expenses THHY (235,125) (389,076) (87,464) (14,372) (21,487)
(Loss)/profit from operations g (B8 &7 (236,448) (390,835) (68,743) 1,733 (2,575)
(Loss) attributable to shareholders  FX & /&5 (&518) (140,706) (391,000) (71,352) (4,489) (9,081)
Dividends ey - - _ _ _
Loss per share ShER
- Basic —&ER (24.76) cents fll (25.08) cents flll  (6.28) cents fli  (0.88) cent il (1.81) cents fll
As at 30 June
RRB=1+H
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
ZE-Z§ —ETNF —TTNE “TTLF —ETRF
Audited Audited Audited Unaudited Unaudited
BEY KERZ LEZ RCER REEG
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TET THL AL
Total assets BEE 156,725 144,147 434,810 365,705 133,206
Total liabilities EEy=H (101,481) (61,163) (99,089) (28,975) (80,191)
Shareholders’ funds REES 45,795 82,984 335,721 336,730 53,015
Non-current assets FERBEE 96,138 122,739 207,228 126,371 47,609
Current assets MBEE 60,587 21,408 227,582 239,334 85,597
Current liabilties nEEE (47,402 (32,706) (91,300) (18,902) (64,822)
Non-current liabilities ERBAE (54,079) (28,457 (7,789) (10,073) (15,369)
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am pleased to report the
Group’s results for the year ended June 30, 2010.

The domestic sale of i-Panel and Apbus products and the provision
of intranet design for residential communities in the PRC remained
our core business over the past reporting period. Our sales from
this business for FY2010 have decreased by approximately 88%
over the FY2009. We faced a highly competitive environment last
year in which leading brands were able to gain market share at
the expense of less established brands. We believe this trend may
continue for the coming year. In response, we may have to reduce our
production costs and increase our marketing efforts in order to remain
competitive in the environment.

We have completed the acquisition of a further 47.2% of HK
Gaofeng Limited during the year, making our total equity interest in
the company to 62.6%. During the year, we have commissioned the
geological study on the extended excavation depth of the mining
area of the gold mine owned by HK Gaofeng Limited. The delay in
completion of the feasibility study and the other factors resulted in
the Group’s gold mine business continued to be operated in a small
scale.

We believe the outdoor media sector will be one of the fastest
growing sectors in the media and advertising industry in PRC. As
part of our strategy to focus our resources on business which would
bring stable income to the Group without incurring significant capital
investment, we have agreed to acquire Active Link Investments
Limited whose principal business is to conduct advertising and
related activities on buses and bus stations in Shijiazhuang City, Hebei
Province.

In order to allow management more time to focus on developing our
direct outdoor media activities, we have divested our investment in
Great China Media Holdings Limited (‘GCM”). The business scope
of GCM only covers the provision of advertising related consultation
services. We believe it would be more beneficial to the Group to focus
on direct outdoor media activities rather than just providing advertising
related consultation services.

The Group has completed two placing of new shares in the past year,
raising a total of approximately HK$52.7 million of additional capital.
This additional capital will enable us to further develop our business
in the outdoor media industry in PRC as well as strengthening our
working capital position.

We have consolidated our common shares in the year on the basis of
every five old shares into one new share.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to thank all of our
directors, management, and staff for their support and dedication
in the past year. | would also like to express my most sincere
appreciation to our shareholders and business partners for their
unrelenting trust and support to the Group.

Wong Yuen Yee
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 September 2010
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE R DT

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The Group reported a turnover of approximately HK$9,345,000
for the year ended 30 June 2010, representing a decrease of
approximately 88% compared with the turnover of approximately
HK$78,112,000 for the year ended 30 June 2009. During the
12 months of operation, the intelligence system business sector
contributed a turnover of approximately HK$9,345,000 being the
major source of turnover.

Gross loss for the Group is approximately HK$10,674,000 (2009:
HK$2,586,000).

The loss is mainly attributable to the substantial reduction in the
valuation of the gold mining business of the Group resulting from
a revision of business strategy and focus due to (1) changes in the
regulatory environment; (2) market sentiment in respect of companies
engaging in gold mining business on a small scale; and (3) delay in
making progress in increasing the output of the Zhang Jia Fan Gold
Mine, the only gold mine held by the Group.

The Group’s loss before taxation as at 30 June 2010 was
approximately HK$236,448,000 (2009: HK$390,835,000).

Basic loss per share as at 30 June 2010 was HK$(24.76) cents
(2009: HK$(25.08) cents).

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 30 June 2010 (2009: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Software Application Solutions and Hotel Business
Division

The domestic sale of i-Panel and Apbus products and the provision
of intranet design for residential communities has always been
the backbone of the Group. The ever-evolving market conditions
in the sale of i-Panel, Apbus products and provision of intranet
design for residential communication property sector in the PRC is
highly competitive. Participants in the industry in the PRC market
include international and domestic brands which compete in. This
competition has led to leading brands continuing to gain market share
at the expense of less established brands. To compete effectively
and maintain our market share, we may be forced to , among other
actions, optimize our production costs, increase marketing efforts,
which may in turn adversely affect our profit margin.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIRE 2w DT

BUS'NESS REVIEW (continued)

Software Application Solutions and Hotel Business
Division (continued)

Due to the unsatisfactory performance of our hotel business division,
we had to significantly scale down our hotel operations in the PRC in
2009 thus resulting in a significant write off in our investments in the
hospitality business in PRC last year. The Group intended to focus on
other businesses and continued to expand into industries with more
prospects.

Investment in Gold Mining Industry

- Acquisition of Gaofeng Holding Co. Limited

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated 10
June 2009, 30 September 2009 and 6 October 2009 respectively
and the circular (the “Circular A”) of the Company dated 11
September 2009. Unless otherwise defined, terms used herein shall
have the same meanings as those defined in the Circular A.

The Acquisition of 47.2% of the issued share capital of HK Gaofeng
was completed on 27 October 2009. Subsequent to Completion,
HK Gaofeng is owned as to 60.8% by Dragon Emperor, as to 1.8%
by Inno Gold Mine and as to 37.4% by the Vendor. Dragon Emperor
and Inno Gold Mine are wholly owned by the Company. Accordingly,
HK Gaofeng became a subsidiary of the Company and is beneficially
owned as to 62.6% by the Group.

As the approval for the acquisition of 81.5% equity interests in Zhang
Jia Fan Gold Mine had been obtained from Jiangxi Commerce
Administrative Bureau, Jiu Jiang Gaofeng became interested in 81.5%
of Zhang Jia Fan Gold Mine on 9 July 2009. Accordingly, Zhang Jia
Fan Gold Mine became an indirect subsidiary of the Company.

The initial plan is for the Company to () accelerate the production
capacity of the Zhang Jia Fan (“ZJF”) Gold Mine to 360,000 tons each
year after completion of acquisition and (i) invest in numerous gold
mines with low quantity reserves in addition to the ZJF Gold Mine.
To increase the production output of ZJF Gold Mine, substantive
resources, in the approximate amount of HK$43.5 million have to
be invested in plant and equipment. On the basis that the Company
will make the required capital expenditure and the ZJF Gold Mine
achieves an annual output of 360,000 tons, the valuation of the ZJF
Gold Mine as at October 2009 was approximately HK$212 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB 2 wm Al N AT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Investment in Gold Mining Industry

- Acquisition of Gaofeng Holding Co. Limited (continued)

In October 2009, approval of the right to increase the exploration
and extend the excavation depth of the mining area was obtained. A
geological feasibility study on the extended excavation depth of the
mining area was commissioned which at the Latest Practicable Date
has not yet completed. The purpose of commissioning the geological
feasibility study is part of the initiative to increase the production
output of the ZJF Gold Mine.

At the same time, the Group also commenced to identify other
suitable gold mining project for acquisition. However, there has been
a tightening of the regulatory environment in relation to the acquisition
of mining business by listed companies resulting in uncertainties
as to the time required to complete the acquisition, the increased
cost of acquisition due to the changes in the regulations and market
sentiment in respect of companies engaging in gold mining business.
Furthermore, no significant progress was made in increasing the
output of the ZJF Gold Mine due to the delay in the completion of the
geological feasibility study. In the meantime, the Group continued with
the operating of one small scale gold mine with 45,000 tons output
each year.

In light of change in circumstances, the management has undertaken
a review of the business strategy and focus of the Group and
concluded that the Group should consider focusing its resources on
businesses which would bring stable income to the Group without
having to incur significant capital investment.

In line with the revised business strategy, the Company in June 2010
approved the proposal to invest in a bus station advertising agency
business with a guarantee that the business will at least earn an
annual net profit after tax of HK$11 million.

In the premises, during the financial year ended 30 June 2010, the
annual production capacity of ZJF Gold Mine remains at 45,000
ton, hence, the valuation of the gold mining business is substantially
reduced.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIRE 2w DT

BUS'NESS REVIEW (continued)

Disposal of Great China Media Holdings Limited (“GCM”)
Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
3 May 2010, the Board anticipates that the business of provision
of advertising related consultation services will be subject to fierce
competition and thus the disposal of GCM will enable the Group to
preserve more management efforts and financial resources to focus
on existing business.

On 3 May 2010, Shiny Step Investments Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, Duncan Capital Limited and Mr. Shek Ka
Sun, Andy entered into the Sale and Purchase Agreement pursuant to
which Shiny Step Investments Limited has agreed to sell and Duncan
Capital Limited has agreed to acquire the 238 shares (representing
approximately 19.19% of the issued share capital of GCM) in the
share capital of GCM for the Consideration of HK$43,000,000
which had been satisfied () as to HK$2,150,000 in cash; (i) as to
HK2,150,000 by the issue of the First Promissory Notes matured
on 3 August 2010; and (i) as to HK$38,700,000 by the issue of
the Second Promissory Notes maturing on 3 May 2011 by Duncan
Capital Limited.

Acquisition of Active Link Investments Limited

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated
21 July 2010 and 10 August 2010 respectively and the circular
(the “Circular B”) of the Company dated 24 August 2010. Unless
otherwise defined, terms used herein shall have the same meanings
as those defined in the Circular B.

On 19 July 2010, the Company entered into the Agreement with
Chuk Ka Yi, Tam Wing Yuen, Chan Pui Shan Vivien and J&K TMT
Investment Company Limited (“Vendors”) for the acquisition of the
entire issued share capital in Active Link Investments Limited which
indirectly holds 80% equity interest in Shijiazhuang Xunhua (the
“Acquisition”).
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BUS'NESS REVIEW (continued)

Acquisition of Active Link Investments Limited (continued)
Upon completion, the Group will own 100% shareholding in Active
Link and its subsidiaries which in return owns 80% equity interest of
Shijiazhuang Xunhua.

Shijiazhuang Xunhua’s principal businesses include design,
production and publication of outdoor advertisements in the PRC.
Pursuant to two licensing agreements made between the Local Bus
Company and Shijiazhuang Xunhua, the Local Bus Company has
granted to Shijiazhuang Xunhua the advertising rights on all the 12
double-decker buses and 1,544 bus stations operated and owned
by the Local Bus Company. It is the common understanding between
the Local Bus Company and Shijiazhuang Xunhua that the granting of
such advertising rights is on an exclusive basis.

The Local Bus Company has also licensed to Shandong Xunhua
the advertising rights on all 2,100 single-decker buses operated and
owned by the Local Bus Company. Pursuant to the sub-License,
Shandong Xunhua has sub-licensed its advertising rights on all such
2,100 single-decker buses to Shijiazhuang Xunhua. It is the common
understanding between the Shandong Xunhua and Shijiazhuang
Xunhua that the granting of such sub-license is on an exclusive basis.

The Local Bus Company is a public bus operator in Shijiazhuang
City, Hebei Province, the PRC, which currently operates and owns
approximately 2,100 single-decker buses, 12 double-decker buses
and 1,544 bus stations.

The Board is of the view that the Acquisition is a good opportunity for
the Group to further expand its business in outdoor advertising and
display industry in the PRC.

PROSPECTS

Advertising and display industry

In order to broaden its source of income and expand the business
operations of the Group, the Directors believe that it is beneficial for
the Group to diversity its business into the advertising industry in
the PRC. An extensive research conducted by Morgan Stanley has
shown that there is an 80% correlation between GDP and advertising
spending. Economic downturn in 2008 has had a major effect in
the media and advertising industry worldwide (MorganAnderson
Consulting 2009) suffered the sharpest decline in any single year
since the Great Depression, and the PRC market was no exception.
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PROSPECTS (continued)

Advertising and display industry (continued)

The research figures published by CTR Media Intelligence showed
that the average year on year growth of PRC’s advertising
expenditure from 20083 to 2008 was 20.71%. The growth in 2009 had
been considerably lower, but remains a 2-digit growth at 13.5%.

The research conducted by Research in China shows that television
remains as the most popular adverting media due to its greater
competitive edge having a wider coverage and deeper penetration
over the rest of the market. In 2009, the market and advertising
expenditure in PRC television alone amounted to around RMB115
billion.

The overall advertising and marketing expenditure within the
outdoor media sector amounts to RMB41 billion in 2009. As the
stimulus policies adopted by the PRC government and the strength
of domestic consumption should help propel PRC’s economy in
2010, the continuing recovery of the PRC economy in 2010 and
the strong correlation between GDP and advertisement spending.
While competition in the outdoor advertising industry will continue
to be intense, the Board remains optimistic about the mid- to long-
term growth prospects of the advertising industry in PRC. The Board
believes that the potential within the advertising and marketing
industry could be realized and strong growth would be expected in
the near future. The Board is of the view that the acquisition of Active
Link will enrich the earning base of the Group by introducing an
additional investment platform to the Group.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 30 June 2010, the net current assets of the Group were
approximately HK$13,185,000 (2009: net current liabilities
of HK$11,298,000). Out of the current assets as at 30 June,
approximately HK$10,326,000 (2009: HK$10,735,000) were cash
and cash equivalents. The current ratio of the Group as at 30 June
2010 was 128% (2009: 65%). As at 30 June 2010, bank overdrafts
and short-sterm bank borrowings and convertible bonds in aggregate
amounted to approximately HK$66,752,000 (2009: HK$34,063,000).
Net debt (i.e. total bank borrowings less cash and cash equivalent
and pledged deposits) as at 30 June 2010 was HK$56,426,000
(2009: 23,328,000) and accordingly net debt gearing ratio (i.e. net
debt/net assets) as at 30 June 2010 was 102% (2009: 28%).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Share Consolidation

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 2
October 2009 and the circular of the Company dated 14 October
2009 (“the Circular C”). Unless otherwise defined, terms used herein
shall have the same meanings as those defined in the Circular C.
On 12 November 2009, the Company has implemented the Share
Consolidation on the basis that every five (5) issued and unissued
Shares of HK$0.02 each in the share capital of the Company will be
consolidated into one (1) Consolidated Share of HK$0.10 each. As
at 12 November 2009, the total issued shares of the Company is
482,327,135 Consolidated Shares.

During the period from 1 July 2009 to 11 November 2009 (before
share consolidation), the Company issued 267,457,866 new ordinary
shares of which 2,000,000 shares were from exercise of staff options
pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and 265,457,866
shares were from the conversion of convertible notes.

During the period from 12 November 2009 (after share consolidation)
to 30 June 2010 the Company issued: (a) 10,000,000 new ordinary
shares which were from the conversion of convertible note, (b)
214,465,427 new ordinary shares which were from the placements,
and (c) 35,239,620 new shares which were from the exercise of staff
options pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.

As at 30 June 2010, the total issued Shares of the Company were
742,032,182 Shares.

B ¥ El R

ROEERMBERR
R-ZZE—ZFENA=Z+H AEEBZRHEEF
H47/513,185,0008 7T (ZEZNF KB EEF
611,298,000 7L) - MANA=ZTHZ RBEES
FR o 4910,326,000/%8 7T ( —Z Z A, 4F 1 10,735,000
BL)AREMASEEY - AEBR_E—F
FRAZTHZ BB EA128% (ZEZNF
65%) R_E—TEA=Z+RH RITEZ B
HSRTTIE B R AJ ]I & 54 £ 4 466,752,000/
7T (ZZZTN4F : 34,063,000/ 7T) - N - T —T4F
ANEZtTHZzEEFE (ARTEELERR:
RIS ZEYAREIERTFR) £56,426,000/5 7T
(ZZFZ N :23,328,0008 ) At - R=-F—
TFANA-THZBEFEL X (AMAaEFER
BEFE)A102% (ZEZNE :28%) ©

BEER

Bina ot
BIRMARRTN_EZNF+A BB ZAM
FRAZZEZNF+A+MAMEL ZBK ([BX
Cl) - BREBAREIN AREMAAZTEZBNC
NEIRAEEEBHERAREZE - R_EZENF+—A
+ZH ARRDETRMDE G EEABERAR
AR FRGRSREEC.BILZEEITRA
BITRMEHA—(N)RESRAEAEA0ETLZE
- RZZEZNF+—A+H AREIZEHE
1TRD B 8 5482,327,1350% A& AR 19 ©

—EEAF+A-BE_ETAF+—A+—
B ER (A% 1D& BFAT) » AR RE417267,457,8660%
27 3m A% - H 2,000,000l K BITEERARE
& 1% BERR AT £l 2 (2 BIEARHE - 55 51N265,457,866
Y NERE AR et

RIZBZAFE+—A+=-8 (KRHhea#HEB) E-F
—ZFXNA=ZTHBEB AAFET (@ AR
AT RS Z 5 T 25 7710,000, 0008 31 3@ A% » ()i 38
fp &5 85 17214,465,427x ¥ S @ R ORIEE X
NEAEREBEREE - BArTEE S BREmE
1735,239,620/% # A% °

R-E—ZFXA=1TH KAQAHE
742,032,182% A% 7 °

HE T

12 Inno-Tech Holdings Limited E&I#2BEER AT Annual Report 09/10 F ¥



Management Discussion and Analysis

BB 2 wm il N AT

CAP'TAL STRUCTURE (continued)

Subscription and Placing Activities

On 13 January 2010, the Company announced the Subscription
of 94,465,427 new Shares by independent third parties which was
completed on 27 January 2010. The net proceeds in the amount of
approximately HK$21.6 million was intended to be used as general
working capital of the Group and for its business development. As at
the Latest Practicable Date, the entire amount of net proceeds has
been utilized as general working capital for settlement of accounts
payable.

On 23 March 2010, the Company announced the placing of a
maximum of 120,000,000 new Shares to independent third parties
which was completed on 29 March 2010. The net proceeds in
the amount of approximately HK$27 milion was intended to be
used as general working capital of the Group. As at the Latest
Practicable Date, the entire amount of proceeds has been utilized as
to approximately HK$10.9 million for administration and professional
expenses and approximately HK$10 million for investment in listed
securities and the balance was held as bank deposit.

On 26 June 2010, the Company announced the Subscription of
148,000,000 new Shares by independent third parties which was
completed on 7 July 2010. The net proceeds in the amount of
approximately HK$24.8 million was intended to be as to 90% to
finance the acquisition set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 26 June 2010 and 21 July 2010 and as to the remaining
10% as general working capital of the Group. As at the Latest
Practicable Date, the entire amount of proceeds has been utilized as
to approximately HK$0.8 million for administration and professional
expenses and the balance was held as bank deposit.
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CAP'TAL STRUCTURE (continued)

Conversion of Convertible bonds

On 28 February 2009, the Company issued convertible notes with
principal amount of HK$43,384,000 as consideration for acquisition
of approximately 23% interest in GCM. The convertible notes, with
maturity date on 28 February 2011, are convertible into Shares at
a conversion price of HK$0.319 per Share during the conversion
period. During the year, the Company issued 37,000,000 Shares
(equal to 185,000,000 shares before Share Consolidation) being the
Shares converted from the convertible notes and the balance of the
principal amount of the convertible notes is HK$15,878,000 which will
be converted into 49,774,294 Shares.

On 15 May 2009, the Company issued convertible notes with
the total principal amount of HK$16,680,000 as consideration for
acquisition of approximately 15.4% interest in Gaofeng Holdings Co.
Limited. The convertible notes, with maturity date on 15 May 2010,
are convertible into Shares at a conversion price of HK$0.30 per
Share during the conversion period. During the year, the Company
issued approximately 6,091,573 Shares (equal to 30,457,866 shares
after Share Consolidation) being the Shares converted from the
convertible notes.

On 27 October 2009, the Company issued convertible notes with
the total principal amount of HK$75,000,000 as consideration for
acquisition of approximately 47.2% interest in Gaofeng Holdings
Co. Limited. The convertible notes, with maturity date on 27
October 2011, are convertible into Shares at a conversion price of
HK$0.69 per Share during the conversion period. During the year,
the Company issued 20,000,000 (50,000,000 shares before Share
consolidation and 10,000,000 shares after Share Consolidation)
Shares being the Shares converted from the convertible notes
and the balance of the principal amount of the convertible notes is
HK$61,200,000 which will be converted into 88,695,652 Shares.
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FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RISK

Up to 30 June 2010, there were no borrowings denominated in
foreign currency. The management of the Company is of the opinion
that the Group has insignificant exposure to interest rate risk and
foreign currency exchange risk. As a result, the Group had not used
any financial instruments for hedging against fluctuation in interest rate
nor foreign currency for the year ended 30 June 2010.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

There were no assets pledged to third parties as at 30 June 2010.
(2009: time deposits of HK$10,000,000 have been pledged against
banking facilities granted to the Group.)

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
DURING THE YEAR AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

Save as disclosed under “Management Discussion and Analysis —
Business Review” of pages 7 to 10 in this annual report, there were
no material acquisitions and disposals by the Group during the year
ended 30 June 2010.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The average number of employees (including Directors) was 52 as
at 30 June 2010 (2009: 123), and the total remuneration for the year
ended 30 June 2010 was approximately HK$10,226,000 (2009:
HK$42,010,000). The Group remunerates its employees based on
their performance, working experience and the prevailing market
price. Other employee benefits include mandatory provident fund,
insurance and medical coverage, training programs and share option
scheme.

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 30 June 2010 (2009: Nil) and no interim dividend was
paid during the year (2009: Nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of events after the reporting period of the Group are set out in
Note 45 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

Ms. Wong Yuen Yee, aged 48

Chairman and Executive Director

Ms. Wong Yuen Yee, aged 48, is one of the founders of the Group.
Ms. Wong is the chairman and an executive director of the Group.
Ms. Wong is responsible for formulating and monitoring the Group’s
overall strategic plan and development. Ms. Wong graduated from
The University of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree of social
sciences in 1984 and a master degree in business administration
in 1993. Ms. Wong has over 18 years of experience in property
development and management in both the PRC and Hong Kong.

Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert, aged 52

Deputy Chairman, Executive Director and Compliance Officer
Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert, aged 52 is the deputy chairman and
an executive director of the Group. Mr. Wong is also the compliance
officer of the Company. He is responsible for the Group’s corporate
management and strategic planning for the Group’s overall business.
Mr. Wong graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a master
degree in business administration in 1993. He has over 25 years
of experience in the field of information technology and 8 years of
experience in lecturing at The Hong Kong Polytechnic University,
and has also been working in commercial sectors for over 13 years
as senior management. He also has ample knowledge of software
development and project management in various industries and
has acquired substantial business and technical knowledge in
telecommunication, Internet, e-commerce and networking. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Wong was the president of HealthAnswers Asia
Pte Ltd., and the founder and managing director of Expert System
Co., Ltd. And Expert System Solution Ltd. Mr. Wong joined the Group
in January 2001. In 2005, he was awarded the “Chief Executive’s
Commendation for Community Service”.

Mr. Ang Wing Fung, aged 37

Executive Director

Mr. Ang Wing Fung, aged 37 is an executive director of the Group.
Mr. Ang is responsible for the Group’s financial operation and
management. Mr. Ang is the Company Secretary and Financial
Controller of China Public Healthcare (Holding) Limited, a company
listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Mr. Ang holds a
Bachelor degree in Accounting and Finance from the University of
New South Wales, Australia. He is an associate member of Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a qualified member of
CPA Australia and an associated member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators. He has over 10 years experience in financial
management, auditing and accounting in an international accounting
firm and a listed company on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ang joined the
Group on 19 February 2010.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Wong On Yee, aged 34

Independent Non-Executive Director and Audit Committee
Member

Ms. Wong On Yee, aged 34, is an independent non-executive director
and the chairman of audit committee effective of the Group. Ms.
Wong is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and holds a bachelor degree in accountancy from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Ms. Wong has over 10 years of
experience in the fields of auditing, accounting and finance. She
worked for an international audit firm for nearly 8 years. She is
currently the director of an accountancy consulting firm. Ms. Wong
did not hold any directorship in any public listed company in the last
three years. Ms. Wong joined the Group on 1 April 2010.

Mr. Chu Woon Yuen, aged 48

Independent Non-Executive Director and Audit Committee
Member

Mr. Chu Woon Yuen, aged 48, was appointed as independent
non-executive director and a member of the Audit Committee
of the Company on 3 May 2010. Mr. Chu had worked in various
corporations namely, CCB (Asia) Limited, Erste Bank, Natwest,
Barclays Bank Plc, Chase Manhattan Bank N.A., Standard Chartered
Bank and Bankers Trust Company. Mr. Chu has over 20 years
experience in the financial management and banking industry. Mr. Chu
did not hold any directorship in any public listed company in the last
three years.

Ms. Au Yuk Kit, aged 44

Independent Non-Executive Director and Audit Committee
Member

Mr. Au Yuk Kit, aged 44, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director and a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company on 2 August 2010. Ms. Au graduated from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and is currently a merchant in fashion and
marketing industry. Ms. Au has more than 20 years of experience in
merchandising and marketing industry. Ms. Au did not hold any other
directorship in any public listed companies in the last three years.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

EENSHEEAE Y BE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wong Yuen Man, Alice, aged 44

Director of Human Resources and Communications

Ms. Wong Yuen Man, Alice, aged 44, is the director of human
resources and business development of the Group. Ms. Wong is the
sister of Ms. Wong Yuen Yee, who is the chairman and an executive
Director. Ms. Wong is responsible for human resources, administration
and business development. Ms. Wong graduated from Indiana
State University in Indiana, US with a bachelor degree in public
relations. She has approximately 14 years of experience in the field
of communications and human resources. Ms. Wong has worked
for 9 years with American Consulate General in Hong Kong and has
handled the visit of US Secretary of State and President Clinton in
1997 and 1998 respectively. Prior to joining the Group, she worked
for Adler Planetarium in Chicago, US. Ms. Wong joined the Group in
September 2000.

Mr. Li Kar Fai, Peter, aged 45

Company Secretary

Mr. Li Kar Fai, Peter, aged 45 was appointed as Company Secretary
and Chief Financial Officer of the Group. Mr. Li is responsible for
Group accounting and corporate finance of the Group. Mr. Li
graduated from City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree
in accountancy. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining the Group, he worked
for an international accounting and audit firm, for 9 years and a Hong
Kong listed company as a financial controller and company secretary
for 5 years.

EREEAR
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Report of the Directors
EEEHE

The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the
year ended 30 June 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 18 to the financial
statements.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Company’s
principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2010 are set out
on page 43 of the annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend in
respect of the year ended 30 June 2010. No interim dividend has
been paid by the Company during the year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in Note 15 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company are set out
in Note 35 to the financial statements.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
are set out in Note 37 to the financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions entered by the Group during the year
ended 30 June 2010, which do not constitute connected transactions
under the GEM Listing Rules are disclosed in Note 44 to the financial
statements.
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Report of the Directors
EREHE

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Wong Yuen Yee

Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert

Mr. Ang Wing Fung (appointed on 19 February 2010)
Mr. Wong Kwok Sing (resigned on 23 March 2010)
Mr. Lam Shiu San (resigned on 1 June 2010)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Ms. Wong On Yee (appointed on 1 April 2010)

Mr. Chu Woon Yuen (appointed on 3 May 2010)

Ms. Au Yuk Kit (appointed on 2 August 2010)

Mr. Wong Tak Leung, Charles (resigned on 3 May 2010)
Mr. Lai Ying Sum (resigned on 1 April 2010)

Mr. Cheng King Hung (resigned on 2 August 2010)

In accordance with Bye-law 86 and 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Ang Wing Fung, Ms. Wong On Yee, Mr. Chu Woon Yuen and
Ms. Au Yuk Kit will hold office until the forthcoming annual general
meeting; Mr. Ang Wing Fung, Ms. Wong On Yee, Mr. Chu Woon
Yuen and Ms. Au Yuk Kit will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Ms. Wong Yuen Yee, Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert and Mr. Ang Wing
Fung who are executive Directors, has entered into a service contract
with the Company. Each service contract has a two year duration and
shall be renewable thereafter unless terminated by either party giving
not less than three months’ prior written notice and expiring not earlier
than the date of expiry of the said initial two years fixed term. As at
the Latest Practicable Date, none of these service contracts have
been terminated by either party.

No service contract has been entered into between the Company
and the independent non-executive Directors. However, the Board
has approved the statutory compensation of the independent non-
executive directors on 1 July 2009 and payable on or before 30 June
2010.

Save as disclosed, none of the Directors has entered into any service
agreements with any member of the Group.
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Report of the Directors
EEEHE

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE
Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 16 and 18 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and of the five highest paid
individuals in the Group are set out in Note 11 to the financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance, to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of Ms. Wong On Yee, Mr. Chu
Woon Yuen and Ms. Au Yuk Kit an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and
the Company still considers the independent non-executive Directors
to be independent.
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Report of the Directors

— N\ :l:
EETHmE
SHARE OPTION SCHEME SRR
() Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme () BHROPSEKEATMEEND
The Company’s pre-IPO share option scheme (“Pre-IPO Share BRERARNRR_ZEZ_F+tAAEENZE
Option Scheme”) adopted on 5 July 2002, the principal terms RAFRAERMERETS ((BXAARER
of which were set out in the prospectus of the Company AR S T ERRENR T =F
dated 30 July 2002 (the “Prospectus”), there were 4,800,000 tA=t+HMBEZALRFTERER ([E
share options granted to the grantees. Up to 30 June 2010, E2]) ) AR BEIAER AR T4,800,0001)
there were 3,504,000 options under the Pre-IPO Share Option BEhE-HE-_ZT-FTFA=THAL"
Scheme have been exercised and 336,000 share options RERARERBIEEIESTS T - 3,504,000
have been lapsed. The remaining 960,000 share option under 7 S I B BT+ T B 336,00017 B A% 4
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme will lapse on 4 July 2012. BRM - BRAAFAERABRETSZHT
Details of which were as follows: 960,000 fE RN T ——_F+ AWA
K- BEFBNOT:
Number of share options
RkEHE
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding Exercise
asat during during during asat price
Date of grant 1 July 2009 the year the year theyear  30June 2010  Option period per share
RZZENE RIB-2%
tA-H ~AZTH
BHAH AFSTE FEARH EMfTE ERRR HERTE  BRESR BRITER
Employees 5 July 2002 960,000 - - - 960,000 5 July 2002 to HK$1.40
g2 -EE-E+ATA 4 July 2012 14057
BE-ET-FLARAZE
R+ AmBLE
Total
@t 960,000 - - - 960,000
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Report of the Directors

EE e

SHARE OPT|0N SCHEME (continued)
(ii) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

L g URE))
(i) BEROFEREEERED

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by the sole shareholder
of the Company on 5 July 2002, the Company conditionally
adopted the share option scheme, the principal terms of
which are set out in the section head “Share Option Schemes”
in Appendix IV of the Prospectus (“Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme”). Up to 30 June 2010, there were 129,346,100 share
options granted to the grantees and there were 82,049,232
shares options under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
exercised and no options has been cancelled. The remaining
47,296,868 share options under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme will lapse from 6 January 2014 to 14 January 2020.

Details of which were as follows:

BEARRE—BRER=-"EZ-_F+AAH
WA EMMRER  NARE G RMER
BB (B AREREBRESTS) -
EFZRAENERERM &Y [ E
HEl —HF-BE_E-FTFEAA=1tEA
LI ARRAREE T #EE A129,346,10017 B
A% #E N2 82,049,23217 B /X A B & %14 BE A%
REETEIET 2B EEITE WEERED
Wikt - BA AFAEREEBRETS BT
47,296,868 IEIREK KN —T—HF— AN
HE-_ZS-_ZTF— A+ WHBELK-HFH
3= NS

Number of share options
BRERE
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding Exercise
as at during during during as at price
Date of grant 1 July 2009 the year the year the year 30 June 2010 Option period per share
RIBBNE RZB-B%
tA-H ~AZ+H
BHAM MR THE FREH FRTE FREN RATE  WRENE BRITER
Directors 23 August 2007 6,944,000 - - - 6,944,000 23 August 2007 to HK$3.15
2% ZEREENAZT=H 22 August 2017 3158 T
“ETRtENAZTZHE
ZE-+E\AZTZAL
31 December 2009 - 300,000 200,000 - 100,000 31 December 2009 to HK$0.225
ZEEAETZAET-H 30 December 2019 0225 7T
A RTAFT-AZ+-AE
“F-AFHCAZtAL
Other 6 January 2004 2,100 - - - 2100 6 January 2004 to HK$1.10
employees —EZME—A7A 5 January 2014 11087
and BZZEMF-ARAE
consultants —Z-mE-ARALE
HibEE
REH
20 September 2005 200,000 - - - 200,000 20 September 2005 to HK$0.57
ZETRENAZTA 19 September 2015 057TETT
BE-TTRENAZTHE
ZZ-REARTAEL
23 August 2007 7,012,000 - - - 7,012,000 23 August 2007 to HK$3.15
“TTHEN\AZT=A 22 August 2017 31587
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Report of the Directors

e

SHARE 0PT|0N SCHEME (continued)

(i1)

24

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)

9 September 2008
ZFZN\ENANA

11 September 2008
—EZ\ENAT-H

24 November 2008
ZEE\Et-A=TmA

16 December 2008
“TEN\F+ZATRH

17 February 2009
ZEENEZATtA

29 May 2009
“TIAEEATAR

31 December 2009
e

15 January 2010
“Z-T5-AiA

Total 5t

Details of the Post-IPO share options granted to certain

AERRHERT B (m)

(i) BHXROPEREMAETE (w0

6,169,873 - - - 6,169,873
4,400,000 - - - 4,400,000
2,780,000 - 2,780,000 - -
5,200,000 - 800,000 - 4,400,000
2,400,000 - - - 2,400,000
2,400,000 - - - 2,400,000
- 33,128,515 31,859,620 - 1,268,895

- 12,000,000 - - 12,000,000
37,507,973 45,428,515 35,639,620 - 47,296,868

Directors are stated in page 27 of this report.

9 September 2008 to HK$0.87
8 September 2018 087AT

BZZEN\FNANEE
“E-\EAANAL

11 September 2008 to HK$0.975
10 September 2018 09753 L
ZEE\FNAAT-HE
ZE-\FNATHELE

24 November 2008 to HK$0.35
23 November 2018 03587

EZTT\FT-F-THmEZ
ZE-\ET-AZt=ZHE

16 December 2008 to HK$0.381
15 December 2018 03818 7T

BE-TEN\FT-A+~AZ
—Z-\f+-A+RALt

17 February 2009 to HK$0.495
16 February 2019 0495% T

BE-TENF-A+tAE
“E-AFE-RtAALE

29 May 2009 to HK$0.44
28 May 2019 04487
“EENERAZTNRZE
ZE-NERAZTNAL

31 December 2009 to HK$0.225
30 December 2019 0.225% 7L

B-EENE+-A=1-HZE
“E-NE+ZA=TALE

15 January 2010 to HK$0.365
14 January 2020 0.365% 7T

E-Z-F£-A1+HAZE
ZE-F%-A+MA

BYETESZERHERKBEREZH
BERAREF27TH -
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Report of the Directors
EEEHE

INTERESTS OF THE DIRECTORS OR CHIEF
EXECUTIVES IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED

CORPORATIONS

(a)

Directors’ and chief executives’ interest in the
Company

As at 30 June 2010, the interests or short position of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company
or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which are required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV and Section 347 of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which is taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO); or are required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;

EFRERITHRARRELTF R EEBE
EEEFZED

(a)

EFRIETRARRFLFZHER

R-_E—ZTFNA=+H ARAREERE
BITRABR AR RS MABESAE (T&

BEHREEEG EXVER) 2 B h - B/
D REFT  BEREESF RIS EFIEXV
45%7&%8"45&%3471%%\%DQZK”AT&
Rz iEmsAR (BERERERESF R
HEKFIEA 1‘7:<X MWARVERE VR A 2
WK AR ) SRR B S R HAE (&0 5835215
MEALAZGO s ER Mz EzR
Bk iRBEEIER LR E'J%S 46Z 55,67

or as required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM IR EFEBERHEITE [ =N
Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by directors to T&Hﬁ?ZFﬁZ%ﬁT&ﬁiﬁE ﬂﬂ—l— :
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange are as
follows:
() Beneficial interest and short position in Shares as at 30 ) RZFE-—ZFFNA=FH REHF
June 2010 HHEmEm KK
Percentage
of the
Company’s
Personal Corporate Aggregate issued share
Name of Directors Interests Interests Interests capital
BELH
BRITERSE
EENR EBAES NEHES HER ZARSL
Ms. Wong Yuen Yee (Note 1) 31,006,119 18,872,400 49,878,519 6.72%
sRZ T (K1)
Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert (Note 1) 29,014,119 18,872,400 47,886,519 6.45%
HmAGERTAE (MiF1)
Mr. Cheng King Hung (Note 2) 140,000 100,000 240,000 0.03%
BEBEE (H5t2)
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Report of the Directors
EEEWE

INTERESTS OF THE DIRECTORS OR CHIEF
EXECUTIVES IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS (continued)

Directors’ and chief executives’ interest in the
Company (continued)

Beneficial interest and short position in Shares as at 30
June 2010 (continuead)

(a)

26

()

Notes:
1.

The 18,872,400 Shares are held by Multiturn Trading
Limited, which is beneficially owned as to 31.21%,
30.9%, 30.9% and 6.99% by Ms. Wong Yuen Yee, Mr.
Wong Kwok Sing, Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert and Mr.
Lam Shiu San, respectively. Accordingly each of Ms.
Wong Yuen Yee, Mr. Wong Kwok Sing, Mr. Wong Yao
Wing, Robert and Mr. Lam Shiu San is deemed to be
interested in the 18,872,400 Shares held by Multiturn
Trading Limited under the SFO.

Mr. Cheng King Hung is deemed to have an interest in
240,000 Shares, of which 40,000 Shares are held by him
and his wife jointly, 100,000 shares are held by him, and
100,000 Shares are held by his wife.

EFNFRTHARRFLFRREEAH
EERFZED W

() EFREETHARRFLAFIZCES
(#8)
0 R-FE—FFNH=4H REHF

HEEmiEan RAE (8)

it -

1. 5%18,872,4000% A% 19 B Multiturn
Trading Limited#§ & * 5% 2 89 Bl &4
|mmR L EEBSLE  EhRE
E RIS EE R EAFS1.21%
30.9% *30.9% }26.99% 1 %5 o AUt »
RIEFH KRB GRS BERA Lt
EEBLA  EHRRERMKLL
A 348 B A Multiturn Trading Limited
BT A 2.18,872,4000% A 17 7 1 A

e

2. B 58 5 HE AR AR R F5 B 240,000% %
1 H A 40,0000% A7 b B2 H
fc B 2 B #E A - 100,0000% B% 17 F fth
B A& » 100,0000% f% 15 Bl dh E AL
BEAES -
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Report of the Directors
EEEHE

INTERESTS OF THE DIRECTORS OR CHIEF
EXECUTIVES IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
(continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executives’ interest in the
Company (continued)
(i) Beneficial interests and short positions in underlying
shares of equity derivatives of the Company as at 30

EFRIETHARRELTR A
EFEREZEE W

() EERFETHRAARFLFRZER
(%)
) R-F-ZFFNHA=1H RAEALA
KRAGTETAZ BRI FHE B

June 2010 B RAKE
No. of
shares Exercise
attached to Exercisable price
Name of Directors Date of grant the option period per share
AR E
CEA {37
EERR #HAH BB  WiTERREN BRITER
Ms. Wong Yue Yee 23 August 2007 1,586,000 23 Aug 2007 to 22 Aug 2017 HK$3.15
R —TTAF ZZELFN\HAZT=RZE 3158 TT
NBZ+=H —Z—+tFN\HAZTZH
Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert 23 August 2007 1,586,000 23 Aug 2007 to 22 Aug 2017 HK$3.15
BHRREE ZTTAF —TELFN\AZT=RZE 3158 TT
NBZ+=H —Z—+tFN\AZTZH
Mr. Cheng King Hung 23 August 2007 200,000 23 Aug 2007 to 22 Aug 2017 HK$3.15
B2 BT E —TTAF —TELFN\AZT=RZE 3158 TT
NBZ+=H —Z—+tFN\HAZTZH

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2010 , none of the Directors
or their associates as well as the chief executives of the Group
had any interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying
Shares of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the minimum
standards of dealing by the Directors as referred to in Rules 5.46 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2010, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares
in, or debt securities, including debentures, of the Company or any
other corporation, and neither the Directors and chief executives of
the Company, nor any of their spouse or children under the age of 18,
had any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such right.

BRAREEIN R=F—FFA=1H £&H
EESHBBALTRI2THRASBHERALQT
S EMBAE (EEREBHRABROIFEXVER) 2
iy RO T BEREES REEIE
352154 FE A FC ARG T8 & fC M Z (T e ER =X
KR RIRIBAIER LR AIES. 462 F5.67 15
TERESETESRR S < RIEFEEMAME RN
NA B RFr 2 AR EOR R ©

BREXAEEBEEIN R_T—FFA=THE &
DA e A AR B A R A 2 AR e Bk - B
EXTEBBEEARANEMEMEABRRE 2R
hEHER (BRES) MED TEEMES
RARRBEBITBABHKE ZRBH /RN
T2FREBAIRBARAES ZEMEFRHE
TTEAE R A FHER -
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INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE BRESSFRUGGHAATFTHECTER
SECURITIES AND FUTURE ORDINANCE OF RiEgE2

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 30 June 2010, so far as is known to the Directors, the following A=

=

T-TFRA=+TRH REEHMRA TIAL

persons, not being Directors or chief executive of the Company had, (I FARFEZHRTETHAE ) PR MD AR
or were deemed to have, interests or short position in the Shares or %3 B W R A% B ARIEFH K BE KD
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company — SEXVEFZE2K& FE30 28 2 & X AA R A & 2
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or A8 » skTBHIZ S A T EiE sk A AT R
who is expected, directly or indirectly, to be interested in 10% or more  FTABR THEAEBITAKE R IBRERAS L&
of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to 22 Z #EH| 2 T 48 BIRE AN E{E10%3k A _ERES

vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any member of the
Group:

Number of
Number of underlying Approximately
Shares Shares percentage of
Name of shareholders Capacity interested interested shareholding
FrisHm SRR
BRE® 5 Friskiz#E Bigz®HE Bal
Multiturn Trading Limited Corporate (Note 1) 18,872,400 - 2.54%
B (K1)
Capital Base Holdings Limited Beneficial Owner (Note 2) - 49,774,294 6.70%
BEREAA (Hi22) (Note 3)
(Hti#3)
Wong Chung Pong Beneficial Owner 3,007,866 38,840,579 5.64%
R H EnEAA (Note 4)
(Htit4)
Galaxy Capital Limited Beneficial owner (Note 7) 70,000,000 5,000,000 10.11%
BREAAN(Hi27) (Note &)
(Htit5)
Galaxy Asset Management (H.K.) Limited Beneficial Owner (Note 6) 51,200,000 - 6.90%
EnlEAA (Ki6)
Notes: Bt

1. Multiturn Trading Limited is owned as to 31.21%, 30.9%, 30.9% and 1.
6.99% by Ms. Wong Yuen Yee, Mr. Wong Kwok Sing, Mr. Wong Yao
Wing, Robert and Mr. Lam Shiu San, respectively, all of whom are
executive Directors. Ms. Wong Yuen Yee, Mr. Wong Kwok Sing, Mr.
Wong Yao Wing, Robert and Mr. Lam Shiu Saw are also directors of
Multiturn Trading Limited.
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BRESSRUEGHATHEZTER
RESw

INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE
SECURITIES AND FUTURE ORDINANCE OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Notes: (continued) Bist: (&)

Capital Base Holdings Limited is beneficially owned as to 50% by Ms.
Wong Yuen Yee and as to 50% by Mr. Wong Kwok Sing. Ms. Wong
Yuen Yee and Mr. Wong Kwok Sing are also directors of Capital Base
Holdings Limited.

2.
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On 28 February 2009, the Company issued convertible notes with the 3. RZEZNF AT NBARRRETERE AR
principal amount of HK$43,384,000 as consideration for acquisition of 43,384,000/ 7T 2 AR R R IR & &2 21X
assets. The convertible notes, with maturity date of 28 February 2011, B-BHETRERERZIHEA-ZT——F A
are convertible into Shares at an initial conversion price of HK$0.319 Z+N\H WA B0.319/8 T 2 A HA (B A 8
per Share during the conversion period. As at 30 June 2010, an HERNERARG RNZT—ZFA=1+H"
equivalent of HK$27,506,000 convertible bonds has been converted HEE 727,506,000/ JT Al AR (B 548 B Eik A K
into Ordinary Shares of the Company. The remaining balance of NEZEBRERGD RZT—TFA=+H &
convertible bonds with an equivalent amount of HK$15,878,000 were T2 RITHE AT HRAR & 48 E 7215,878,000/8 7T ©
outstanding as at 30 June 2010.

On 27 October 2009, the Company issued convertible notes with the 4. RZZEZFNF+AZ+ LR ARRETASE
principal amount of HK$75,000,000 as consideration for acquisition of 75,000,000/ JT & & W i & FE 2 R (B o 5% AT R AR
assets. The convertible notes, with maturity date of 27 October 2011, ERIBMEATE——F+A=-+tRH WAMU
are convertible into Shares at an initial conversion price of HK$0.69 per TR R E B IR0.69/ TN E IR HARS N & iR A I
Share during the conversion period. As at 30 June 2010, an equivalent Mme-RZTE—ZFXA=+A 1H%/”13,800,000
of HK$13,800,000 convertible bonds has been converted into Ordinary Bz BEEFEEBRKARNARZ LB -
Shares of the Company. The remaining balance of convertible bonds RZZE—TFA=1H AJRKREHFZHEE
with an equivalent amount of HK$61,200,000 were outstanding as at £ 161,200,000/ ST ) AR i o

30 June 2010.

On 13 January 2010, Galaxy Capital Limited (the “Consultant”) was 5. WZ=—ZE—Z4F— A+ =H " Galaxy Capital Limited

engaged as a business consultant of the Company for a term of one
year commencing from the date of the Consultancy Engagement Letter.
The scope of services to be provided by the Consultant includes, on an
exclusive basis, assisting the Company in identifying and assessing any
suitable acquisition target(s) which maybe a major transaction or very
substantial acquisition (the “Transaction”) for the Company. Pursuant to
the Consultancy Engagement Letter, in consideration of the provision of
consultancy services by the Consultant, the Consultant shall be entitled
to share options to subscribe for a total of 5,000,000 new Shares to be
granted by the Company pursuant to its Post-IPO share option scheme
adopted on 5 July 2002.
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Report of the Directors
EEEWE

INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE
SECURITIES AND FUTURE ORDINANCE OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

6. Galaxy Asset Management (H.K.) Limited owned 100% of Galaxy China
Deep Value Fund and Galaxy China Special Situations Fund SPC,
for and on behalf of its segregated portfolio, Galaxy China Special
Situations Segregated Portfolio 1. which held 16,700,000 shares and
34,500,000 shares of the Company respectively.

7. Galaxy Capital Limited is owned as 100% by Mr. Chan Man Fai Joe.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2010, the Directors are not
aware of any other person, other than the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company who had, or was deemed to have, interest
or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or who is expected, directly or indirectly,
to be interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of any member of the Group.

SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 30 June 2010 are set out in
Note 18 to the financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES
Details of convertible securities of the Group are set out in Note 34 to
the financial statements.

SPONSOR'’S INTEREST
As at 30 June 2010, the Company does not have any sponsor, the
previous sponsor’s agreement has expired on 31 March 2005.
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Report of the Directors
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COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 30 June 2010, in so far as the Directors are aware, none of the
Directors or their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) had any interest in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On 31 August 2010, a Writ of Summons was issued by Mr. Lim Vi
Shenn as the plaintiff (the “Plaintiff’) against Ms. Wong Yuen Yee,
an executive director and the Chairman of the Company, Mr. Wong
Yao Wing, Robert, an executive director and the Deputy Chairman
of the Company and the Company (collectively, the “Defendants”).
The Plaintiff claimed against each of the Defendants for damages
for various misrepresentations made in relation to certain investment
agreement and placing agreement of April and June 2008. The
Plaintiff has filed a statement of claim setting out the particulars of
his claims against the Defendants and claiming damages in the
amount of approximately HK$15 million. The Defendants denied the
claims of the Plaintiff and have sought legal advice in this regard. The
Defendants will rigorously defend the case and will take appropriate
legal action.

Save as discussed above, no member of the Group is engaged in
any litigation or arbitration or claim of material importance and no
litigation or claim of material importance is known to the Directors to
be pending or threatened by or against any member of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or
sold any of the Company’s shares during the year.
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Report of the Directors
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee on 5 July 2002 with
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.23, 5.24 and 5.25 of
the GEM Listing Rules. The audit committee currently comprises
Ms. Wong On Yee, Mr. Chu Woon Yuen and Ms. Au Yuk Kit who are
the independent non-executive Directors. The primary duties of the
audit committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting
process and internal control systems of the Group. The Group’s
audited results for the twelve months ended 30 June 2010 have been
reviewed by the audit committee, which is of the opinion that the
audited consolidated financial statements comply with the applicable
accounting standards, the GEM Listing Rules and legal requirements
in Hong Kong and that adequate disclosures have been made.

The function of the Company’s audit committee includes, among
other things:

1. to consider and make recommendations to the Board on
the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external
auditors, to approve the audit fees and terms of engagement,
and any questions of their resignation or dismissal;

2. to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards; and

3. to develop and implement policy on the engagement of an
external auditor to provide non-audit services.
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Report of the Directors
EEEHE

AUDITORS

The Company’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June
2009 were audited by PCP CPA Limited. On 13 October 2009, PCP
CPA Limited amalgamated their practice with CCIF CPA Limited, and
Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited has been operating as a new firm.
Consequently, Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited has been appointed
as auditors of the Company on 14 July 2010 following the resignation
of PCP CPA Limited on 10 June 2010.

The Company’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2010
were audited by Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company as
at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the GEM Listing Rules.

On behalf of the Board
INNO-TECH HOLDINGS LIMITED
Wong Yuen Yee

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 September 2010
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Corporate Governance Report
FEEAWmSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and the code provisions (the “Code”) as set out in the Code
on Corporate Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 15 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”). The principles adopted by the
Company emphasis a quality board, transparency and accountability
to shareholders. In the opinion of the Board, the Company has
complied with the Code for the year ended 30 June 2010, with the
exception of the deviation in respect of the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors and the appointment term of
non-executive Directors as mentioned below.

Under code provision A.4.1, non-executive Directors should be
appointed for specific term. There is no specific term of appointment
of the non-executive Directors, however, they are subject to
retirement by rotation in accordance with the articles of association
of the Company. Accordingly the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to dealt with the requirement in respect of
the appointment terms of non-executive Directors as required under
the code provision.
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Corporate Governance Report
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the rules set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules as the code for dealing in securities of the
Company by the Directors. All Directors confirmed that they complied
with the required standards as set out in the Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules throughout the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors of the Company currently comprises:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Wong Yuen Yee

Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert

Mr. Ang Wing Fung (appointed on 19 February 2010)
Mr. Wong Kwok Sing (resigned on 23 March 2010)
Mr. Lam Shiu San (resigned on 1 June 2010)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Ms. Wong On Yee (appointed on 1 April 2010)

Mr. Chu Woon Yuen (appointed on 3 May 2010)

Ms. Au Yuk Kit (appointed on 2 August 2010)

Mr. Wong Tak Leung, Charles (resigned on 3 May 2010)
Mr. Lai Ying Sum (resigned on 1 April 2010)

Mr. Cheng King Hung (resigned on 2 August 2010)

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company. It also oversees the Group’s business, strategic decisions
and directions, and performances. The management was delegated
the authority and responsibility by the Board for the general
management of the Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated
various responsibilities to other committees. Further details of the
committees are set out in this report.
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EERRE

BOARD OF DlRECTORS (continued)

The Board has normally scheduled four regular meetings a year each
at quarterly interval and meets as and when required. During the year
ended 30 June 2010, the Board held 5 full board meetings and the
attendance of each director is set out as follows:
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Directors Number of attendance
B=E HERE
Ms. Wong Yuen Yee 5/5
RGN

Mr. Wong Kwok Sing 4/5
mEEL A

Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert 5/5
HIER KL

Mr. Lam Shiu San 5/5
MIRER e

Mr. Wong Tak Leung, Charles* 4/5
FTRERREE

Mr. Lai Ying Sum* 4/5
RIERT A"

Mr. Cheng King Hung* 5/5
e i e o

Ms. Wong On Yee** 1/5
mEREX T

Mr. Chu Woon Yuen** 1/5
RIIR T A

*

resigned Independent Non-executive Directors resigned during the year.

ke

existing Independent Non-executive Directors appointed during the year.

Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary of the Company.
Draft and final versions of the Board minutes are sent to the Directors
for their comments and records, in both cases within a reasonable
time after the meeting.

The Directors enable, upon the reasonable request, to seek
independent professional advice under appropriate circumstances, at
the Company’s expenses, in order to discharge their responsibilities
and duties under appropriate independent professional advice.

Appropriate insurance cover has been arranged in respect of legal
action against its Directors.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

To ensure the compliance with the new CG Code, the role of the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company has been
segregated. Currently, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company is Ms. Wong Yuen Yee and Mr. Ang Wing Fung respectively.

The Chairman’s and the Chief Executive Officer’s responsibility
is to manage the Board and the Group’s day-to-day business,
respectively.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The three Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company are
persons of high caliber, with academic and professional qualifications
in the field of accounting and law. With their solid experience, they
can provide strong support to perform their duties delegated by the
Board effectively.

All Independent Non-executive Directors are considered to be
independent by the Board as the Board received from each of the
annual confirmation of independence as required by the GEM Listing
Rules.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration and review committee was established in July
2008. Currently, the committee comprises Ms. Wong Yuen Yee
(Chairman), Ms. Wong On Yee and Mr. Chu Woon Yuen who are
independent non-executive directors of the Company. The main role
and function included the determination of specific remuneration
packages of all executive directors, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive directors. The remuneration and review committee should
consider factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities of the directors, employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-
based remuneration.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The remuneration and review committee meets regularly to
determine the policy for the remuneration of directors and assess the
performance of executive directors and certain senior management of
the Company. During the year, one remuneration committee meeting
was held, the individual attendance of each member is set out below:
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Name of members

Number of attendance

BEXRA HERE
Ms. Wong Yuen Yee 11
ER oG

Ms. Wong On Yee* 1/1
BLTERL

Mr. Chu Woon Yuen* 11
RIRIR S

* Existing Independent Non-executive Directors * BEBIIHHTEE

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out in Note 11 to the
financial statements.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
The Company has no fixed terms of appointment for Independent
Non-executive Directors. However, their office are subject to
retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election in accordance
with the provision of the Bye-laws once every three years. Such
practice deviates from the provision A.4.1 of the CG Code which
requires that Non-executive Directors be appointed for a specific
term. The Board has discussed and concluded that the current
practice of appointing Independent Non-executive Directors without
specific terms but otherwise subject to rotation and re-election by
shareholders was fair and reasonable, and it has no intention to
change the current practice at the moment.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS
For the year ended 30 June 2010, Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited,
the existing external auditors received the following remuneration:
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Crowe Horwath

(HK) CPA Limited PCP CPA Limited

2010 2009

BESE(FHE) BEEERK
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HK$’000 HK$’000

T#ET FHET

Annual audit services FEEZRY 1,024 1,048

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is entrusted with an overall responsibility of devising the
Company’s system of internal controls and conducting an annual
review of its effectiveness. This ensures that the Board oversees and
monitors the Group’s overall financial position so that the interests
of the shareholders are well protected and covered. The system of
internal controls covers the areas of financial, operational, compliance
and risk management of the Group’s business.

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling of
and dissemination of price-sensitive information:

- the Group is fully aware of its obligations under the GEM Listing
Rules;

- the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the “Guide
on Disclosure of Price-sensitive Information” issued by the
Stock Exchange; and

- through channels such as financial reporting and public
announcements, the Group has implemented and disclosed its
policy on fair disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusionary
distribution of information to the public.
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INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company adheres to high standards with respect to the
disclosure all necessary information to the shareholders in
compliance with GEM Listing Rules. The Company strengthens
its communications with shareholders through various channels
including publication of interim and annual reports, press release
and announcements of the latest development of the Company in its
corporate website in a timely manner.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 28 September 2010, the Audit Committee comprises all three
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company, namely
Ms. Wong On Yee as the Chairman and Mr. Chu Woon Yuen and
Ms. Au Yuk Kit as the members, who among themselves posses
management experience in the accounting, banking and marketing.
The attendance of each member at the meeting during the year is set
out as follows:

REERE
$”ﬂ%%ﬁﬁfﬁ%ﬁiﬁﬁ%ﬁ@ﬂ%%&

B2ARBSERE HBTREBMREES

1zmﬁﬂ%¢%&¢rﬁ¢-%ﬁw GRS
ERRINER DM BRREZER
BRERE

RZZE-ZFAA-_+N\B BRZEEHAR
FER=-FBYIFNTEFAN BEXELLR
IR MARRRELENBERZEAKE  REHE
S ROTEMEETHEREELR SHER
AEFHFEEZRNRBEHIIMT

Number of attendance

HERE
Mr. Wong Tak Leung, Charles* 4/5
FREREE
Mr. Lai Ying Sum* 4/5
RIERT A
Mr. Cheng King Hung* 5/5
Bl = 98 5 A
Ms. Wong On Yee** 1/5
BELEZ T
Mr. Chu Woon Yuen** 1/5
RIGR I A~
Ms. Au Yuk Kit** 0/5
Bl F R Z

* resigned Independent Non-executive Directors resigned during the year.
existing Independent Non-executive Directors appointed during the

>k

year.

Full minutes of Audit Committee meetings are kept by a duly
appointed Secretary of the meeting. Draft and final versions of
minutes of the Audit Committee meetings are sent to all members of
the committee for their comments and records, in both cases within a
reasonable time after the meeting.

The Audit Committee reviews the quarterly results, interim and
annual reports before submission to the Board. The Audit Committee
focuses not only on the impact of the changes in accounting policies
and practices but also on the compliance with accounting standards,
the GEM Listing Rules and the legal requirements in the review of the
Company’s quarterly, interim and annual reports.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VA 2 Gy

Crowe Horwath.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
INNO-TECH HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Inno-
Tech Holdings Limited (‘the Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 43 to 168,
which comprises the consolidated and Company statements of
financial position as at 30 June 2010, and the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

EESE @D WHEARBAERAT
Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited

Member Crowe Horwath International
&8 S 7 15 B335k AIE 3418
34/F The Lee Gardens,

33 Hysan Avenue,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

HINNO-TECH HOLDINGS LIMITED

(EfEZEARATF)
(REFREZZME L HRAA)
3 i1 B 3R
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Independent Auditor’s Report
RV % Gy

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity's preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group
as at 30 June 2010 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

EMPHASIS OF MATTER IN RELATION TO THE
GOING CONCERN BASIS FOR PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 4(a) to the
financial statements which indicates that the Group incurred loss for
the year ended 30 June 2010 of approximately HK$227,392,000.
This condition, along with other matters as set forth in note 4(a),
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt about the Group’s and the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern. Notwithstanding the above, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends on the success of
the measures as stated in note 4(a) for the Group, to raise of new
funds to cover the Group’s operating costs and to meet its financing
commitment.

Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 29 September 2010

Lau Kwok Hung
Practising Certificate No.: P04169
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Consolidated Income Statement

,—Lﬂ/_\ O N\ 7/
e Em

For the year ended 30 June 2010 HZ_—ZT—=

&

NAZTHLEFE

2010 2009
—Z—ZF ZETNF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
HaF THET T
Turnover Bxn 6 9,345 78,112
Cost of sales $HE KA (20,019) (80,698)
Gross (l0ss) (E1#8) (10,674) (2,586)
Other revenue H AN 7 677 5,487
Other net income =gl 7 13,939 =
Marketing and promotion expenses MGHEREBERX (5,265) (4,660)
Administrative expenses TR X (52,655) (74,409)
Finance costs W% & A 8 (6,771) (4,503)
Share of profits of associates FE(REE & R 5l A 2,512 401
Impairment loss on FEUR R 2 R B 18
accounts receivables - (122,219)
Impairment loss on deposits and e & E A EBGIE 2
other receivables EEE - (17,434)
Impairment loss on loan to LT —HAEERARERZ
a former associate BIEEE - (12,440)
Impairment loss on goodwill B REEE - (4,322)
Impairment loss on intangible assets mEEREEE (175,677) -
Impairment loss on interest in R—EHE AR
an associate BIEEBE = (4,200)
Gain on disposal of & Al 4 S IR A e
available-for-sale investment 4,930 -
Change in fair value of trading securities & & 5 % A B & (830) =
Loss on disposal of an associate B A R ES 1R (6,438) =
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEHB AR EE = (84,375)
Loss on disposal of intangible assets LEEFEERE (168) (30,620)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME MER X EEE
plant and equipment (28) (84,955)
(Loss) before income tax FXFR S #RAT (B5IR) 9 (236,448) (390,835)
Income tax FriS %t 10 9,056 (165)
(Loss) for the year FE (BR) (227,392) (391,000)
Attributable to: A AT
Owners of the Company /NS (140,706) (391,000)
Non-controlling interest FE P2 I 1 R 2 (86,686) =
(Loss) for the year FE (BR) (227,392) (391,000)
(Loss) per share S (5R)
— Basic (HK cents) — & GEAL) 13(a) (24.76) (125.42)
— Diluted (HK cents) —#58 OB 13(b) (24.76) (125.42)

The annexed notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

;\\/ Y o EETé)/\

For the year ended 30 June 2010 HE_-=

~FEXASTALEE

2010 2009
—E—EF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T T
(Loss) for the year F£R(EHR) (227,392) (391,000)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for FREMEWA (E5I8)
the year
Exchange differences on translation of HRE G INHT B A R B 75 SRR =
financial statements of overseas subsidiaries EERERE (16) (32)
Reclassification adjustment for realisation of HENB AR ERRERE
exchange difference transferred to profit or B 2 IR ERREE 2
loss upon disposal of interests in subsidiaries B DA - 72
(Loss) on fair value changes of AHHEREQNTEE
available-for-sale investment (E518) - (640)
Reclassification adjustment relating to FANEBALEIHRLEEREY
available-for-sale investment disposal during B EAE
the year 640 -
624 (600)
Total comprehensive (loss) for the year FRE2ME (EIR) (226,768) (391,600)
Attributable to: A AT
Owners of the Company ZiN/NE] i3 (140,082) (391,600)
Non-controlling interest FEP2E I 1 4 2 (86,686) -
(226,768) (391,600)

The annexed notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

sre IR

Asat30June 2010 R=ZE—TFA=+H

2010 2009
—ZE—-ZF ZETNF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
Bt et THET T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB K&t 15 22,110 24,866
Intangible assets mZEE 16 62,236 36,065
Goodwill e 17 -
Interests in associates REEE N B 2R 19 1,792 42,908
Interest in a jointly-controlled entity R HEEGIE S 2 s 20 -
Available-for-sale investment AHHERE 21 - 18,900
Deposit for acquisition of a subsidiary WiE—ENB AR 2 ZE 45 10,000
96,138 122,739
Current assets MENEE
Trading securities BEERS 23 7,495 =
Inventories A 24 1,459 1,449
Accounts receivables UK BR 3k 25 182 4,133
Prepayments, deposits and FENFIE - Ze REAMm
other receivables - E L] 2,552 5,091
Promissory notes receivable FEWAAT R IR 30(a) 38,573 =
Pledged bank deposits BEHEFIRITER 26 - 10,000
Cash and cash equivalents RehkReEFED 27 10,326 735
60,587 21,408
Current liabilities REIAR
Bank loans and overdrafts RITERRESL 28 - 11,957
Trade payables, accrued expenses and & 5 ETEER - [EETE R K&
other payables H b & < 58 29 32,758 10,304
Promissory note payable FES AT R R 30(b) - 6,702
Amounts due to directors EEEFIE 22(c) 568 2,140
Convertible notes AR AR 34 14,076 1,603
47,402 32,706

The annexed notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
ra AR R

Asat30June 2010 R=-—ZE—ZTFNA=+H

2010 2009
—ZE—-Ef —EENF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
HtaE F#ExT FHET
Net current assets/(liabilities) REBEE(AR)PHE 13,185 (11,2998
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRDAR 109,323 111,441
Non-current liabilities EREDEE
Deferred taxation IRIEF IR 33 1,403 7,954
Convertible notes AR IR 34 52,676 20,503
54,079 28,457
NET ASSETS EERE 55,244 82,984
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners of EAFIBRRELES
the Company
Share capital fi& s 35 74,203 42,884
Reserves ] 37(a) (28,408) 40,100
45,795 82,984
Non-controlling interest FEFE I MR 37(a) 9,449 -
TOTAL EQUITY k=g k] 55,244 82,984

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 MHEBRERER_FT—FTFNLA-_TNLREESS

September 2010 B R R
Wong Yuen Yee Wong Yao Wing, Robert
W5 EhE
Chairman Director
FE EF
The annexed notes form part of these financial statements. MisE AR @mEz 2 — &5 o
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Statement of Financial Position

RIS R

Asat30June 2010 R-ZE—ZFNA=+H

2010 2009
—ZE—-ZF ZETNF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt et THET T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RIS NG 18 5,637 5,637
Deposit for acquisition of a subsidiary W ig— B AR Z2iEke 45 10,000 =
15,637 5,637
Current assets MENEE
Prepayments and other receivables TENT 5RI8 K A b fE W5k IE 316 167
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE U B A R FRIE 22(a) 68,183 89,041
Pledged bank deposits B IRIRITIE K 26 - 10,000
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREEEY 27 8,173 81
76,672 99,289
Current liabilities mEEE
Trade payables, accrued expenses and & 5 ETBR - BT B A&
other payables BT RIE 29 1,443 2,827
Amounts due to subsidiaries ARG NGIECE 22(b) 13,471 13,757
Amounts due to directors RN ESHIE 22(c) 160 245
Promissory note payable NESOES 30(b) - 6,702
Convertible notes AR ERE 34 14,076 1,603
29,150 25,134
Net current assets mBFESRE 47,522 74,155
Total assets less current liabilities LEERTEEE 63,159 79,792
Non-current liabilities ERBEAR
Deferred taxation IR IR 33 1,403 =
Convertible notes AR EE 34 52,676 20,503
54,079 20,503
NET ASSETS BESHE 9,080 59,289
The annexed notes form part of these financial statements. MisE BB SmER 2 —a5 -
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Statement of Financial Position

BFSANER

Asat30June 2010 R=-—ZE—ZTFNA=+H

2010 2009
—Z-TF —EENF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
HtaE FHERT FHET
EQUITY ER
Equity attributable to owners of ENFIRRELEER
the Company

Share capital & s 35 74,203 42,884
Reserves s 37(b) (65,123) 16,405
TOTAL EQUITY BaBa 9,080 59,289

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 HBWEER_ZE—FTNA-tNhAEESEH

September 2010 R R
Wong Yuen Yee Wong Yao Wing, Robert
=5 Hihs
Chairman Director
*E EBFE
The annexed notes form part of these financial statements. Wit AEART KRR 2 —205 °
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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For the year ended 30 June 2010 HZEZE=ZT—TFNA=THILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FATREMIE
Share  Convertible Capital Investment Attributable Non-
Share Share option notes  Contributed  redemption Exchange  revaluation (Accumulated toownersof  controlling
capital premium reserve reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve losses) the Company interest Total
kK % BR X427 Fin
123 BREAR BEERE RRERE BARE REEHE EREH EfiGH (RHER) REEE 2 it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TET TER TET TET TET TET TET TET TR TR
At 1 July 2008 TE\FtA-H 24,544 342,866 23,220 = 5,625 43 (245) = (60,332) 335,721 = 335,721
Fair value changes of AREEREATESE
avallable-for-sale investment - - - - - - - (640) - (640) - (640)
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal of & SNEI B A FI BRI
foreign subsiciaries EXGE - - - - - - 72 - - 72 - 72
Exchange difference on consolidation GAREEZE - - - - - - (82 - - 32 - (%)
o o = = = = %0 (840) o 600) o (800)
Loss for the year FREE = = = = = = = - (@100 (391,000 - (391000
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year ~ §REZEHA (B1E) - - - - - - 40 (640) (391,000) (391,600) - (391,600)
Issuance of shares BRA 5814 49,957 - - - - - - - 55,771 - 55,771
Fair value of options granted BHEREZATE - - 28,233 - - - - - - 28,233 - 28233
Equity component of convertiole notes issued ~ BETTRREH 2 RESH - - - 15,448 - - - - - 15,448 - 15,448
Exercise of share options TEERE 2,652 29,416 (15,055) - - - - - - 17,013 - 17,013
Shares issuance costs BRAOZITER - (1,881) - - - - - - - (1,881) - (1,881)
Exercise of convertble notes, IRTARRE ENR
net of transaction cost REMAE 9,874 21,222 - 6817) - - - - - 24,279 - 24,279
At 30 June 2009 42,884 441,580 36,398 8,631 5,625 43 (205) (640) (451,332) 82,984 = 82,984
At 1 July 2009 42,884 441,580 36,398 8,631 5,625 43 (205) (640) (451,332) 82,984 = 82,984
Exchange difference on consolidation GAREECENEE - - - - - - (16) - - (16) - (16)
Transfer to proft or loss on disposal of HEMRILERER
avalleble-for-sle investment HAZER - - - - - - - 640 - 640 - 640
- - - - - - 16) 640 - 624 - 624
Loss for the year FREE = = = o = = = - (40708 (140,708) 6608  (22739)
Total comprehensive (loss) for the year FRERE (BB) - - - - - - (16) 640 (140,706) (140,082) (86,686) (226,768)
Issuance of shares BREG 21,446 31,226 = = = = = = = 52,672 - 52,672
Fair value of options granted RuigRE AT E - - 8720 - - - - - - 8,720 - 8720
Equity component of convertible notes issued B RfTAIARE 2 RED S - - - 15,184 - - - - - 15,184 - 15,184
Exercise of share options fifEmRiE 3,564 11,332 (6,404) - - - - - - 8,492 - 8,492
Deferred taxation BIEHE - - - (2,505) - - - - - (2,505) - (2,505)
Shares issuance costs R %ITER - (1,257) - - - - - - - (1,257) - (1,257)
Exercise of convertiole notes, TRATARER B0k
net of transaction cost RBKAR 6,309 21,898 - (6,620) - - - - - 21,587 - 21,587
Acquisttion of a subsidiary (note 39 WE—EHEAR( - - - - - - - - - - 96,135 96,135
At 30 June 2010 74,203 504,779 38,714 14,690 5,625 43 (221) = (592,038) 45,79 9,449 55,244
. . 3y e T PaN
The annexed notes form part of these financial statements. AR BRER 2 —5 -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 30 June 2010 HE_-=

—ZEEARNA=ZTHELEE

2010 2009
—E—EF —ETNF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
HtaE THET FHEIT
Operating activities BEXH
(Loss) before income tax BREFSHLRT (B518) (236,448) (390,835)
Adjustments for: FLATNIEB fEH A%
— Depreciation —E 8,305 9,392
- Release of prepaid lease payments — B E R IE B E - 879
— Reversal of allowance of bad debts — AR O] (7,627)
— Write-down of inventories —FEMUR 893 319
— Impairment loss on — R 2 REEE
accounts receivables - 122,219
— Impairment loss on deposits and — e RHEHA I GRIE 2
other receivables VEREN Rt - 17,434
— Impairment loss on loan to a former — T —HAEE AT ER
associate ZREEE - 12,440
— Amortisation of intangible assets — B EEEH 11,893 20,870
— Loss on disposal of subsidiaries —HENB AR EE - 84,375
— Loss on disposal of an associate — BB E QA EE 6,438 =
— Share of profits of an associates —FE(REEE A a)ls A (2,512 (4071)
— Interest income —F B A (442) (501)
— Share-based payments — AR BEME 2 R 8,720 28,233
— Impairment loss on goodwill —HEZREESE - 4,322
— Impairment loss on intangible assets ~ — & E R EEE 175,677 =
— Impairment loss on interest in —R—HEERARERZ
an associate BB EE - 4,200
— Loss on disposal of intangible assets ~ — H & E & EE5 1B 168 30,620
— Loss on disposal of property, —HEWE FHEK
plant and equipment R iEEE 28 34,955
— Loss on disposal of trading securites — & E B B 518 345 =
— Gain on disposal of —HEHHERE WS
available-for-sale investment (4,930) -
— Change in fair value of —BEBEBSF L TEE
trading securities 830 -
— Dividend income — R B YA - (14)
- Reversal of impairment loss on — 4T —EATEE AR ER
loan to a former associate BB EEREE (6,249) -
— Finance costs —BI% B A 6,771 4,503

The annexed notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
ceEEERER

For the year ended 30 June 2010 #HZE-—ZT—ZTF A=+ HILFE

2010 2009
—ZE—-ZF ZETNF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
Bt et THET T
Operating (loss) before changes in R B ESREBRZESE
working capital (E1\) (38,140) (16,990)
(Increase) in inventories 78 (3Em) (818) 879
Decrease/(increase) in accounts FEMBR TR A, (45 n)
receivables 4,591 (41,365)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and 81} K38 « £ & &
other receivables H At & W R IR 11,877 50,310
(Decrease) in amounts due to directors ~ FEfH & E 28 (i 4) (1,572) (53,412)
(Decrease) in trade payables, EIEMRR BT ER R
accrued expenses and other H b RE OF )
payables (681) (7,632)
Cash (used in) operations EE(FEH)ZR& (24,743) (69,968)
Hong Kong profits tax refund REIBEFER = 317
Net cash (used in) operating activities LEZER (R 2
e FE (24,743) (69,651)
Investing activities BEEE
(Increase) in trading securities BEE L # ($En) (8,670) =
Decrease in trading securities — pledged B & &% 5 4 — B K 4F - 1,024
Decrease in derivative financial TEEj’: &b T BR
instruments — pledged —B &R - 170
Deposit paid for acquisition of a WiE —ERB ARz
subsidiary e (10,000) =
Interest received =R ES) 6 501
Payment for purchase of property, BEWE HER&BNRK
plant and equipment (2,701) (52,129)
Purchase of intangible assets BEEL \é{iz (1,374) (8,200)
Purchase of an associate BE e A A = @71)
Purchase of available-for-sale BEAIHHERE
investment - (77)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME BERZBEMS
plant and equipment B 88 345
Net cash outflow from disposal of HE—HBERFRS
an associate it F R (947) -
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of WS B AR - BBk
cash and cash equivalents acquired FrusiEin ¢ RIS EEY 38 159 (536)
Decrease in pledged deposits BEHEFFFORD 10,000 3,000
Disposal of subsidiaries, net of HEMB AR 2k
cash and cash equivalents disposed BEHEZRERRS
EED 39 - 2,862
Dividend income g 24 A - 14
Net cash (used in) investing BREEEH (EH)Z
activities H&ss (13,439) (53,997)
The annexed notes form part of these financial statements. DR B vt =i o)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 30 June 2010 HE_-=

—ZEEARNA=ZTHELEE

2010 2009
—E—EF —ETNF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
HtaE TFET T
Financing activities il 5 B
Net proceeds from issuance of new BATHAR (D FT1S BB F 58
shares 51,415 70,904
Interest paid BEAF B (69) (2,587)
Proceeds from share issued under RIREE AR ERT E B 1T IR D
share option scheme FriS#18 8,492
Proceeds from new bank loans FERITE RS A - 21,667
Repayment of bank loans EERITER (10,000) =
Net cash generated from MEETDFREZELPHE
financing activities 49,838 89,984
Net increase/(decrease) incashand H&BRH&EFWMBN,
cash equivalents (RD) B8 11,656 (33,664)
Effect of foreign exchange ERxE (108) (26)
Cash and cash equivalents at FNZHRERBEEED
the beginning of the year (1,222) 32,468
Cash and cash equivalents at the FRZOASRASFEY
end of the year 27 10,326 (1,222)
The annexed notes form part of these financial statements. W AR BEmE 2 —& 5 -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BTSRRI ot

For the year ended 30 June 2010 HZEZE=ZT—TFNA=THILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Inno-Tech Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in Bermuda on 19 November 2001 as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Act of Bermuda.
The shares of the Company are listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market (the “GEM”) of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses
of the registered office and principal place of business of
the Company are located at Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and Room 903, Tung Wai
Commercial Building, 109-111 Gloucester Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong, respectively.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the same as the functional currency of the Company
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 18.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

(“HKICPA”) has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that

are first effective or available for early adoption for the current

accounting period of the Group and the Company.

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of Financial
Statements

HKAS 23 (Revised 2007)  Borrowing Costs

HKAS 27 (Revised 2008)  Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements

Puttable Financial Instruments and
obligation arising on liquidation

HKAS 32 & HKAS 1
(Amendments)
HKAS 39 (Amendment) Eligible Hedged ltems

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27
(Amendments)

Cost of an Investment in a
Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled
Entity or Associate

Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

—REH

EAERBR AR (KRR R _TF—
FT—HATNBEBREREBEARELA
EEA S AR R BR A  AA R G
EREBBERZMERAR ([HRZA])El
FR ([RIZER]) £ o NAR 2kt SR
£ B & 2 4 2 55 Bl & Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermudaz
BBEFETITEI0-111RRERERNE
903FE

MBMRARNRBNEERETE2R B
BEANBEREOZ T (ZAEHER
S e

AR EREER AR B ARIZ EBE 2
TS AHIFE18 ©

AWM REETEEMHREE
A([ERMBEREEN])

BEGEMASG ([HEEGHAE])ER
& T BRI EEMBREER - %
FRARAEERARAE RS HEEX
R A IR R R -

BEGRAFIR
(ZZFLFEELT)
BBGERE2BE  EFAAR
(ZZTLFEET)
BB G ERF2R
(ZZB\FEER)
BRGHEARRRR FRELZALE
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e RBYM KRR

BB G EAFR TRIARER
(f&3])

BEGHERE0R  AEREHMIER
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

HKFRS 3 (Revised 2008)
HKFRS 7 (Amendment)
HKFRS 8
HK(FRIC)-Int 9 & HKAS
39 (Amendments)
HK(FRIC)-Int 15
HK(FRIC)-Int 16
HK(FRIC)-Int 17
HK(IFRIC)-Int 18

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

Business Combinations

Improving Disclosures about
Financial Instruments

Operating Segments

Embedded Derivatives

Agreements for the Construction
of Real Estate

Hedges of a Net Investment in a
Foreign Operation

Distribution of Non-cash Assets to
Owners

Transfers of Assets from
Customers

Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2008

Improvements to HKFRSs
issued in 2009 in relation to
the amendments to HKFRS
2, HKAS 38, Paragraph 80 to
HKAS 39, HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 and
HK(FRIC)-Int 16

Except as described below, the adoption of the new and
revised HKFRSs has had no material effect on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group and the financial position of
the Company for the current or prior accounting periods.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

Inno-Tech Holdings Limited BE &3 8% & PR 24 & Annual Report 09/10 ¥

ERAHITREESTEFEMBREE
A([HFEMBEHEEN]) w0

BERMBRELAES EBAH
(ZZENFLER)

EARBEREENES HELBIAZEE
(&3]

BEAMBRELAESS K29

B5 (BRI BRERE RATETLR
ZEE)-RBENHR
BB e ER 5305
(&3]

55 (BRUBRERE BEEHEZRS
RET)-2BE15H

55 (BRUBHRERE SIERREFB2 YT
RE2)-REE16%

B (BERHBRERE HRFEASBETEEA
REE)-RBEITH

55 (BRUBHRERE ZFESEE
ZE®)-ABE18H

e

B BREER “ZRT\FRMHERME
(fg3]) HRER 2 B

BEMHREEL “EENFRHZBRMBR
(f&3]) AR 2ok (BREE AN

SRR BAGE
RIZ365% - BB &5HERIE39
RE60R B (ARMEHR
fRBLZRE) -REEN
REE (ARUMHRERER
88)-2EBH165% 2 aT)

B Tt &SN - SR AT R RT BB R
BREENHAEEBABES B2
iR e M HRR MR B 2 ISR AT
BEXZE-

A B 40 P B £ B R A2 £
3T R AR -



Notes to the Financial Statements

BTSRRI ot

For the year ended 30 June 2010 HZEZE=ZT—TFNA=THILFE

2

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

The amendments to HKAS 23 and HKFRS 2 and
Interpretations HK(IFRIC) 15 and HK(IFRIC) 16 have had no
material impact on the Group’s financial statements as the
amendments and interpretations were consistent with policies
already adopted by the Group. The impact of the remainder of
these developments is as follows:

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of Financial
Statements

As a result of the adoption of HKAS 1 (revised 2007), details of
changes in equity during the period arising from transactions
with equity shareholders in their capacity as such have been
presented separately from all other income and expenses in a
revised consolidated statement of changes in equity. All other
items of income and expense are presented in the consolidated
income statement, if they are recognised as part of profit or
loss for the period, or otherwise in a new primary statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Corresponding amounts have been restated to conform to the
new presentation. This change in presentation has no effect on
reported profit or loss, total income and expense or net assets
for any period presented.

HKAS 27 (Amendments) Cost of an investment in a
subsidiary, jointly-controlled entity or an associate

The amendments to HKAS 27 have removed the requirement
that dividends out of pre-acquisition profits should be
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the
investment in the investee, rather than as income. As a result,
as from 1 July 2009, all dividends receivable from subsidiaries,
associates and jointly-controlled entities, whether out of pre- or
post-acquisition profits, will be recognised in the Company’s
profit or loss and the carrying amount of the investment in the
investee will not be reduced unless that carrying amount is
assessed to be impaired as a result of the investee declaring
the dividend. In such cases, in addition to recognising dividend
income in profit or loss, the company would recognise an
impairment loss. In accordance with the transitional provisions
in the amendment, this new policy will be applied prospectively
to any dividends receivable in the current or future periods and
previous periods have not been restated.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2.

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)
HKFRS 3 (Revised 2008) Business Combinations

HKFRS 3 (revised 2008) has been applied prospectively to
business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or
after 1 July 2009 in accordance with the relevant transitional
provisions. The adoption of HKFRS 3 (revised 2008) has
affected the accounting for business combinations in the
current year.

The impact of the adoption of HKFRS 3 (revised 2008) has
been:

- to allow a choice on a transaction-by-transaction
basis for the measurement of non-controlling interests
(previously referred to as ‘minority” interests) either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interests’ share of the fair
value of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree.

- to change the recognition and subsequent accounting
requirements for contingent consideration. Under
the previous version of the standard, contingent
consideration was recognised at the acquisition
date only if payment of the contingent consideration
was probable and it could be measured reliably; any
subsequent adjustments to the contingent consideration
were recognised against goodwill. Under the revised
standard, contingent consideration is measured at fair
value at the acquisition date; subsequent adjustments
to the consideration are recognised against goodwill
only to the extent that they arise from new information
obtained within the measurement period (@ maximum of
12 months from the acquisition date) about the fair value
at the acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments
to contingent consideration classified as an asset or a
liability are recognised in profit or loss;
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

HKFRS 3 (Revised 2008) Business Combinations

(continued)

— where the business combination in effect settles a
pre-existing relationship between the Group and the
acquiree, to require the recognition of a settlement gain
or loss; and

- to require acquisition-related costs to be accounted for
separately from the business combination, generally
leading to those costs being recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as incurred, whereas previously they were
accounted for as part of the cost of the acquisition.

HKAS 27 (Revised 2008) Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements

HKAS 27 (revised 2008) has been applied retrospectively
(subject to specified transitional provisions). The revised
Standard has resulted in changes in the Group’s accounting
policies regarding changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
of the Group. The new accounting policies in relation to
changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries have been
applied prospectively to changes that take place on or after
1 July 2009 in accordance with the relevant transitional
provisions.

In prior years, in the absence of specific requirements in
HKFRSs, increases in interests in existing subsidiaries were
treated in the same manner as the acquisition of subsidiaries,
with goodwill or a bargain purchase gain being recognised
where appropriate. For decreases in interests in existing
subsidiaries regardless of whether the disposals would result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries, the difference
between the consideration received and the carrying amount of
the share of net assets disposed of was recognised in profit or
loss.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

HKAS 27 (Revised 2008) Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements (continued)

Under HKAS 27 (revised 2008), increases or decreases in
ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiaries are dealt with
in equity and attributed to the owners of the parent, with
no impact on goodwill or profit or loss. When control of a
subsidiary is lost as a result of a transaction, event or other
circumstance, HKAS 27 (revised 2008) requires that the Group
derecognise all assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests at
their carrying amounts.

Any retained interest in the former subsidiary is recognised at its
fair value at the date when control is lost, with the resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

HKAS 28 (Amendment) Investments in Associates

As a result of amendments to HKAS 28, Investments in
associates, impairment losses recognised in respect of the
associates and jointly-controlled entities carried under the
equity method are no longer allocated to the goodwill inherent
in that carrying amount. As a result, when there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount, the impairment loss will be reversed.
Previously, the Group allocated impairment losses to goodwill
and, in accordance with the accounting policy for goodwill, did
not consider the loss to be reversible. In accordance with the
transitional provisions in the amendment, this new policy will be
applied prospectively to any impairment losses that arise in the
current or future periods and previous periods have not been
restated.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

HKFRS 7 (Amendment) - Improving disclosures
about financial instruments

As a result of the adoption of the amendments to HKFRS
7, the consolidated financial statements include expanded
disclosures in note 41(f) about the fair value measurement of
the Group’s financial instruments, categorizing these fair value
measurements into a three-level fair value hierarchy according
to the extent to which they are based on observable market
data. The Group has taken advantage of the transitional
provisions set out in the amendments to HKFRS 7, under which
comparative information for the newly required disclosures
about the fair value measurements of financial instruments has
not been provided.

HKFRS 8 Operating segments

HKFRS 8 requires segment disclosure to be based on the
way that the Group’s chief operating decision maker regards
and manages the Group, with the amounts reported for
each reportable segment being the measures reported to the
Group’s chief operating decision maker for the purposes of
assessing segment performance and making decisions about
operating matters. The presentation of segment information
in prior years which was based on a disaggregation of the
Group’s consolidated financial statements into segments based
on related business lines is consistent with the requirements
of HKFRS 8, and thus the adoption of HKFRS 8 has had
no impact on the reported results or financial position of the
Group.
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2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2.
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

The Group has not early applied any of the following new and
revised Standards, Amendments and Interpretations which
have been issued but are not yet effective for annual periods

REE W EIR TR EAEMA THIERMBHER
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beginning on 1 July 2009:

HKFRSs (Amendments)  Improvements to HKFRSs 20097 BAEMBRELEE “EENERAUBREER
(&3]) A

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs 20107 B BEREER “E-SERENEREES
(&31) S

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures® BRI ENEUT  BEIRE

HKAS 32 (Amendment)

Classification of Rights Issues?

(BE7T)
ARG ERF32%
(fg5])

oY

HKFRS 1 (Amendment) Additional Exemptions for BEHBRE LR BREME BN R
First-time Adopters’ E15% (1B3])
HKFRS 1 (Amendment) Limited Exemption from BB I RS A BREMEEBRENBRS

Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time
Adopters?

EALACCH))

EAETRLBRREENZ
AR#HR

HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Group Cash-settled Share-based BAEMBREEA SRR LV ARN A
Payment Transactions’ EVAC D ERRFRZR S
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments? BANHRE LD TRILS
EO%
HK(FRIC) - Int 14 Prepayments of a Minimum &5 (ERBBHRERE BIREESENR

(Amendment)

HK(FRIC) - Int 19
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

U Amendments that are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2010.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February
2010.
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

and 1 January 2011, as appropriate.

= Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2011.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments introduces new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets and
will be effective from 1 January 2013, with earlier application
permitted. The Standard requires all recognised financial assets
that are within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement to be measured at either
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that (i) are held within a business model whose objective is
to collect the contractual cash flows and (i) have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised
cost. All other debt investments and equity investments are
measured at fair value. In addition, under HKFRS 9, changes in
fair value of equity investments are generally recognised in other
comprehensive income, with only dividend income recognised
in profit or loss. The application of HKFRS 9 might affect the
classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the other new and revised Standards, Amendments or
Interpretations will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

AN REESTERMBHESE
A ([EFEEMBHEEN]) w0

! R-F—FF— A RIEFIEZFE

HiEJ L4 2 EET
2 R-ZF-—FF-H—HXREHIEZ FEZ
HifE £

g RZF—ZFF+A—HAG=—F——F—H
—H (BFIERME)XE#FIE S F/ER

IR

4 R-F—FF+ A—-AXREFIEZ FE
HifE £

° R-F——F—A—HEREFHGZ FE
BT AR

o R-F—=F— A A REFEZFE
HjEj AR

FEMBREENFR (M TR SER
HeMEENBENABZHRE YA T
—=F A —RBRER(ARAER) %
HARE BEESEAFMR (/T
B HRNFE BENAZMAERZE
BMEEDARBHER NS A FETE K5
2 (ENARAANRASREZEBRA
AR RiEOREREER/ANE K iH
REBEAXRE ZMBEMNRZBEERE  — KR
BN B - TR BRI E Rga
KREBRAFEFE WM REBEMH
BELERNFS BEUREZATFESR

—RREAM 2 E WA TR RS WAR
KB ARMER - BB B M 5 E ERF 5
AR ENARECREEZ D EMGAE -

ARPEREY  EREMHE] REEBTE
Al RIS BER T e R M HRRELE
BEXZpE-

Annual Report 09/10 43R Inno-Tech Holdings Limited B &2 B & R 2 5 61



Notes to the Financial Statements

SRR ot

For the year ended 30 June 2010 HZEZE =T —TFNA=THILFE

3

62

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
interpretations issued by the HKICPA, accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A
summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out in note 4.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments and
interpretations which are or have become effective. It has also
issued certain new and revised HKFRSs which are first effective
or available for early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group and the Company. Note 2 provides information on
initial application of these developments to the extent that they
are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation of the financial
statements
The Group incurred loss for the year ended 30 June
2010 of approximately HK$227,392,000. This condition
indicates the existence of a material uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have been taking
active steps to improve the liquidity position of the
Group. These steps included (1) undertaking fund
raising transactions during the financial year ended
30 June 2010 and subsequently to cover the Group’s
operating costs and to meet its financing commitments;
(2) evaluating new business opportunities and (3)
implementing stringent cost control measures to
strengthen its cash flow position.
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4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

()

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (continued)

In light of the measures described above, the directors
are confident that the Group will have sufficient working
capital to meet its financial obligation as and when they
fall due. Accordingly, the directors are of the opinion
that it is appropriate to prepare these consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis. These
consolidated financial statements do not include
any adjustments relating to the carrying amount and
reclassification of assets and liabilities that might be
necessary should the Group be unable to continue as a
going concern.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
certain financial instruments which are measured at fair
values.

Basis of consolidation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as
the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in associates and
jointly controlled entities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to
the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control
exists when the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control,
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are
taken into account.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of the net
assets of subsidiaries attributable to interests that are
not owned by the Company, whether directly or indirectly
through subsidiaries, and in respect of which the Group
has not agreed any additional terms with the holders
of those interests which would result in the Group as
a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within equity,
separately from equity attributable to the owners of the
company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
income statement and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between non-controlling interests and the owners of
the company even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and
other contractual obligations towards these holders
are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position in accordance with notes
4(q), (s) or (t) depending on the nature of the liability.
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4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries and amounts due from
subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment losses
(see note 4(k)). The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividends received
and receivable.

Associates and jointly controlled entities

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over its management, including participation in the
financial and operating policy decisions.

A jointly controlled entity is an entity which operates
under a contractual arrangement between the Group
or Company and other parties, where the contractual
arrangement establishes that the Group or Company and
one or more of the other parties share joint control over
the economic activity of the entity.

An investment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity
is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements
under the equity method, unless it is classified as held for
sale (or included in a disposal Group that is classified as
held for sale). Under the equity method, the investment
is initially recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter for
the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the
investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating
to the investment (see notes 4(e) and (k)). The Group’s
share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the
investees and any impairment losses for the year are
recognised in the consolidated income statement,
whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive
income is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Associates and jointly controlled entities
(continued)

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate
recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as
goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying
amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment
as part of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate or the jointly controlled entity, the Group’s
interest is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses
is discontinued except that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the associate or the jointly controlled entity. For this
purpose, the Group’s interest in the associate or the
jointly controlled entity is the carrying amount of the
investment under the equity method together with the
Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate or the
jointly controlled entity.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates and jointly
controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the associate or jointly controlled
entity, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case
they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, its
investments in associates and jointly controlled entities
are stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 4(k)).
The results of the associates and jointly controlled entities
are accounted by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable.
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4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Business Combination

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions
for recognition under HKFRS 3 (2008) are recognised at
their fair values, except that:

= deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or
assets related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

= liabilities or equity instruments related to the
replacement by the Group of an acquiree’s
share based payment awards are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment;
and

- assets (or disposal Groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
Standard.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Business Combination (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’'s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after assessment, the Group’s
interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests may be initially measured
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis
is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

Where the consideration the Group transfers in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its
acquisition-date fair value and considered as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding
adjustments being made against goodwill or gain on
bargain purchase. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the measurement period about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date.
Measurement period does not exceed one year from the
acquisition date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

(f)

Business Combination (continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that do not
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or
a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates
in accordance with HKAS 39 Financial Instruments
Recognition and Measurement, or HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as
appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control) and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity
interest recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity before the acquisition date are
reclassified to profit or loss when the Group obtains
control over the acquiree.

Other investments in debt and equity
securities

The Group’s and the Company’s policies for investments
in debt and equity securities, other than investments in
subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities, are
as follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are initially
stated at cost, which is their transaction price unless
fair value can be more reliably estimated using
valuation techniques whose variables include only data
from observable markets. Cost includes attributable
transaction costs, except where indicated otherwise
below. These investments are subsequently accounted
for as follows, depending on their classification:
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Other investments in debt and equity
securities (continued)

Investments in securities held for trading are classified
as current assets. Any attributable transaction costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At the end of
each reporting period the fair value is remeasured, with
any resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does
not include any dividends or interest earned on these
investments.

Dated debt securities that the Group and/or the
Company have the positive ability and intention to hold
to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity securities.
Held-to-maturity securities are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at amortised cost less
impairment losses (see note 4(k)).

Investments in equity securities that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured are recognised in the
statement of financial position at cost less impairment
losses (see note 4(k)).

Investments in securities which do not fall into any of
the above categories are classified as available-for-
sale securities. At the end of each reporting period
the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or
loss being recognised directly in equity, except foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from changes in
the amortised cost of monetary items such as debt
securities which are recognised directly in profit or loss.
Dividend income from these investment is recognised in
profit or loss in accordance with the policy set out in note
4u(v) and, where these investments are interest-bearing,
interest calculated using the effective interest method
is recognised in profit or loss in accordance with the
policy set out in note 4u(iv). When these investments are
derecognised or impaired (see note 4(k)), the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised directly in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date
the Group commits to purchase/sell the investments or
they expire.

4

Inno-Tech Holdings Limited BE &3 8% & PR 24 & Annual Report 09/10 ¥

FE

U]

B BUE ()
RESFEREBRFESCHMRS
()

REBER AR 2B FNREREA
MBEE - (TMEER SN ARESE
BRIEFRKRER  AFERSHREH
REFE ENEEACRENER
RER RNIERFRRERAZBEFET
BEREEES ZEHF B E -

AEBR SRR EEERENRE
ERARIMZBHERESZDER
RBEZIHES -FARIPESFRN
FA TR L 2R o DA B S5 72 PR AR R (B
BRI (R HTaT4K) -

RzEWERNERMIGHEARET
BERIRABSMERAFEXXT
BERNSEHETE 2R E R RR &R
AR AR R BB B R (2 AT it
4k)) o

TEBRAEZFRDEZESRER
HAHBHERSH REREHRD
FEESEFTE IBZEBHNER
PR EERER HRREHEEE
WIE B R AN (ANEISE ) BT iE
ZINER R EIE N B IR E R
R KA WERE 2B RARIEH
FAaUVREBEEREFRER RARE RS
TE BT R EEARE N E4UVAE
BRABSARTE A A B R BRART
TR B U FRE W R ER IR E
( BB aE4(k) ) B - LARTRARS AR Fh B 2 1
R E2REBEBEREREPER-

RASEAERBE HERERIE
LR AR - IRB B e T HERR, RUHAE

ok \
(eS|



Notes to the Financial Statements

BTSRRI ot

For the year ended 30 June 2010 HZEZE=-T—TFSA=THILFE

4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Property, plant and equipment

()

(i)

Valuation

Property, plant and equipment are stated in
the statement of financial position at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see note 4(k)).

Subsequent expenditure relating to a property,
plant and equipment that has already been
recognised is added to the carrying amount of the
asset when it is probable that future economic
benefits, in excess of the originally assessed
standard of performance of the existing asset,
will flow to the Group. All other subsequent
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

Depreciation
Buildings held for own use which are situated on
leasehold land are depreciated over the shorter of
the unexpired term of lease and their estimated
useful lives.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
other property, plant and equipment over their
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis as
follows:

Leasehold improvements 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Equipment 5 years
Motor vehicle 4 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, annually.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(9)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(i) Disposals
Gains or losses arising from the retirement
or disposal of property, plant and equipment
are determined as the difference between the
estimated net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

(iv)  Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents buildings and
structures under construction, which is stated
at cost less any impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment or investment properties when
completed and ready for use.

Mining rights

Mining rights acquired separately are initially measured at
cost. Mining are rights are reclassified from exploration
and evaluation assets at the carrying amount when the
technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting
mineral resources are demonstrable.

Mining rights with definite useful lives are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment loss (see note 4(k)). Amortisation is provided
using the unit of production method based on the actual
production volume over the estimated total proved and
probable reserves of the ore mines.
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4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i)

)]

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Computer software, patents and trade marks

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and with
finite useful lives are stated in the statement of financial
position at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses (see note 4(k)).

Subsequent expenditure on an intangible asset after
its purchase or its completion is recognised as an
expense when it is incurred unless it is probable that
this expenditure will enable the asset to generate future
economic benefits in excess of its originally assessed
standard of performance and this expenditure can be
measured and attributed to the asset reliably. If these
conditions are met, the subsequent expenditure is added
to the cost of the intangible asset.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives as follows:

Patents and trademarks
Computer software

15 years
5 years

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an
intangible asset are measured at the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of an
asset and are recognised in profit or loss when the asset
is de-recognised.

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series
of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use
a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of time
in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such
a determination is made based on an evaluation of
the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of
whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

)

Leased assets (continued)

Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under
finance leases, the amounts representing the fair value
of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of the
minimum lease payments, of such assets are included
in fixed assets and the corresponding liabilities, net
of finance charges, are recorded as obligations under
finance leases. Depreciation is provided at rates which
write off the cost or valuation of the assets over the term
of the relevant lease or, where it is likely the Group will
obtain ownership of the asset, the life of the asset, as
set out in note 4(g). Finance charges implicit in the lease
payments are charged to profit or loss over the period of
the leases so as to produce an approximately constant
periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the
obligations for each accounting period.

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged
to profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease
incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as
an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals written off as an expense of the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease
is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease term except where the property is classified as an
investment property.

4
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4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Impairment of assets

U

Impairment of investments in debt and equity
securities and other receivables

Investments in debt and equity securities (other
than investments in subsidiaries, associates and
jointly controlled entities) and other current and
non-current receivables that are stated at cost
or amortised cost or are classified as available-
for-sale securities are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period to determine whether there
is objective evidence of impairment. Objective
evidence of impairment includes observable data
that comes to the attention of the Group about one
or more of the following loss events:

= significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default
or delinguency in interest or principal
payments;

= it becoming probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; and

- a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of an investment in an equity
instrument below its cost.

4

FESHEER @
(k) BERE

0

EFR B ESIKEREME
W% B el 1B
B RRABHFILE (AR
BAR) BERAR RERIEHE
BERRAN) - B EIRIEE AR WK
TE 2 DARK AN ok B 2 SH Ak A8 51 BR o
SHEANHIEERES WHREW
:‘:H)HETW:T LA?EIEETE%E
T)%—U/( TRE - REZE
uﬁffk@%;‘%l&e\in b1
RELIEBEEFE EESE:

- BEBABERVBREE:

— ERAH WHREZEF
,%Jiﬁﬁ,

— [EBAFREBRESETH
5 EA

- %4?& \miﬁ fb‘&/g /f&
RIEAERNEmEER

ABFFIZE: R

- BAIARBEZAFER
Bk R H PR E RN EK
ENER

Annual Report 09/10 43R Inno-Tech Holdings Limited B &2 B & R 2 5 75



Notes to the Financial Statements

SRR ot

For the year ended 30 June 2010 HZEZE=-T—TFNA=THILFE

4

76

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)y 4
(k) Impairment of assets (continued)
() Impairment of investments in debt and equity
securities and other receivables (continuead)
If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

- For unlisted equity securities carried at
cost, impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of
the financial asset and the estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset
where the effect of discounting is material.
Impairment losses for equity securities are
not reversed.

= For trade and other current receivables and
other financial assets carried at amortised
cost, the impairment loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e.
the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition of these assets), where the effect
of discounting is material. This assessment
is made collectively where financial assets
carried at amortised cost share similar
risk characteristics, such as similar past
due status, and have not been individually
assessed as impaired. Future cash flows
for financial assets which are assessed
for impairment collectively are based on
historical loss experience for assets with
credit risk characteristics similar to the
collective Group.
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4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Impairment of assets (continued)
() Impairment of investments in debt and equity
securities and other receivables (continued)

(continued)

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be linked objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised, the impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss. A reversal of an
impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s
carrying amount exceeding that which would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years.

For available-for-sale securities which are
stated at fair value, when a decline in the fair
value has been recognised directly in equity
and there is objective evidence that the
asset is impaired, the cumulative loss that
had been recognised directly in equity shall
be removed from equity and recognised in
profit or loss even though the financial asset
has not been derecognised. The amount
of the cumulative loss that is recognised
in profit or loss is the difference between
the acquisition cost (net of any principal
repayment and amortisation) and current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that asset
previously recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or
loss in respect of available-for-sale equity
securities are not reversed through profit
or loss. Any subsequent increase in the fair
value of such assets is recognised directly in
equity.

Impairment losses in respect of available-
for-sale debt securities are reversed if the
subsequent increase in fair value can be
objectively related to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised.
Reversals of impairment losses in such
circumstances are recognised in profit or
loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4
(k) Impairment of assets (continued)
() Impairment of investments in debt and equity
securities and other receivables (continuead)
= (continued)

Impairment losses are written off against
the corresponding assets directly, except
for impairment losses recognised in respect
of trade debtors included within trade
and other receivables, whose recovery is
considered doubtful but not remote. In this
case, the impairment losses for doubtful
debts are recorded using an allowance
account. When the Group is satisfied that
recovery is remote, the amount considered
irrecoverable is written off against trade
debtors directly and any amounts held in the
allowance account relating to that debt are
reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously charged to the allowance account
are reversed against the allowance account.
Other changes in the allowance account
and subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off directly are recognised
in profit or loss.

() Impairment of other assets
Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following items may
be impaired or an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have been
decreased:

interest in subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities;

- property, plant and equipment;

= prepaid lease payments;

= intangible assets; and

- goodwill.
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4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Impairment of assets (continued)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment
loss is recognised in the profit or loss whenever
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount.

()

U

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
higher of fair value less cost to sell and its
value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. Where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss whenever the carrying amount of an
asset, or the cash-generating unit to which
it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair
value less costs to sell, or value in use, if
determinable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

0]

Impairment of assets (continued)
() Impairment of other assets (continued)
(iiy  Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.
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4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Trade and other receivables

(n)

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at
fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost less
allowance for impairment of doubtful debt except where
the receivables are interest-free loans made to related
parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect
of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases,
the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(o) Employee benefits

()

(i)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution plans and the
cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is
deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated of their present values.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee cost with
a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date using the Binomial Option
Pricing Model and the Black-Scholes Option
Pricing Model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted.
Where the employees have to meet vesting
conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled
to the share options, the total estimated fair value
of the share options is spread over the vesting
period, taking into account the probability that the
options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised
in prior years is charged/credited to the profit
or loss for the year of review, unless the original
employee expenses qualify for recognition as
an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to
the capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of share options that vest (with
a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to
not achieving vesting conditions that relate to
the market price of the Company’s shares. The
equity amount is recognised in the share option
reserve until either the option is exercised (when
it is transferred to the share premium account) or
the option expires (when it is released directly to
retained profits).
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4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(o) Employee benefits (continued)

(i)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a
result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed
formal plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.

(p) Income tax

M

(i)

(i)

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised
directly in equity, in which case they are recognised
in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(p) Income tax (continued)

(i)

(continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred
tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that
may support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences
include those that will arise from the reversal of
existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse either in the same period as
the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back
or forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits,
that is, those differences are taken into account if
they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in
a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit
can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred
tax assets and liabilities are those temporary
differences arising from goodwill not deductible for
tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination), and temporary differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in
the case of taxable differences, the Group controls
the timing of the reversal and it is probable that
the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future, or in the case of deductible differences,
unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.
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4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(p) Income tax (continued)

(i)

(iv)

(continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of
the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any
such reduction is reversed to the extent that it
becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances,
and movements therein, are presented separately
from each other and are not offset. Current tax
assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and
deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities,
if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and
liabilities, the Company or the Group
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and
liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p)

(a)

(r)

Income tax (continued)
(iv)  (continued)
- the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortized cost, except for
short term payable with no stated interest rate and the
effect of discounting being immaterial that are measured
at their original invoice amount.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has
a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s)

(t)

Convertible notes

Convertible notes that can be converted to equity share
capital at the option of the holder, where the number of
shares that would be issued on conversion and the value
of the consideration that would be received at that time
do not vary, are accounted for as compound financial
instruments which contain both a liability component and
an equity component.

At initial recognition the liability components of the
convertible notes is measured as the present value of
the future interest and principal payments, discounted
at the market rate of interest applicable at the time of
initial recognition to similar liabilities that do not have
a conversion option. Any excess of proceeds over the
amount initially recognised as the liability component
is recognised as the equity component. Transaction
costs that relate to the issue of a compound financial
instrument are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in profit
or loss on the liability component is calculated using
the effective interest method. The equity component is
recognised in the capital reserve until either the note is
converted or redeemed.

If the note is converted, the capital reserve, together with
the carrying amount of the liability component at the time
of conversion, is transferred to share capital and share
premium as consideration for the shares issued. If the
note is redeemed, the capital reserve is released directly
to retained profits.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are
stated at amortized costs with any difference between
the amount initially recognised and redemption value
being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable,
using the effective interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received and receivable provided it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be
measured reliably, revenue is recognised in the profit or
loss as follows:

(u)

()

(i)

(i)

(iv)

Residential intranet and software application
design services

Revenue arising from the provision of residential
intranet and software application design services
is recognised when the underlying services are
rendered, which is estimated by apportionment
over the expected duration of each engagement,
and the outcome of the contract can be estimated
with reasonable certainty.

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered
at the customer’s premises which is taken to be
the point in time when the customer has accepted
the goods and the related risks and rewards of
ownership. Revenue excludes value added tax
or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any
trade discounts.

Hotel service
Revenue is recognised when the relevant services
are rendered.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
effective interest method.
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4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u)

(v)

(w)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(v)  Dividends
Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payments established. Dividend income from listed
investments is recognised when the share price of
the investment goes ex-dividend.

(i) Rental income

Rental income receivable under operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments
over the periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative
of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
use of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted
are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part
of the aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred, except to the extent
that they are capitalised as being directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.

Promissory notes

Promissory notes are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(x)

(v)

Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, parties
are considered to be related to the Group if:

(i) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly
through one of more intermediaries, to control the
Group or exercise significant influence over the
Group in making financial and operating policy
decisions, or has joint control over the Group;

(ii) the Group and the party are subject to common
control;

(i)  the party is an associate of the Group or a joint
venture in which the Group is a venturer;

(iv)  the party is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent, or a
close family member of such as individual, or is an
entity under the control, joint control or significant
influence of such individuals; or

(v)  the party is a close family member of a party
referred to in (i) or is an entity under the control,
joint control or significant influence of such
individuals; or

(vi)  the party is a post-employment benefit plan which
is for the benefit of employees of the Group or of
any entity that is a related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the
entity.

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the
rates of exchange ruling at the dates of transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at the end of the reporting period are
translated at the rates of exchange ruling at that date.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at
fair value in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the date when the fair value was
determined. Profits and losses arising on exchange are
dealt with in profit or loss.
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4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

()

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
overseas operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group at exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period. Income and expense items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period. Exchange difference arising, if any, are classified
as equity and transferred to the Group’s exchange
reserve. Such translation differences are recognised
as income or as expense in the period in which the
operation is disposed of.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share
a majority of these criteria.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
management is required to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates, judgments and associated assumptions are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The Group makes estimates and underlying assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.

(i) Allowances of bad debts

Significant judgment is exercised in the assessment
of the collectability of accounts receivable from each
customer. In making its judgment, management
considers a wide range of factors such as results of
follow-up procedures performed by sales personnel,
customers’ payment trend including subsequent
payments and customers’ financial position.

(ii) Valuation of share options
The Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model was applied to
estimate the fair value of share options granted by the
Company. This pricing model requires the input of highly
subjective assumptions, including the volatility of share
price. The changes in input assumptions can materially
affect the fair value estimate.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Measurement of convertible notes

On issuance of convertible notes, the fair value of
the liability component is determined using a market
rate for an equivalent non-convertible note; and this
amount is carried as a liability on the amortised cost
basis until extinguished on conversion or redemption.
The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the
conversion option that is recognised and included in the
shareholders’ equity, net of transaction costs.

The determination of the liability component requires an
estimation of the market interest rate.

Impairments

In considering the impairment losses that may be
required for the Group’s mining right, other intangible
assets and property, plant and equipment, recoverable
amounts of the assets need to be determined. The
recoverable amount is the greater of the net selling price
and the value in use. It is difficult to precisely estimate
selling price because quoted market prices for these
assets may not be readily available. In determining the
value in use, expected cash flows generated by the asset
are discounted to their present value, which requires
significant judgment relating to items such as level of
sales volume, selling price and amount of operating
costs. The Group uses all readily available information in
determining an amount that is reasonable approximation
of recoverable amount, including estimates based
on reasonable and supportable assumptions and
projections of items such as sales volume, selling price
and amount of operating costs. Impairment losses for
bad and doubtful debts are assessed and provided
based on the directors’ regular review of ageing analysis
and evaluation of collectability. A considerable level of
judgment is exercised by the directors when assessing
the credit worthiness and past collection history of each
individual customer. An increase or decrease in the above
impairment losses would affect the net profit of the Group
in future years.
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TURNOVER 6
Turnover represents design of residential intranet, provision

of e-property management software application consulting
services and trading of home-automation, provision of hotel
services and other products in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”). The amount of each significant
category of revenue recognised in turnover during the year is as
follows:

ERE
LEBEERBERTEARKME (T4
B)RFHEPRBE IRHETFTYREERRE
BB EARE BEEREABCER =
SR 5 AR 75 I B b EE am © FF TR 2 K ERFERR
ZEBWE DB REENT

2010 2009
—Z—ZTF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FT#ExT FHET
Income from design of residential intranet, S E RS IBEHRES
provision of home-automation services BB LESEAEBER Y
and trading of related products A 9,345 74,374
Income from hotel services B I AR 75 2 WA - 3,738
9,345 78,112
OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET INCOME 7 HfUARRMBKE
2010 2009
“E2—-FF —ZEENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ExT T T
Other revenue H e A
Bank interest income RITH B WA 6 132
Other interest income H b ) B4 A - 369
Interest income on promissory note AN EREF BUA 436 -
Total interest income on financial assets not kA A FETAEBZRZ
at fair value through profit or loss TRIEEAF B WA 442 501
Dividend income from listed securities KB EMARESZBREWA - 14
Other income FIERA 235 4,972
677 5,487
Other net income H RS
Net foreign exchange gain bE 5% Wz 63 =
Reversal of allowance of bad debts ZIREE 2B E 7,627 =
Reversal of impairment loss on loan to T —EpTEsE AT ER Y
a former associate BB E1E 2 B[O 6,249 =
13,939 -
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8 FINANCE COSTS 8 MBKEH
2010 2009
—ZE—ZF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET T
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts wholly B F £ NEHEE Z R 1T
repayable within five years BERRBEZFE 69 2,569
Interest on other loan HEMERFE - 18
Interest on convertible notes (note 34) AR ZIEF B (H17£34) 6,417 1,768
Interest on promissory notes (note 30(b)) AN REF B (B2230b)) 285 148
Total interest expense on financial liabilities KUARNFEFAIBRZ SR/
not at fair value through profit or loss BEAFEZE 6,771 4,503
9 (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX 9 MFBRM(BR)
(Loss) before income tax is arrived at after charging: BRETISELRT (B1E) 2k T3I& A -
2010 2009
—Z—Ef —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FHET
(a) Staff costs: (a) BIRKZF:
Contributions to defined TE BB FRET B 5K
contribution plan 191 249
Share-based payments PAR A A 2R 2 32 1 526 28,233
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMET 9,509 13,528
10,226 42,010
Average number of employees FHES A 52 123
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9 (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX (continued) 9 BERE(BHR) @
2010 2009
—®—FF —ZEENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHETT
(b) Other items: (b) HMEH:
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEKA 6,921 67,046
Amortisation of intangible assets B B 11,893 20,870
Release of prepaid lease payments A EEFIERED - 879
Auditor’s remuneration 1% ELRN BN 1,024 1,048
Depreciation on owned assets BEEEEINE 8,305 9,392
Operating lease charges in MAEYELERE
respect of office premises F 1,332 1,685
Net foreign exchange loss b X 548 F 58 - 740
Impairment loss on trade debtors Z 5 R BR TR 2 B 1R - 122,219
Impairment loss on deposits and other Re REAMBERIERZ
receivables VEREY R - 17,434
Impairment loss on loan to a former T E AR ERZ
associate BB EE - 12,440
Impairment loss on goodwill FEREEE - 4,322
Impairment loss on intangible assets EEEREEE 175,677 =
Impairment loss on interest in S ETL /NI X
an associate BIEEE - 4,200
Change in fair value of trading RoH#EH 2 N EEE
securities 830 -
Loss on disposal of an associate ekl il 1 /N ) = 6,438 =
Loss on disposal of trading securities HEBEEFSHZEBE 345 78
Loss on disposal of intangible assets HEEFEEZEE 168 30,620
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARZERE - 84,375
Loss on disposal of property, plant LEWE BEMEEZ
and equipment &8 28 34,955

96

The cost of sales includes write-down of inventories of
HK$893,000 (2009: HK$319,000) and aggregate employee
benefits expense, amortisation of intangible assets and
operating lease charges in respect of office premises of
approximately HK$12,205,000 (2009: HK$13,333,000), which
are also included in the respective total amounts disclosed
above for each of these types of expenses.
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10

INCOME TAX

(a)

Income tax in the consolidated income
statement represents:

10 FrisiR

(a) IHRERRRZMERE:

2010 2009
—E—-ZF T AF
HK$’000 HK$’000
Ti#&xT FHET
Deferred tax EFEIRIA
(Credited)/charged to the consolidated R ER (5t A) Kk B454
income statement during the year Bk (H7£33)
(Note 33) (9,056) 165
(9,056) 165

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made
as the Group did not generate any assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year (2009: HK$NIl).

No provision for PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”) has
been made as the Group’s PRC subsidiaries did not
generate any assessable profits during the year, or it
has tax loss brought forward to offset current year's
assessable profits. Pursuant to Guo Fa [2007] No. 39
issued by the State Council, one of the subsidiaries of the
Company, [ERIEEER S (ORI BRAF is granted a
tax concession at a preferential tax rate of 20% for the
year ended 30 June 2010, 22% for 2011, 24% for 2012
and 25% for 2013.

R ANE BN AFZ A ER S EFEZERK
A A BASEEMNEHIELEE (=

ZENE BT -

R A B 2 BT B A B 1A A S I 2 g
SR A B A 2 B TA B 48 DA R $H AN R
EZ FERBUER - Bt BE AT BESEAHE
Tt 1 1 188 4 o AR 1K B0 7% B 3% Y 2 B 3% [2007]
3957 AR REAF —RIKBAREAIZRER
& ORY) BRARERFEESR  AIREE
T EFEXNAZTHILEFERERBR
0% MR _TE——F —_T——FK
—E—=F D RIR22% 24% K 25% B

Annual Report 09/10 43R Inno-Tech Holdings Limited B &2 B & R 2 5 97



Notes to the Financial Statements

SRR ot

For the year ended 30 June 2010 #HZE - T —

10

98

A

487

> \

A=tRHLFE

INCOME TAX (continued) 10 Fﬁ' ﬁﬁ (#8)
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and (b) BERREHEZMAMATIHRE
accounting (loss) at applicable tax rates: H(BR)MZHERENT -
2010 2009
—E—EF —ETAF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FE&ET
(Loss) before income tax BATSEL AT (E18) (236,448) (390,835)
Notional tax on (loss) before income BEMEAHETE
tax, calculated at applicable tax BrRATSRLRT (BE) 2
rates in the respective countries ZEWMIE (68,445) (39,571)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A F18% sz H 2 Fi 75 57 fv 2 70,455 45,186
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue IR A Z TS o 2 (6,312) (8,796)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax loss B AL ARER ZRIBEE
previously not recognised MG & (4,924) =
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RERZ AR ARIEEBE
recognised i 675 3,580
Others H At (505) (234)
Actual tax income/(expense) EERRERA (L) (9,056) 165

The share of tax attributable to associate amounting

ﬁ%*é@ Al E1E T IE786,0008 T (ZTF 1

to HK$786,000 (2009: HK$NIl) is included in “Share F DB Bt AL ERR [EHBER
of profits of associates” in the consolidated income & /fmﬂJ Ao
statement.
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11

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 11 EEREETSEZEHE
REMUNERATION
Directors’ remuneration EFES
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of BIBEFE D THER F161EIRE 2 EE B
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows: ca UNNE
2010 2009
—E—-EF —EZNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FE T
Fees ok 409 420
Basic salaries, allowances and other benefits E AR 4 2 8E & H A2 F 4,560 4,594
Share-based payments VARG A EEHE 2 & 48 -
Long service payment RHEARRIS K - =
Retirement scheme contribution RRET 251 47 48
5,064 5,062
Number of directors BEEAH 10 7

BE_ZT-TFEA=THLFEZE
EMEHINMT

The remuneration of directors for the year ended 30 June 2010
is set out below:

Salary,
allowance Retirement
and other Share-based Long service scheme
Fees benefits payments payment contribution Total
Ay 1] Uins REIRHE BAE
e REMEN ERexH & #H® @t
Name of directors EEpg HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FERT FERT FERT FTERT FERT
Executive directors RITES
Ms. Wong Yuen Yee b e - 1,320 - - 12 1,332
Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert HhREE - 1,320 - - 12 1,332
Mr. Wong Kwok Sing (3) HEBLAR - 1,280 - - 9 1,289
Mr. Lam Shiu San (b) WKL LD = 581 = = 11 592
Mr. Ang Wing Fung (¢) REREEEC) - 59 - - 3 62
Independent non-executive BIUFRTES
directors
Mr. Wong Tak Leung, Charles (@~ /&R %4 150 - 16 - - 166
Mr. Lai Ying Sum (g) REHRTEE 0 = 16 = = 106
Mr. Cheng King Hung (7 BEEEAND 120 = 16 = = 136
Ms. Au Yuk Kit (g BERL @ = = = = = 5
Mr. Chu Woon Yuen () RERTEMN 19 - - - - 19
Ms. Wong On Yee (j BERELL) 30 - - - - 30
409 4,560 48 - 47 5,064
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11 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 11 EXEREESEZHME w
REMUNERAT'ON (continued)
Directors’ remuneration (continued) EEME
Notes: B it -
(@  Mr. Wong Kwok Sing resigned on 23 March 2010. @ BEEBLEER-_ZT-ZTF=A=-+=H#
Fo
(o)  Mr. Lam Shiu San resigned on 1 June 2010. (o) MIKBEERZZT—TFA—HEHE-
€ Mr. Ang Wing Fung appointed on 19 February 2010 € HAEBEEENR-_ZFT-ZSF_A+NAESR
Fo
(d)  Mr. Wong Tak Leung, Charles resigned on 3 May 2010 0 FEREAER-_ZFE—TSFHA=HEIE-
(e)  Mr. LaiYing Sum resigned on 1 April 2010 ) BERLEENR-ZT FMA—HEE-
) Mr. Cheng King Hung resigned on 2 August 2010 () S ER —ZFENAZRHEHTE-
(@  Ms. Au Yuk Kit appointed on 2 August 2010 @ BMERXTR=ZZE—ZFNA-HEZ
Fo
(h)y  Mr. Chu Woon Yuen appointed on 3 May 2010 h KBRREER-ZFT-—ZTFRAA-HEZR
Fo
0] Ms. Wong On Yee appointed on 1 April 2010 (i) BELXERTR _Z—ZFNA—BEZ
fFe
The remuneration of directors for the year ended 30 June 2009 HE—ZTNFAAZTHILEFEZESM
is set out below: SEINAT
Salary,
allowance Retirement
and other ~ Share-based  Long service scheme
Fees benefits payments payment  contribution Total
e EZMR LABR 5 & R HMR% RIRGTE
ik Highl ERzxl BN R @it
Name of directors e HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT THT FHT THT THT
Executive directors RITES
Ms. Wong Yuen Yee Elob e - 1,320 - - 12 1,332
Mr. Wong Kwok Sing BEEBEAE - 1,320 - - 12 1,332
Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert BEHRREE - 1,320 - - 12 1,332
Mr. Lam Shiu San MR E - 634 - - 12 646
Independent non-executive BIFRTES
directors
Mr. Wong Tak Leung, Charles TEREE 180 - - - - 180
Mr. Lai Ying Sum REREE 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Cheng King Hung RREE 120 - - - - 120
420 4,594 - - 48 5,062
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11

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERAT'ON (continued)

Directors’ remuneration (continued)

As at 30 June 2010, the directors held share options under
the Company’s share option scheme. The details of the share
options are disclosed under the paragraph “share option
scheme” in the report of the directors and note 36.

Individuals with highest emoluments

The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the five
individuals of highest emoluments (including directors) are as
follows:

11

EFREHEEZHE w

EFHE

HE—_T-—ZTFXA=1+H BEHEEXA
RIBIRET B 2B - BB B E R
BRESgREP [BERETE] —BRW
5£36 °

BREFHENAL
TERaHENAL (BIEES) 2HeR
FEUOR

2010 2009

—E—Z5F —ETNF

HK$’000 HK$’000

Fi#&xT FHE T

Basic salaries, allowances and other benefits EZAN#r 4 - 284 & H b 127 5,486 5,584
Long service payment R EARR IS K - =
Share-based payments VARR AR B E R 2 S 247 1,034
Retirement scheme contribution RIRET 251 57 60
5,790 6,678

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
five individuals with highest emoluments as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year include three (2009: three) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above.
The emoluments payable to the remaining two (2009: two)
individuals during the year are as follows:

AEER AEERERNAERHELIA
IXEAME  ESREMAREE IR
IIAARS B85 2 SRS Sk RE R (B -

FR AEERERRSHFENALERE=%
(ZZEENF =ZR)EF EMeERLEX
2z ARER - FR - BNEGAE (=
ZTNF WMB)EANALTZMEIT

2010 2009

—ZT—ZTF —ETNF

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FHETT

Basic salaries, allowances and other benefits FE A&  E8E K EMb1g 1,566 1,352
Share-based payments VARR ) 2 Bt 2 2 247 2,178
Retirement scheme contribution RIRET B 24 24
1,837 3,554
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11 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 11 EXEREESEZHM& W
REMUNERAT'ON (continued)
Individuals with highest emoluments (continued) BEHEHNAL @
The emolument of the two (2009: two) individual with the HAME (ZEZENF : MB) &xe s ERIA
highest emolument is fall within the following band: TN T Y& E
Number of individual
A
2010 2009
—B—-FF —ZTTNF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
THT FAEIT
Emolument band B < &6 [E]
HKS$NIl — HK$1,500,000 =% T - 1,500,000 7T 2 1
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T — 2,000,000/ 7T - 1
12 (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS 12 ZF2AFBREIBEAREW (518)
OF THE COMPANY
The consolidated (loss) attributable to equity holders of the RARIRERBAELGES (B1ER)E
Company includes a loss of HK$153,102,000 (2009: loss of FERARAB 2 BHRRERE ZEE
HK$413,219,000) which has been dealt with in the financial 153,102,000 T (Z 2 Z L& : E5 18
statements of the Company. 413,219,000 7L ) °
13 (LOSS) PER SHARE
(a) Basic (loss) per share 13 HBE (ER)

The calculation of basic and diluted losses per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on
the following data:

(@) ®|EREF (HH)
ARBREBANREEREALEEE
BIRIATBEAE

2010 2009
—E—ZF —TENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHE T
Loss i}
Loss for the purposes of basic and MARRHEE AEGF
diluted loss per share attributable to ERAREEEBEEMS 2
the owners of the Company B8 140,706 391,000
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13 (LOSS) PER SHARE (continued) 13 SR (BR) W
(a) Basic (loss) per share (continued) (@) BEREX (HBR) w
2010 2009
—ZT—ZTF —ETNF
’000 ‘000
FB& T A%
(restated)
(%))
Number of shares Bin®E
Weighted average number of REREAREEERE
ordinary shares for the purpose of mE &R 2 ke
basic and diluted loss per share 39 AE 8K 568,247 311,742
The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the HEZZEZENFR-ZZE—ZFA
years ended 30 June 2009 and 2010 for the purpose of = THILEFE R ESRERRE
calculating the basic and diluted loss per share has been SBEEM S 2 S RRMNEFEREE
adjusted to reflect the effects of share consolidation as EH FAE - AR A KTE35@) 2 IR 15
set out in note 35(a). e TR
(b) Diluted (loss) per share (b) SEEHEE(HR)
The Company had no dilutive potential ordinary shares HE_ZZENFR-ZZ-—FTFH
in existence during the years ended 30 June 2009 = tTHILEFE AR WERTZE
and 2010 since the Company’s share options and the EEEE SR - AR AR A 2 BB I i
convertible notes are anti-dilutive. Therefore, the diluted RAMBRERAEREEER R E
(loss) per share are the same as the basic (loss) per fr#sE (BB BERER (BE) —
share. B
14 SEGMENT INFORMATION 14 SEBEH

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal
reports which provides information about components of the
Group. These information are reported to and reviewed by the
chief operating decision-makers (“CODM”) for the purposes of

resource allocation and performance assessment.

The Group has presented the following three reportable
segments. These segments are managed separately. No
operating segments have been aggregated to form the

following reportable segments.

LEDBIREBHIIAEEANEED 2 B
ZABBRERELE - ZFERTIAETEEE
RERE(TBEEERRE ) BERBHESE
Bl tED B BERRFERBE 2 -
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104

SEGMENT |NFORMAT|0N (continued)
(1) Intelligent system: the development and sale of intelligent
home electronic application system.

(2)  Hotel management: the provision for hotel management
services.

(8)  Gold mining: mining and processing of gold mines.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and
attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note
4. Segment loss represents the loss from each segment
without allocation of central administration costs (e.g. directors’
remuneration, share of profit of associates and finance costs.)
This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision
maker for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment. Taxation (credit)/charge is not allocated to
reportable segment.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those segments
and the expenses incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation of assets
attributable to those segments.

Sales between segments are carried out on arm’s length
basis. The revenue from external parties reported to the chief
operating decision makers is measured in a manner consistent
with that in the profit or loss.

All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than
interest in associates and unallocated assets. Assets used
jointly by reportable segments are allocated on the basis of
the revenues earned by individual reportable segments; and
all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than
current, deferred tax liabilities. Liabilities for which reportable
segments are jointly liable are allocated in proportion to
segment assets.

14
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14 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Business segments
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments
as provided to the Group’s chief operating decision
maker is set out below:

(a)

14 SBEH =

(a)

REHMW

AASEEELERRERENAE

BRI RS DA ER N T ATE

Intelligent system Hotel management Gold mining Total
BRRTE BEER 3k it
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
BB -—ITHhHF ZEB-Bf —ITHF ZEB-EBf —TTHF ZB-BF _—TTNF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT FTET THT TET THT THT THT
Segment revenue AEHRA
Revenue from external RENBER ZHWA
customers 9,345 74,374 - 3,738 - - 9,345 78,112
Reportable segment (loss) ARERTAH
before taxation (F8) (22,361)  (177,236) (5197)  (113316)  (184,429) - @198 (290552
Depreciation, amortisation and  #7 & » % 34 8@ K Fa
release of prepaid lease HEEHE
payments (19,747)  (20327) 4o (10814 @11) - (20498  (31,141)
Other material non-cash items: HiEAFRS
~ Equity-settled share- -RERFKZ S
based transactions - @r1) - (6,180) - - - (7,151)
- Impairment loss on —-EEEL
intangible assets AERE (1,477) - - - (174,200) - (175,677) -
Reportable segment assets AREDHEE 234,956 122,148 223,641 106,449 158,961 - 617,558 228,597
Reportable segment liabiities [ 3k A & & 21,588 229,421 598 310,854 26,037 - 48,223 540,275
Capital expenditure BARX
~ through acquisition of —BRKE-HHE
a subsidiary NG - - - - 215,407 - 215,407 -
- other —Hft 568 22,828 - 37,501 3,507 - 4,075 60,329
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14 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 14 SBEH =
(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment (b) FIHRESBEA RS - FERA
revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities RZEER
2010 2009
—E—EF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FH&ET
Revenue A
Total reportable segments’ revenues BEERE T AU N 9,345 78,112
Elimination of inter-segment revenue  #fiBR 7 38 WA - -
Consolidated turnover IREEERE 9,345 78,112
Loss i}
Reportable segment (loss) derived REEEIIHER 2
from group’s external customers AR5 (EE) (211,987) (290,552)
Share of profits less losses of FE{H B 2 B) v FRUE 18
associates 2,512 401
Other revenue and other net income  E Y A R B A U8 A5 58 6,959 566
Finance costs B E R (6,702) (1,934)
Impairment loss on interest in an R—FEEE QR 2 w2
associate VERIEN SR - (4,200)
Impairment loss on goodwill e 2 R EEE - (4,322)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBRRZEE - (84,375)
Unallocated head office and corporate RO ER42A & RS
expenses (27,230) (6,419)
Consolidated (loss) before tax RAEBRTEAT (E51E)
expense (236,448) (390,835)
Assets HE
Total reportable segments’ assets AREDHREE 617,558 228,597
Elimination of inter-segment i B 2 2B R LUk ZRTE
receivables (519,686) (156,5006)
97,872 72,091
Interests in associates (accounted for BN T 2 2 (1B
by the equity method) (Note 1) HRIEANR)(B71) 1,792 42,908
Unallocated R
— available-for-sale investment —AHEERE = 18,900
— promissory notes receivable — RN R & 38,573 =
— others —HAh 18,488 10,248
Consolidated total assets REREE 156,725 144,147
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14 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 14 SHBEH W
(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment (b) FIHRESBBA RS - FERA
revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities RZE R ()

(continued)

2010 2009
—ZE—-ZF —EETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR AT
Liabilities R
Total reportable segments’ liabilities ARENHRBE 48,223 540,275
Elimination of inter-segment payables ik 7 B fE f& 1 ;18 (16,501) (518,947)
31,722 21,328
Unallocated KoL
— deferred tax liabilities —BEERIEEE 1,403 7,954
— promissory note payable — AN EE - 6,702
— convertible notes — AR IR iR 66,752 22,106
- others —E A 1,604 3,073
Consolidated total liabilities mEmaR 101,481 61,163
Note 1: Interests in associates are not included in the measure Biat1 - REE AR 2 ST BT AD I E
of segment assets but are regularly provided to the EZi2 BE@RERESEHRE
chief operating decision maker. TREERRALRM -
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14 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 14 SBEH =
(c) Geographic information (c) HESH
As all segments of the Group are operating in the HRASEBMESHEHRFEARKL
People’s Republic of China (“The PRC”), including Hong ME(HE] - BEEE)EE Bt
Kong, no geographic information has further been I — IR R IR E K] o
disclosed.
(d) Information about major customers (d TEERZHEH
Revenue from customers contributing 10% or more of REMAEEAHETFE10%IA £z
the total sales of the Group are as follows: BEREZWALT :
2010 2009
—E—Ef —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT FET
Customer A — revenue from intelligent EFEA—RBEER S 2 A
system 3,755 21,390
Customer B - revenue from intelligent HFEB—RBEERHF WA
system 1,825 -
Customer C - revenue from inteligent RFEC—REEERF 2 WA
system 1,790 -
Customer D — revenue from inteligent ZEFD—K B E ARG Z WA
system - 20,685
Customer E - revenue from inteligent RFEE—RBEERF 2 WA
system - 14,135
Customer F - revenue from intelligent BFEF—KBEHERHFZWA
system - 8,914
7,370 65,124
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 Y% BB R
The Group
350
Furniture
Leasehold and Motor  Construction
Buildings improvements fixtures  Equipment vehicle in progress Total
HEME
L kg RARKE 4] RE ERIR #it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHRT THET TET TR FRT FHRT FHRT

Cost: BE:
At 1 July 2008 RZZZ\FtA-H 5,818 1,782 613 26,640 1,037 - 35,445
Additions RE - 36,208 - 15,859 67 - 52,129
Disposals e 5373 (36,561) (189) (2,049) (894) - (45,965)
Exchange realignment X AE - - 1 5 - - 6
At 30 June 2009 RZZZAERA=TH - 1,424 426 39,555 210 - 41,615
Additions through acquisition of ~ BERMKE-HHBA A2

a subsidiary (Note 38) WNE (f7738) 1,064 - 75 1,152 146 445 2872
Additions NE = = 16 43 876 1,766 2,701
Disposals HE - - © (15) (235) - (256)
Exchange realignment X AR 30 - 2 3% 5 25 9%
At 30 June 2010 RZB-BEXA=1H 1,084 1,424 513 40,771 1,002 2,236 47,030
Accumulated depreciationand R iTER F{E:

impairments:
At 1 July 2008 RZEE\FtA-H 12 811 409 9,690 238 - 11,160
Charge for the year FRZ M 14 2,233 67 6,814 137 - 9,392
Written back on disposals LEREE (153) (1,952) (74) (1,359) [274) - (3,808)
Exchange realignment X AR - - 2 3 - - 5
At 30 June 2009 RZZEAERA=TH - 1,092 404 15,152 101 - 16,749
Charge for the year EREH 85 286 17 7,687 230 - 8,305
Written back on disposals it E Rl - - - - (140) - (140)
Exchange realignment I 5 8% 1 - - 4 1 - 6
At 30 June 2010 RZE-ZEXAZ1A 86 1,378 421 22,843 192 - 24,920
Net book value: REBE:
At 30 June 2010 R-ZZ-ZEXA=+H 998 46 92 17,928 810 2,236 22,110
At 30 June 2009 RZEENFR A=TH = 332 22 24,403 109 - 24,866
The buildings are situated in the People’s Republic of China BRABFURPEARLNRE  URAEE
under long-term lease. H XA
As at 30 June 2010, buildings with carrying value of RZE—ZF X A=+H " KHAEA998,000
HK$998,000 (2009: HK$NIl) had not been granted formal title BT (ZEENE TS L) 2EF I EER
of ownership. In the opinion of directors, the absence of formal FREE-ZFERA WEISEXNFEEL
title does not impair the value of the relevant buildings. mEAHEEF2EBE
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16 | EE
The Group
F5H
Patents and Computer Mining
trademarks software right Total
SHREER EHE G PR E 5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T#T TET T#T T#T
Cost: B
At 1 July 2008 RZEZNF+A—AH 4,300 105,795 - 110,095
Additions NE = 8,200 = 8,200
Disposals HE = (39,090) = (39,090)
At 30 June 2009 RZZEZENFHA=TH 4,300 74,905 = 79,205
Addition through acquisition of  #:BUIE— R B A E 2
a subsidiary (Note 38) NE (f1:238) - - 212,535 212,535
Additions NE - - 1,374 1,374
Disposals HE (1,075) - - (1,075)
At 30 June 2010 R-E—Z2£XA=1+H 3,225 74,905 213,909 292,039
Accumulated amortisation @ BEtE#RR{E:
and impairment:
At 1 July 2008 RZZFZENF+LA—H 1,553 29,187 = 30,740
Charge for the year FAZH 287 20,583 - 20,870
Written back on disposals & K - (8,470) - (8,470)
At 30 June 2009 “ZENEFEAA=TH 1,840 41,300 = 43,140
Charge for the year i g 287 11,606 = 11,893
Written back on disposals & K (907) - - (907)
Impairment E 778 699 174,200 175,677
At 30 June 2010 R-Z—ZFXA=1+H 1,998 53,605 174,200 229,803
Net book value: IRERE
At 30 June 2010 R-E—Z£XA=1+H 1,227 21,300 39,709 62,236
At 30 June 2009 “TENFAA=TH 2,460 33,605 = 36,065

The amortisation are charge for the year is included in “cost of

sales” in the consolidated income statement.

A
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16

|NTANG|BLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment of mining right

The mining right is owned by a subsidiary of the Group
namely Zhang Jia Fan Gold Mine. As a result of a revision of
business strategy and focus due to tightening of the regulatory
environment in relation to the acquisition of mining business by
listed companies resulting uncertainties as to the time required
to complete the acquisition, the increased cost of acquisition
due to the changes in the regulations and market sentiment
in respect of companies engaging in gold mining business on
a small scale and delay in making progress in increasing the
output of the Zhang Jia Fan Gold Mine, the Group has scaled
down the expected annual production of Zhang Jia Fan Gold
Mine.

In view of the above, the directors of the Company considered
that the mining right of the Zhang Jia Fan Gold Mine should
be impaired. A valuation was performed by an independent
valuer, on a cash flow projections basis. The recoverable
amount of the mining right of the Zhang Jia Fan Gold Mine
has been determined based on a value in use calculation.
That calculation uses cash flow projections covering a 20-
year period until the resources run out based on financial
forecasts approved by management, and discounting rate of
18.69%. Key assumptions for the value in use calculations
relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include
budgeted sales and gross margin, such estimation is based on
the management’s expectations for the market development.
Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of the mining right of the Zhang Jia Fan Gold
Mine to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the
mining right of the Zhang Jia Fan Gold Mine. Accordingly, an
amount of approximately HK$174,200,000 was recognised as
impairment loss in profit or loss during the year.

16

EEEE @
5 W 18 R (E
REERAEE —HR2AERXREBEZHB
NAEES - AR B TR R BREER
EEEIRIBEAFITNE  BEEARNEETE R
MR T HEERE HHENRESERER
ERZ AR EENMGRERES
IWWEER AN A RIENRREEBHES
ZHEENIRER  AEBEE A ST KR
REAE L NREBNMAEKEFERRESE 2 B H
FEES-

R EXFTI ARREERERERREIE
ZERTERE W TERE - (A E R B G EMIEE
SREBTRELEETT KRR ESEREE
ke EEREFEREETEET &at
BEARE0FH(EEEREEZAL)Z
ReneBi(RETEEIEZTKE
IS ) - W% BA IR E18.69%1E i - fF A (8
EFfEZEERIEBLSARA R (B
TEEHEERENE) 25t H @ AR
BEREUMBREZASHEL -EEEHE
B EAZEBRRZEMEEAIEEBET
GEPERR R SRR 2 AREEB R
KRR SRR EE 2 B n] Y o] & 58 o [ I 0 4
174,200,000/ 7T 2 1A G A E B 2 fE 7R AR
EEE-
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GOODWILL me
The Group
x5
2010 2009
—E—EF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FET
Cost: 5% 3
At the beginning of year F 1) 4,322 60,643
Acquisition of a subsidiary W HE BT 8 A =) - 4,322
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries ek EE NGRS (53 - (60,643)
Written-off during the year A 38 (4,322) -
At the end of year F - 4,322
Impairment: i B
At the beginning of year F4 4,322 =
Impairment loss recognised BERERREEE - 4,322
Written-off during the year F N3 (4,322) -
At the end of year FIR - 4,322
Carrying amounts: IRE(E: - -

In previous year, goodwill was resulted from the acquisition
of the entire issued capital of Dragon Emperor International
Limited. The assets of Dragon Emperor International Limited
are primarily available-for-sale investment which was already
measured at its fair value at year end date. Impairment loss
was recognised by reference to the recoverable amount of the
available-for-sale investment which is its fair value less costs to
sell. The fair value is determined using a discounted cash flow
analysis.

The entire amount of goodwill was allocated to the cash-
generating unit (“CGU”) Autoscale Resources Limited for
impairment tests purposes. The recoverable amount of the
CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a five-year period,
and a discount rate of 12% per annum. Cash flows beyond the
five-year period have been extrapolated using a steady 8% per
annum growth rate.
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P 2 T5 R B Y BB Dragon Emperor
International LimitedZ & & B 37T % 7N ©
Dragon Emperor International Limited 2 & &
FERAIMMHERE WERFERFURTF
Bt 2  BEEBEER2EAIHEERE ZA
We &8 (AEQFEREDSERAR)ERE
R NTFETIABRRSTMAITEREE

BEZMESERBREIABEIEER
CEABM([REEAEEBMN]) Autoscale
Resources Limited © 28 & 4 B 2 7] Y [2]
CHREEREENEET - 258 EA
MERAFHzRSREEA (REEEEH
HEZHETEERE)  WIRMBEXEF12%
EH - AFEHE RS RECKEBEZEE
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INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

18

RBLARZEG

The Company

r. 3/
2010 2009
—Z—ZF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHETT
Unlisted shares, at cost FE LT - FRAKA 5,637 5,637
Less: Impairment loss R EEE - =
5,637 5,637

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries

TREBRIERE

AEEEGE EEXEA

which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the BZHBRR 2B
Group.
Percentage of equity
RiEaslt
Place of Group’s
incorporation/ effective  Held by the Heldby Particulars of issued/ Principal activity and
Name of Company establishment interest  Company  subsidiary  registered capital place of operation
101 KAz @HFLA BME BHEERT/ TERBR
ARER R L #E 48 BERSEE BN
Cyberworks Technology Hong Kong 100% = 100% 4 shares of HK$1 each Provision of systems design
Limited and integration services in
Hong Kong
BREERRARLA b ARERAEIET R REBREZRRTRE
a k%
ERIE 5 (R The People’s Republic 100% = 100%  Registered capital of Development, production
BRAF () of China HK$1,000,000 and sales of intelligent
(The “PRC") automation and control
systems in the PRC
hEARANE AMER10000008T RPERE FEREESK
(THE]) BB RIEHI R4
Inno Hotel Investment & BVI 100% = 100% 100 shares of US$1 each  Investment holding
Management Holdings
Limited
RERAHS 100REBREEIEXT. REEK
&t
Inno Hotel Group Limited BVI 100% 100% - 100 shares of US$1 each  Investment holding
EERAES 100REREBIZT.  REER
Tt
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INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

18 MMEBLATZERZ @

Percentage of equity

RiEaslt
Place of Group’s
incorporation/ effective  Held by the Heldby  Particulars of issued/ Principal activity and
Name of Company establishment interest  Company  subsidiary  registered capital place of operation
10 F502 HILE BHE BHEERT/ FERHR
ACEL ] R 3L Bh ERiER 2} 47 EBRRFEH EEhe
Inno Gold Mining Limited BVI 100% 100% - 1 share of US$1 each Investment holding
EBERAES 1REEIET KA REER
Massive King Investment BVI 100% = 100% 1 share of US$1 each Investment holding
Limited
EBRAES 1REEIETL KA REAR
Gaofeng Holding Co., Limited  Hong Kong 62.6% = 62.6% 10,000 shares of HK$1 Investment holding
each
BB ERARAR BB 10000RBREEETL REER
)
Dragon Emperor International ~ BV 100% - 100% 10 shares of US$1 each  Investment holding
Limited
EERAES 10RSRAEIETZRE REZER
Jiu Jiang Gaofeng The PRC 62.6% - 62.6%  Registered capital of Investment holding
Mining Industry USD280,000
Company Limited ()
NIREREERARG AMER280000(T  RERK
Zhang Jin Fan Gold Mine The PRC 51% - 51%  Registered capital of Mining and processing of
(i (i RMBB800,000 gold mines in the PRC
BRMRRREE (i) (i) H HMEAAREB00000T RTEEBARRLE
Shiny Step Investments BVI 100% 100% - 1share of US$1 each Investment holding
Limited
EERAES 1REEIET KA REER
(i) Registered under the laws of the PRC as a wholly foreign owned (i) BEFRBOEG M AR INEDE-
enterprise
(i) Registered under the laws of the PRC as a shareholding (i) BEREEGI M RRESIEAR -
cooperative company
(i) ~ The English translation of the company names is for reference (i) RAENPXEBAEXBE WAGEE

only. The official name of these companies are in Chinese.

MR EREFEZEZR-
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 19 REBELAFIZCHEZ
The Group
F5EH

2010 2009
—Z—ZF ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFHET FHETT
Unlisted shares, at cost FE LT - FRAKA 4,920 49,274
Share of post-acquisition loss DEEW R 2 B8 (3,128) (2,166)
Impairment loss BEEE = (4,200)
1,792 42,908

In previous year, the Group completed its annual impairment
test for interest in associates by comparing the recoverable
amount of interest in associates of its carrying amount as at
30 June 2009. The recoverable amounts of the interest in
the associate have been determined based on value in use
calculations, using cash flow projection at a discount rate
of 15%. The carrying amount of the interest in associates is
written down by approximately HK$4,200,000. Management
has considered the above assumptions and valuation and also
taken into account the business plan going forward.

The following list contains only the particulars of associates,
all of which are unlisted corporate entities, which principally
affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group.

REF AEBBBLRNEE QR 2 s
ZAWESEERER-_EENFA=1H
ZEEREETKHE RIS QN a2 BT
TRZEERBERS R 6%%"727&127
WESERBEFERAEBERNE MARERE
TERIIZ B3R EA5%EE 5E A B & A B 2 e
Z BREEHUR #74,200,000/8 T BIEEE &
BB EE A E  TNE AT KRR 2R 2 ZE TG ET

&e

TRECHIEVEFEELESE AEXA
EZMEATZHE 2 HHEATY A
FHARERE-

Percentage of equity
BEESL
Form of Group’s  Held by
business Place of effective the Heldby Particulars of Principal activity and place
Name of Company structure incorporation interest Company subsidiary issued capital of operation
*&Ez mFLE  HME TERER
R EBERLI BRI ERER #E QFRFT BRORFHEHSE EEHE
Grace Pond Limited* Incorporated Hong Kong 49% — 49% 1,000 shares of Provision of software application
HK$1 each consultancy services in Hong
Kong
317 BE 1,000k ERAEIET.  REBRERERZARSE
& fn
General Win Limited* Incorporated Hong Kong 49% = 49% 1,000 shares of Provision of software application
HK$1 each consultancy services in Hong
Kong
B Bk 1,000k B RAEEIETL m&%ktﬁ@ {tpE PR AR 7S

* Companies not audited by Crowe Horwath (HK) CFA Limited
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 19 %Hﬁ’“‘" _] Z*Eﬁ (%)
Summary financial information of the Group’s associates: NEFMENT 2 HBERE :
The Group
xEH
2010 2009
—Z—ZF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Assets BE 3,910 25,184
Liabilities BE (253) (12,379)
Revenues WA - 7,878
(Loss),” Profit after tax BrEi1E (E518) A (185) 2,828
INTEREST IN A JOINTLY-CONTROLLED 20 R—MHXFAEHERZER
ENTITY
The Group
*T5KE
2010 2009
—ZE—-ZF ZEENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FET
Share of net assets of jointly-controlled entity  F& {5 % A% 4| F 82 & & FE - -
During the year, the Group has disposed of its entire interest in RER  AEBEHEERNEREGERE 2
jointly-controlled entity. Ef R o
In previous year, the Group’s share of losses exceeds the T - AREBEAL 2 BB BZ L RIZE
carrying amounts of the jointly-controlled entity, the carrying ERCEEE WREHEMBRESET -
amount was reduced to HK$Nil.
Summary financial information on the jointly controlled entity %QK%ETEEEE%Z,\IE@%\JE%%ZEM%Q
related to the Group’s interests: P :
The Group
*TEME
2010 2009
—EB—EF —TENF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FE&T FHTT
Current liabilities nRBAE - 94
Income WA - =
Expenses sz = 1
Loss for the year FNEE = M
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21

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT 21 WHHERSE
The Group
x5E
2010 2009
—E—-ZF —ETAF
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi#xT T T
Unlisted securities: ELTES:
— Equity securities N - 18,900
Analysed for reporting purpose as: AR ETER 22 :
Current assets MBE E - =
Non-current assets ERBEE - 18,900
- 18,900

In previous year, the Group held 15.4% of the ordinary share
capital of Gaofeng Holding Co. Limited (“HK Gaofeng”), a
company interested in the entire equity interest in Jiu Jiang
Gaofeng Mining Industry Company Limited (“‘Jiu Jiang
Gaofeng”). Jiu Jiang Gaofeng is a limited liability company
established in the PRC. The scope of business of Jiu Jiang
Gaofeng is sale and purchase of dolomite, investment,
consultation and mining engineering technical consultation.

The unlisted equity securities are measured at fair value. Fair
value is estimated using a discounted cash flow model, which
includes some assumptions that are not supportable by
observable market prices or rates. In determining the fair value,
a risk adjusted discount factor of 14.02% is used.

On 27 October 2009, HK Gaofeng became a subsidiary of the
Group subsequent to further interest acquired and the interest
in available-for-sale investment was derecognised on the same
date. For details of the acquisitions please refer to note 38.

REF AREREEEHERRARAR
((BBHL]) BRBAI5A%HER  ZAF
HANIBEREARAA ((IHL])
2 IR - NULS B A—RIR P BT
YERELAR EREBENEEAE
B R -

IE LT AEE TR A FEFE - AFEK
BEr DIRRREREENTE  EF R
—UEIT N A ERER 2 IS E AR sk R R AT S
ZBR -ETAFER  ARARERT14.02
& & R B R BE B B K o

R-ZETNAFTA-+LRA -EE—TKE
Bak BEREN/AEEZHBAR
MR A ERE 2 e AN R B & L
RoBHREBERZFHE F2HMES8 -
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22 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO SUBSIDIARIES AND

22 W FEFAMELATREBEREER

DIRECTORS -]
(@ Amounts due from subsidiaries (a) EUREATRIE
The Company
FAFH
2010 2009
—ZE—-ZF —TENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHET FHEIT
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG 562,877 446,392
Less: Impairment loss R OREEE (494,694) (357,351)
68,183 89,041
Impairment losses were recognised during the years HRZENB R RFESRGER W
ended 30 June 2010 and 30 June 2009 due to sustained REEZZE—ZTFA=TAKZZ
loss making conditions of these subsidiaries. TNFEANA=THIEFEHER /UZTE
B 18 o
Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest- JEWRMIB AR FIBAEEKR RER
free and repayable on demand. AREEREE-
(b) Amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free (b) ENKEARZEAEERET &8 &
and repayable on demand. AREERER-
(¢) Amounts due to directors are unsecured, interest-free () ENEFRELAEER 2ERARE
and repayable on demand. ZREE-
23 TRADING SECURITIES 23 XHEFH
Trading securities included: RHPBEHBIE:
The Group
r. 33
2010 2009
—E—F —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FETT
Listed securities: EES
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong —REB LM BRARES 7,495 -

RFENSEMSAREABRETE

o

Fair values are determined with reference to quoted market bid
prices.
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24 INVENTORIES 24 R
The Group
*&

2010 2009
—Z—ZF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Finished goods 301 709
Work in progress 864 345
Raw materials 294 395
1,459 1,449

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an BRRBAXZFESEINET

expense is as follows:
The Group
TEE

2010 2009
—E—8F —ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Carrying amount of inventories sold EHFERmE 6,921 67,046
Write-down of inventories 893 319
7,814 67,365
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25 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES 25 MR
The Group
&K
2010 2009
—Z—-ZF —ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TExT T T
Trade debtors B 5 IR K 37 125,605
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts W REREEAE - (122,219)
37 3,386
Receivable from a jointly controlled entity & U — 5 £ [F4%2 #I & 82 3E - 95
Receivable from associates JrE Lk Bt 2 R B 5 IE 145 652
182 4,133

Receivable from associates are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

(a) Ageing analysis
Included in accounts receivables are trade debtors (net
of allowance for doubtful debts) with the following ageing
analysis as of the end of the reporting period:

B EAFREABER £ 8 RARE

() FRESH
FEW IR R B IEE 5 AR (MR
RERBE) RS R BRI DT
T

The Group
x5EH

2010 2009
—ZE—-ZF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FT#ExT FET
Current BN ER - 539
Less than 1 month past due BEINE—EA 34 79
1 to 3 months past due wE—=={EA - -
Over 3 months past due B R e = A A 3 2,768
37 2,847
37 3,386
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25 ACCOUNTS RECE'VABLES (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Ageing analysis (continued)

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly
on credit. The credit period is generally 120 days. No
interest is charged on accounts receivables and the
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in
note 41(d).

Impairment of trade debtors

At 30 June 2010, the Group’s trade debtors of HKS$NIl
(2009: HK$122,219,000) was individually determined
to be impaired. The individually impaired receivables
related to customers that were in financial difficulties and
management assessed that the receivables were not
expected to be recovered. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

Trade debtors that are not impaired

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to customers for whom there was no recent history
of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to independent customers that have a good track record
with the Group. Based on past experience, management
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a
significant change in credit quality and the balances are
still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances.

25 MEUIR®R (@

(a)

(b)

(c)

IRE 9 (w)
AEBEEFEZRGRIBOUEEH
NET EEH—KA1208 - EUER
RERE AEEBMERZEEHRET
BEMEER - AEBEERR ZE
— S BEERKI A1)

B 5 BRI E
R-ZE—ZFFEA=+H KEBA
HZE T (ZZTZNF 122,219,000
BL)2ESRBEREEFNETE S
HIRRE - @ BIRE 2 FE WG IR
U BRSSP EHE mMEEEFT
& FEHA R AT YR [ e Uk 3T - R E [
W EE BT E AR -

it % ik {E 2 58 5 FE W AR =&
4 360 A 7 4B R 1B 2 FE MR BR AR T
WER RS EF AR

EHEERE  RUGKIAERR AR
ARIFREHZBYRTFEH - RIEBE
TR BEERS ANEEERY
BEEANEE BERGRIDRRIER
BB - R A B A AR R
ERFE - ARBEYERNFEHRTAE
(EREEEERE
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25 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES (continued) 25
(d) Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
for trade debtors

FE U AR % ()
(d HHEBWREFRRRBEHFZEH

The Group
KM

2010 2009
—E—EF —TENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHEIT
At the beginning of year F AR 122,219 113
Impairment losses recognised BB REEE - 122,219
Trade debtors written off B 55 I Wt B 5K 5 (114,592) (113
Reversal of allowance of bad debts 152 B {5 [2] (7,627) =
At the end of year FUREERR - 122,219

(e) Pledge of trade debtors
In previous year, the Group has pledged its trade debtors
amounting to HK$9,348,530 to a third party to secure
the due and punctual payment of all and any sums which
are or at any time become payable by the Company
under a promissory note dated 15 May 2009 issued by
the Company in the principal amount at HK$7,820,000.

() EHEURERZIEN

REFR ANEBRE=FHEREE
{8 459,348,530/8 7T .2 B 5 FE WBR 51 -
DAYEAR 85 I 2B S 3 AR A B E A Bk
BERS FEM AR R 2B ERTE - AR
AIBEBEER - ZEZEAFRA+HHA
%17 - AN& 58 57,820,00058 7T 2 A& A
EEMASNZERIE-

26 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS 26 BEHBTER
The Group The Company
$5H b 3/
2010 2009 2010 2009
“E-8F _—TTHE ZEBE-BE —TTAF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER THET TET THET
Bank deposits pledged against fERERRT
banking facilities BRBZRITER - 10,000 - 10,000

In previous year, the amounts were pledged to secure certain
bank loans of the Group and the Company (see note 28).
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27

28

SRR At

—ZEFXA=1H

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

27 BeRBeFRY

The Group The Company
x5 b, /N
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-Bf _TTHF ZB-BE _TTNF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHL TET FET
Cash at bank and in hand |ITEFERES 10,326 735 8,173 81
Cash and cash equivalents in B4R & BT SRR =
the consolidated statement of 2R & KB &EH
financial position BY 10,326 735 8,173 81
Bank overdrafts (note 28) RITEZ (H7728) - (1,957) = =
Cash and cash equivalents in R EHERER
the consolidated statement of 2 IR& NIEE %
cash flows BY 10,326 (1,222) 8,173 81
BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFTS 28 SRITEHRREX
The Group
x5E
2010 2009
—ZE—-ZF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#ERT FABT
Non-current JEEPHA
Bank loans IRITER - -
Current ENHA
Bank loans RITEN - 10,000
Bank overdrafts (note 27) IRITEX (HeF27) - 1,957
- 11,957
Total #st - 11,957
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28

124

BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFTS (continued)

28 MITERREIIZ

The Group

x5KH
2010 2009
—Z—ZF —ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
T#ERT F#ET

Secured =% %00

Bank loans RITEX - 10,000
Bank overdrafts IRITE R - 1,957
- 11,957

In previous year, the bank overdrafts and the bank loans are
secured by the Group’s time deposits of HK$10,000,000.

In previous year, the directors, Ms. Wong Yuen Yee, Mr.
Wong Yao Wing, Robert and Mr. Wong Kwok Sing have
provided personal guarantee for bank loan and overdraft
facilities to the extent of HK$12,000,000 granted to the Group
and the Company. The facilities were utilised to the extent
HK$11,957,000.

In previous year, the effective interest rates of bank loans and
bank overdrafts were 3.4% and 5.8% per annum respectively.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of borrowings
approximate their fair values.

The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars.

REF BTEINRBETERIALREER
10,000,000/ 7T Z T& Bi1F FX fEH 4 o

REF BEZERRLL BHEEERR
BEELEERAEBR RAQARER ZRITE
% S A R A %012,000,000/8 7T .2
BAER ZEHAEEEA 711,957,000
BT e

REF ROTERREINERFES R A
BFF3.4%N5.8% °

EERn BEZERAEEEQAFERS-

fEEZREETIAETTIIE
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29 TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUED EXPENSES AND 29 ¥ HEFIER EitEAREMER

OTHER PAYABLES MR
The Group The Company
F5MH b /N
2010 2009 2010 2009
ZE-8F —TTHE ZEBE-BE _—TTAF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FET THT FHET
Trade payables B 5 IR 979 4,323 - =
Accrued expenses and other FEST B F R H A fE T IR
payables 31,779 5,981 1,443 2,827
32,758 10,304 1,443 2,827

ENRREZAMET 28 FRERFN R
TR ZREE DB

The following is an age analysis of trade payables presented
based on invoice date as at the end of the reporting period:

The Group The Company
$5H b /N

2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-Bf _TTHF ZB-BE _TTNF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FHT TER FHET
Less than 1 month PR—1E A 979 4,323 - -
1 to 3 months —Z=={8A4 - - - -
Over 3 months BB =18 A - = = =
979 4,323 - -
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30 PROMISSORY NOTES

30 #*fIRiE

126

(a)
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Promissory note receivable

(a) MEMHMTRE

The Group
*T5KE
2010 2009
—=—ZF ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET

FAe B 3
FFAZBENE

At the date of inception
Implicit interest credited

38,137 =
436 =

Balance at the end of the year FIRAERR

38,573 =

On 3 May 2010, two promissory notes in the principal
amounts of HK$2,150,000 and HK$38,700,000 were
issued to the Group as part of consideration for the
disposal of Group’s interest in Great China Media
Holdings Limited.

The two promissory notes are guaranteed by the
director of the note issuer, and are non-interest bearing.
The promissory notes in the principal amounts of
HK$2,150,000 and HK$38,700,000 will be matured on 3
August 2010 and 3 May 2011 respectively.

The fair value of the notes in the principal amounts of
HK$2,150,000 and HK$38,700,000 were calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows at the rate
of 7.346% and 7.427% per annum respectively. The
directors considered that the carrying amount of the
promissory note approximates to its fair value.

RZE—ZFRA=H NEBEERTRG
N4 % 5 5l A2,150,0005% 7T 538,700,000
BILZENEE FAREBEER AT E
HEE R ER AR 2 2 A RE -

MOENERREBEETAZESRER
BAREHFI B - AN £ % /2,150,000 7T &
38,700,000 L 2 AT RBED IR =ZZE—F
FENA=Z=BER-_ZE——FHA=HFH-

N4 5 5 3l 42,150,000/ 7T 538,700,000
BT BB ATFHERGFTAKRRERESD
Bl LA K| R 7 3468 M7 427 ET:BTE - B
ERR FZANERZEEESEE QN TFEMN
g o
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30 PROM'SSORY NOTES (continued)

31

(b) Promissory note payable

30 AfIRE W

(b) HEMHRMTRE

The Group and the Company

FEERFAT

2010 2009
—Z—ZF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET T

Balance at the beginning of FAEER
the year 6,702 -
Issued during the year FAEET - 6,554
Implicit interest charged WEL 2 & & F & 285 148
Settled during the year FAE XN (6,987) =
Balance at the end of the year FIREE R - 6,702

The promissory note was settled during the year.

In previous year, promissory note was secured by certain
Group’s accounts receivables and it was non-interest
bearing.

In previous year, the promissory note was carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate of 19.32%
per annum.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme
is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered by
independent trustees with their assets held separately from
those of the Group. The Group participates in a Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF”), managed by independently approved
MPF trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$20,000. Contributions to
the scheme vest immediately.

31

ANBRERENZ(T -

RESF  ANRIEHANKEE TRUERRE
R BEAGHHIB -

RIS - AN RIBIRIR 6 7 19,328 LA $5
PRI B -

BkmEF
AREBERERBRFIERRESF BRI AR
BEEBRRBIRVIERAZEBHETRFIEARE
a8 ([RE2E]) - aESEAHE
VERATEZEREFERNKGE - REE
EAKEEENHRA AKE2HEZ RS
HRES ([BEE] BB RARES(E
ABR -REEBESHE BXRHEEED
RlZEIRE BB RMAZ5% R - BN A L
PR 7% 420,000/ 7T 5t &2 K — & 1EH
BFEEPEA -
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31

32

128

—ZTFEXA=1+H

RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued) 31 EBHFRERF @
The Group also participates in a state-managed scheme. The REBFRX2MEARER 2518 - REEF
employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members B AaE2IEE AE %Eﬁ%ﬁﬁ@% FIETEIY
of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the X8 ZET 8l R BT & E - AEE iR A
government of the PRC. The Group contributes on a monthly M &AM #\Lﬁii.ﬁrilﬁ 3K AR R
basis to various defined contribution retirement benefit plan and LA SN A ] B A R 75 ©
the Group has no further obligation beyond the contributions
made.
LONG SERVICE PAYMENTS 32 RARBEMTR
The Group
F5%HE
2010 2009
—Z—Ef —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHET T
Balance at the beginning of the year F U 233 233
Addition during the year F AN - -
Balance at the end of the year FIR AR 233 233
Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, an entity is RIBEBEBEIED WMEEEKE TIRER

required to make long service payments to its employees upon
the termination of their employment or retirement when the
employee fulfils certain conditions and the termination meets
the required circumstances. However, where an employment
is simultaneously entitled to a long service payment and to a
retirement scheme payment, the amount of the long service
payment may be reduced by certain benefits arising from the
retirement scheme.
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33 DEFERRED TAXATION 33 EERIER
The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised RAEE  BERERE U B R EREL
in the consolidated statement of financial position and the R (BE) BEZHEKHS REHWT

movements during the year are as follows:

The Group -3 L |

Accelerated
Tax depreciation Convertible

loss allowances notes Total
nE
REAGE MERHFE FRERE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET THET THET THET
Deferred tax arising from: EEMRIBEEE S :
At 1 July 2008 R-ZZEZENFLH—H - 7,789 - 7,789
Charged to profit or loss W8z Nk (A72£10)
(note 10) - 165 - 165
At 30 June 2009 RZZEZNEF
ANA=+H - 7,954 - 7,954
Recognised directly in EENERER
equity - - 2,505 2,505
(Credited) to profit or loss ~ (5F A )38z (A72£710)
(note 10) (4,866) (3,088) (1,102) (9,056)
At 30 June 2010 RZE—FF
NA=TH (4,866) 4,866 1,403 1,403
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33 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 33 EREERIE w
The Company b. /N1 |
Convertible
notes
CIE: 128
HK$'000
T
Deferred tax arising from: BEEHIEEESR :
At 1 July 2008 R=ZZTEZENFE+LH—H -
Charged to profit or loss KBz kR -
At 30 June 2009 RZZEZTAFA=TH -
Recognised directly in equity HERERER 2,505
(Credited) to profit or loss (Gt AN) = (1,102
At 30 June 2010 R-ZZE—TFXA=1H 1,403
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax RS IR RSB 2 REAHIBEERL
losses of around HK$41,742,000 (2009: HK$34,599,000) 41,742,0007% 7T ( = ZE = L. 4F : 34,599,000
available to offset against future profits. Deferred tax assets &7T) Al A SE AR OB F o B B I ES I8
has been recognised in respect of the tax losses of around #929,489,000/ 7T (ZZEZ NG T8 IT) 1
HK$29,489,000 (2009: HK$NIl). RIBELETIBE EE ©
No deferred tax assets has been recognised in respect R A T8 BIR 2R A1 2R - 3 £ it g4
of the remaining tax losses of HK$12,253,000 (2009: N TE B 812,253,000/ 7 ( Z T AL 4F
HK$51,363,000) due to unpredictability of future profit stream. 51,363,000/ 7T ) FEREFL IR B EE © iRIKIRTT
The unused tax losses do not expire under current tax BoE R AREEETZEW-
legislation.
The tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation except BEBERTHE RBBEBEIZER K
for an amount of HK$2,744,000 (2009: HK$2,958,000), which 2,744,000/ 7t (ZZTZE L4 : 2,958,000/8
will be expired in three to four years. ) 2 RBBRIN ZRIEER=2NFEAE
W o
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34

CONVERTIBLE NOTES
HK$75,000,000 Convertible Note due 2011

On 27 October 2009, the Company issued 2-year
HK$75,000,000 unsecured and non interest-bearing
convertible note. Subsequent to share consolidation with
effect from 12 November 2009 (see Note 35(a)), the holders
of convertible note have the option to convert the note
into ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.1 each at
a conversion price of HK$0.69, subject to adjustments in
accordance with the instrument constituting the convertible
note, at any time from the issue date, 27 October 2009, up
to and excluding the fifth business day immediately before the
maturity date, 27 October 2011. Unless previously redeemed
and cancelled, the note will be redeemed at par on the maturity
date.

The convertible note was split between liability and equity
components of approximately HK$59,816,000 and
HK$15,184,000 respectively upon initial recognition by
recognising the liability component at fair value and attributing
the residual amount as the equity component.

The interest charged for the year is calculated using the
effective interest method by applying the effective interest rate
of 11.97% to the liability component.

HK$43,384,000 Convertible Note due 2011

On 28 February 2009, the Company issued 2-year
HK$43,384,000 unsecured and non interest-bearing
convertible note. Subsequent to share consolidation (see
Note 35(a)), the holders of convertible note have the option
to convert the note into ordinary shares of the Company of
HK$0.1 each at a conversion price of HK$0.319, subject to
adjustments in accordance with the instrument constituting the
convertible note, at any time from the issue date, 28 February
2009, up to and excluding the fifth business day immediately
before the maturity date, 28 February 2011. Unless previously
redeemed and cancelled, the note will be redeemed at par on
the maturity date.

34

CIE: 1 %

—Z=——FF|#12 75,000,000 JT 7] &
BRE

R-ZBEZNF+HA-—++H AQFETE
{B75,000,000/8 7T 2 M F B & 6 B 2
ABREEE -BEE —_TTNAF+—A+=
B ER 2 m & Bt (ZHT2E35@E)) @ %Al
BMREZHEAABERRETHRIZZEZ A,
F+-AZT+tEtHEIHPHAN T ——F
AZ+tHZAREZ A %0698 L2
BB R RA QR ERAEIS T2 LR
A% - AR (B AR A AT IR AR R IR 2 SR 1K
EHFAE-BRIFENBEED KT T h
ZEZERERIHAKEmERERD -

AR Z BRI EREE D AR EIH K
59,816,000/ 7T & A& A5 3 9 4915,184,000/%
T BRIEATERRAEISLEHR T Z
SRS BIRAE D -

5 PR 2 8. T B F B S R E R
H11.97EFH B At AR EHS -

= —— F|H1Z 43,384,000 T 7] %
BR

R-ZZEZNF A -+ N\B ARFIETE
643,384,000/ 7T 2 M HAEER R R E 2
AR R - BEZE AR D & BF (2 HT7£35(a))

ZAMRE 2B ATBERRETRANZE
THE-_A-+N\BZRFHHN -—Z——4F
ZAZTN\BZAAEEFEH - 1£0.319787T
2B ERBRARREGREEOAB T E
i R (E R RE A P AR R IR 2 SUE IR
RIERAE -BRIFERBEBERRTH T
AlZEEZ BRI BHAKEEERERD -
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132

CONVERT'BLE NOTES (continued)
HK$43,384,000 Convertible Note due 2011 (continued)

The convertible note was split between liability and equity
components of approximately HK$30,256,000 and
HK$13,128,000 respectively upon initial recognition by
recognising the liability component at fair value and attributing
the residual amount as the equity component.

The interest charged for the year is calculated using the
effective interest method by applying the effective interest rate
of 19.75% to the liability component.

HK$16,680,000 Convertible Notes due 2010

On 15 May 2009, the Company issued 1-year HK$16,680,000
unsecured and non interest-bearing convertible notes. The
holders of convertible notes have the option to convert the
notes into ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.02 each
at a conversion price of HK$0.06, subject to adjustments in
accordance with the instrument constituting the convertible
notes, at any time from the issue date, 15 May 2009, up to and
excluding the fifth business day immediately before the maturity
date, 15 May 2010. Unless previously redeemed and cancelled,
the notes will be redeemed at par on the maturity date.

The convertible notes were split between liability and
equity components of approximately HK$14,360,000 and
HK$2,320,000 respectively upon initial recognition by
recognising the liability component at fair value and attributing
the residual amount as the equity component.

The interest charged for the year is calculated using the
effective interest method by applying the effective interest rate

of 16.15% to the liabilities component.

The convertible notes were fully converted during the year.

34
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AR g ()
—E——F 51 243,384,000 T 7] i
BRI m

AR EERIIAERRE D BEEISHA
30,256,0007% 7T M f% A8 36 99 913,128,000
T BRE AT ERREERDUEHRT 2
S B BT AR EL D o

F PRI 2 78 Toi B R AR IR
=19.75E 5 H - LA AR EHS -

—E=— 255|112 16,680,000 JT 7] %
B=R

R-FEZNEFRA+HEA AARETEE
16,680,000/8 7T 2 — FEM T K 58 8 2 A]
MR EE - Z AR 2 8 AR BERR
BOTHA T NFRA+RABEEIEEA
—Z-TEFA+RAZAAELER %
0.06/%8 7T 2 AR (B H iR KA 5 F AR EE0.02
BT TR AR (B AR A R R AR iR
ZXBIERELR AR - BRIFEERBAER K&
i BRAZSEERBREIS R EEER
|E| o

AARFBERAERRED RRESDH
14,360,0007% 7T & B 7% #8 2 £92,320,00078
o BBBAFERRAESSLMHET 2
ERINBRAE S -

FRURELZ FI B T B E BRI AR E A
E1615EFTE WAt ABEZ D ©
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34 CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued) 34. ﬂﬁﬂggﬁ (4&)
The movement of the liability components of the convertible REE 2 RIRERE & 2 Z BT
notes for the year is set out below: T

The Group and the Company

EEAREAT
2010 2009
—ZE-ZF ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET T
Liability component at the beginning of ~ RE# 2 B EID
the year 22,106 —
Issue of convertible notes BT AR R 59,816 44,616
Conversion to ordinary shares Rz Emik (21,587) (24,278)
Interest charged FirUs B 2 F| &, 6,417 1,768
Liability component at the end of RERZEBEE D
the year 66,752 22,106
Less: Amount due within one year B —F AR EEE 2 FIE (PR
shown under current liabilities mENEE) (14,076) (1,603)
Amount due after one year —F 1R E|HREE 2 08 52,676 20,503
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35 SHARE CAPITAL 35 KX
2010 2009
2% —ETNEF
Number Nominal Number Nominal
of shares value of shares value
Bin 8 H miE 7 &1 B E{E
’000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$'000
T THERT TR THET
Authorised: VATE -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each &R E{E0.02/5 LAY
Rl
Beginning of the year F9) 5,000,000 100,000 5,000,000 100,000
Ordinary shares of BREECABITHE
HK$0.1 each AR
Effect of increase in nominal R EERER
value of shares from 0.02/8 T MNE
HK$0.02 each to HK$0.1 FRROABITH
each (note a) T & (ffita) (4,000,000) - = =
End of the year FR 1,000,000 100,000 5,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITEAR:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each &A% {E0.02/8 JTH)
EiEk
Beginning of the year F4) 2,144,178 42,884 1,227,187 24,544
Shares issued under share BREEIE T
option schemes (note b) BTG
(Hiztb) 2,000 40 132,616 2,652
Placement of shares (note ¢) &R (Mitc) - - 290,704 5,814
Conversion of convertible B kel E kS
notes (note d) (Hizzd) 265,458 5,309 493,671 9,874
2,411,636 48,233 2144178 42,884
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BIREE01ATH
TR
Effect of increase in nominal I EEB SR
value of shares from 0.02/8 T MNE
HK$0.02 each to HK$0.1 FRROABTITH
each (note a) T2 (ffita) (1,929,309) - -
482,327 48,233 2,144178 42,884
Shares issued under share BRETEIRET 2
option schemes (note b) BTG
(Hfitb) 35,240 3,524
Placement of shares (note ¢) &R (Mite) 214,465 21,446 = -
Conversion of convertible B kel ECE
notes (note d) (HfiFd) 10,000 1,000 - =
End of the year FI 742,032 74,203 2144178 42,884
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35

SHARE CAplTAL (continued)

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
share at meetings of the Company. All the ordinary shares rank
equally with regard to Company’s residual assets.

Note:

(@)

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at a special general
meeting of the Company held on 11 November 2009, every five
issued and unissued shares of HK$0.02 each were consolidated
into one new share of HK$0.1 with effect from 12 November
2009.

Following the share consolidation becoming effective on 12
November 2009, the authorised share capital of the Company is
HK$100,000,000 divided into 1,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.1
each, of which 482,327,000 shares were in issue and fully paid.
The shares after the share consolidation rank pari passu in all
respects with each other.

Before share consolidation, options were exercised to subscribe
for 2,000,000 ordinary shares in the Company at a consideration
of HK$152,000 of which HK$40,000 was credited to share
capital and the balance of HK$112,000 was credited to the
share premium account. HK$134,000 has been transferred from
the share option reserve to the share premium account.

After share consolidation, options were exercised to subscribe
for 35,240,000 new ordinary shares in the Company at a
consideration of HK$8,340,000 of which HK$3,524,000 was
credited to share capital and the balance of HK$4,816,000
was credited to the share premium account. HK$6,270,000
has been transferred from the share option reserve to the share
premium account.

On 13 January 2010, the Company placed and issued
94,465,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.24 each at cash
consideration of HK$22,672,000 in the Company. The excess
of the aggregate cash consideration over the nominal value of
shares of HK$9,446,000 was credited to the share premium
account of the Company.

On 23 March 2010, the Company placed and issued
120,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each at cash
consideration of HK$30,000,000 in the Company. The excess
of the aggregate cash consideration over the nominal value of
shares of HK$12,000,000 was credited to the share premium
account of the Company.
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BRE (m)

ERBIEE ABEKRDRARSEIROKS I
FERARIINERLLZEER—ERE
B-FMELTERZERSESN IHDELRAR
AR EE

BaE -

(@)

REER _ZTZAF+—A+—RR7TZ
RARBRER RS BBz EBRE
= SRERMEE0.2ETZEEHTRA
BT A HRIREREE. VETZH
B BEZTFEAFt AT BEER-

BERMNAHR-_ZZTAEL+—A+—-H
AR ANA R 2 A FE BRZR A100,000,00078
I 9 /A1,000,000,0000% & A% FI{E0. 178 7T
2 W& - B rh482,327 0000% & T 21T 2 &4
R-BDRABRBEHERSTEAZTERSE
TER o

RIRDE G BREETEINRE
2,000,00088 A8 A &) & @& - {8 /4152,000
78 70 H AR 40,000/8 T EF AR - Mgk R
MIE112,00078 T Bl s A B 15 % (B BR ©
134,000/8 L E RIS B B E DG
EER o

REHDEE BREETENRE
35,240,000k AR ml LB RE A
8,340,000/ 7T * E 3,524,000/ 7oat AR
K- 8 T 7X384,816,000%8 7t B 5T AR (D
BB ° 6,270,000/ T E B A EREEE
BEERMOEER-

R-ZE-—TF—A+=0 ARAFURER
822,672,000/ 7 2 & & % 1794,465,000
ISR EEO.24B T2 LAk - IR &R
B8 B0 E {H 2 = 589,446,000/8 7L E 7T
AR R B 5 (B ER

RZZE—FT&E=A=+=H &AM
I £ X 830,000,000 7T it & & & 17
120,000,0000% & J% M {80.25/8 T 2 #1 &
BER-BESRBEBEERNABZ =%
12,000,000/ 7T E sF AR R R IR D & B
E-Eo
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35 SHARE CAplTAL (continued)

Note: (continued)

136

©)

On 7 July 2009, a convertible note holder has exercised
conversion right to convert part of the principal amount into the
15,000,000 ordinary shares in the Company. The excess of the
aggregate cash consideration over the nominal value of shares
of HK$300,000 was credited to the share premium account of
the Company.

On 10 July 2009, a convertible note holder has exercised
conversion right to convert part of the principal amount into the
100,000,000 ordinary shares in the Company. The excess of the
aggregate cash consideration over the nominal value of shares
of HK$2,000,000 was credited to the share premium account of
the Company.

On 22 July 2009, a convertible note holder has exercised
conversion right to convert the whole part of the principal
amount into the 35,000,000 ordinary shares in the Company.
The excess of the aggregate cash consideration over the
nominal value of shares of HK$700,000 was credited to the
share premium account of the Company.

On 28 July 2009, a convertible note holder has exercised
conversion right to convert the whole part of the principal
amount into the 15,458,000 ordinary shares in the Company.
The excess of the aggregate cash consideration over the
nominal value of shares of HK$309,000 was credited to the
share premium account of the Company.

On 23 October 2009, a convertible note holder has exercised
conversion right to convert the whole part of the principal
amount into the 50,000,000 ordinary shares in the Company.
The excess of the aggregate cash consideration over the
nominal value of shares of HK$1,000,000 was credited to the
share premium account of the Company.

On 4 November 2009, a convertible note holder has exercised
conversion right to convert part of the principal amount into the
50,000,000 ordinary shares in the Company. The excess of the
aggregate cash consideration over the nominal value of shares
of HK$1,000,000 was credited to the share premium account of
the Company.

On 17 November 2009, a convertible note holder has exercised
conversion right to convert part of the principal amount into the
10,000,000 new ordinary shares in the Company. The excess of
the aggregate cash consideration over the nominal value of new
shares of HK$1,000,000 was credited to the share premium
account of the Company.

All new ordinary shares issued during the year rank pari passu in
all respects with the existing shares.

35 BE

Afat ()
@ MN-ZEZAFLALR —HABEREE
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35 B®E @
Bzt ()

35 SHAR E CAplTAL (continued)

Note: (continued)

0} Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options at the end of 0} IR E B EIRAR R B R AR AT R AR i 2 5

the reporting date. Ho
Number of share options
WiENE
Exercise price 2010 2009
fiEm —$-%F “EThE
Before the After the Before the After the Before the After the
share share share share share share
Exercise period consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation  consolidation  consolidation
fTiER Rin&Ha Birafe ROEAHKE RHAKE ROSHE  RheHE
5 July 2002 to “ZT-F+AREE
4 July 2012 HK$0.2807% 7t HK$1.40075 7T 4,800,000 960,000 4,800,000 960,000
6 January 2004 to “ETME-AAZE
5 January 2014 —Z-mWE—-AAA HK$0.2207% 7 HK$1.10075 7T 10,500 2,100 10,500 2,100
20 September 2005 to “ETRFENAZTRE
19 September 2015 “Z-RFNATNA HK$0.1147% 7T HK$0.57075 7T 1,000,000 200,000 1,000,000 200,000
23 August 2007 to “ETHENAZT=HE
22 August 2017 —“Z—t+tFNA=1+=H HK$0.6307% 7 HK$3.15075 7T 69,780,000 13,956,000 69,780,000 13,956,000
9 September 2008 to “ZT)\ENANEE
8 September 2018 —Z-\FNANR HK$0.1747% ¢ HK$0.87075 7T 30,849,365 6,169,873 30,849,365 6,169,873
11 September 2008 to “EE\FAAT-RZE
10 September 2018 —Z-\FNA+H HK$0.1957 7 HK$0.97575 7T 22,000,000 4,400,000 22,000,000 4,400,000
24 November 2008 to “EEN\ET-AZTHmEZE
23 November 2018 —Z-\F+-R=1=H HK$0.0707% 7 HK$0.3507%5 7 - - 13,900,000 2,780,000
16 December 2008 to “EENETZATAEE
15 December 2018 - \F+=ZA+hHH HK$0.07627%5 7T HK$0.38175 7T 22,000,000 4,400,000 26,000,000 5,200,000
17 February 2009 to “EENEF-A+EAZE
16 February 2019 —T-NFZA+iH HK$0.0097 7 HK$0.49575 7T 12,000,000 2,400,000 12,000,000 2,400,000
29 May 2009 to “ZENFRA-THLARE
28 May 2019 “Z-NFRA=+N\H HK$0.0887% 7 HK$0.44075 7T 12,000,000 2,400,000 12,000,000 2,400,000
31 December 2009 to “ERNETZA=T-HE
30 December 2019 —Z-NF+ZA=+H - HK$0.22575 7T - 1,368,895 - -
15 January 2010 to “T-T5-A+HAZ
14 January 2020 A R - HK$0.36575 7T - 12,000,000 - -
174,439,865 48,256,868 192,339,865 38,467,973

Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for one ordinary SO EIER TiEE AENZEARN T —%
share in the Company. Further details of these options are set LRG0 X BE IR AE v — BRI FH NI %
out in note 36 to the financial statements. RFHTFE36 ©
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138

—ZTFEXA=1+H

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
The Company adopted a share option scheme on 5 July 2002
whereby any employees (whether or not full-time or part-time)
and any consultant or adviser who, at the sole discretion of
the board, subject to the terms of the share option scheme,
contributed to the Group, may be granted options to subscribe

for shares in the Company.

36 FABxiERtE

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the schemes must not exceed 10% of

the shares in issue.

(i) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
Pursuant to the Pre-IPO option scheme adopted by the
Company on 5 July 2002 (the “Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme”), the principal terms of which were set out in
the Prospectus, options were granted to the grantees to
subscribe for shares in the Company.

The following share options with an exercise period from
5 July 2002 to 4 July 2012 were outstanding under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme during the year:

AARR_ZET_FLARAKRA—EE
PrERT &) R EAEE (TR ERER
B) R AR A R SRR (R A At 8
ZIERT m§$a’1\%@’ﬂamﬁ%ﬁzﬁ‘§l
BFERE) A BREBRENRBAL
Bt e

RIEZ %E‘f%J A BB H 2 BE AR A PO M AR (7
B ZZEHABEETRMNDZ10% °

() BHROMERRAMEREND
BEARRAR_ZTEE_F+ARBIRK
M E X AFRERATERETE ([H
RARERATEIERTS] EEER
HRENERER) AR B MEAR AR
IR AR BB A QR IR o

£ AR 2 0 2 B 1 B AR
MR BRI ((TERE—FT
—ALARASE-2 - —&+AmA)
T -

Number of share options granted on 5 July 2002
RISE_FEAAARMHCHERENE

At 1 July 2009 Granted during the year Exercised during the year At 30 June 2010

RZSSAFEA-H FREH FRTE RZE-BEXAZTH
Before After Before After Before After Before After
Name or category the share the share the share the share the share the share the share the share
of participant consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation
SHRERRUED RivaHm  RIARGHE RIDEHN ROHSHE RESHH  ROAEHE RASHE RDAHE
Exercise price per share BIR1TR(E HK$0.280/% 7T HK$1.40077 HK$0.280% 7 HK$1.400% 7T HK$0.2807 7 HK$1.400%7T HKS0.280 7T HK$1.40078 7T
Senior management BRERE 2,400,000 480,000 = = = = 2,400,000 480,000

Other employees and

consultants HitfE 8 REERS 2,400,000 480,000 - - - - 2,400,000 480,000
4,800,000 960,000 - - - = 4,800,000 960,000
Exercisable share options A {T{i 8 4,800,000 960,000 4,800,000 960,000
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36 SHARE 0PT|ON SCHEMES (continued)

(ii)

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by the sole
shareholder of the Company on 5 July 2002, the
Company adopted the Post-IPO share option scheme,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Schemes” in Appendix IV of the
Prospectus. Options were granted by the Company
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 6 January
2004.

The following share options with an exercise period from
6 January 2004 to 5 January 2014 were outstanding
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during the
year:

36 MERHEE W

(ii)

HROMEREMARERTD
BEARRE—RRR_ZEZT _Ft
ARHBBNEMAZSE  NAFHF
MEX A AAEREERENS HE
TR TRE A S AR F2 F Br Y [ B3 AR
e — RN _TETME—ANA
RABRIEE N AFHEREBRERT
S5 B A o

FRREBEERAFERZBRETS
RARTTEZBEE (ITEHE-FF
ME—-—ARBE-_ZT—NFE—AHH)
LIS

Number of share options granted on 6 January 2004

RISEME-ANERHZMEERE

At 1 July 2009 Granted during the year Exercised during the year At 30 June 2010
RZEEAFLR—-H FREH FERTE RZE-BERA=TH

Before After Before After Before After Before After

Name or category the share the share the share the share the share the share the share the share

of participant consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation

BRERERER BRAAHN RAAHE ROAHN  ROANE BHAKR  ROAKE  RASHN  RAAHE

Exercise price per share  FR1THEE HK$0.220%7C HK$1.100%E7T HK$0.2207L HK$1.1007T HKS0.220 7 HK$1.10047T HK$0.220/87T HK$1.1007% 7T
Other employees and

consultants HifE 8 RERM 10,500 2,100 - - - - 10,500 2,100

10,500 2,100 - - - - 10,500 2,100

Exercisable share options 1771 & Ak i 10,500 2,100 10,500 2,100

Annual Report 09/10 ¥} Inno-Tech Holdings Limited FE &2 B F IR 2 5 139



Notes to the Financial Statements

SRR ot

For the year ended 30 June 2010 BZE—_Z—ZTF/, A=+H

36 SHARE 0PT|ON SCHEMES (continued)

140

(iii)

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by the sole
shareholder of the Company on 5 July 2002, the
Company adopted the Post-IPO share option scheme,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Schemes” in Appendix IV of the
Prospectus. Options were granted by the Company
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 20
September 2005.

The following share options with an exercise period
from 20 September 2005 to 19 September 2015 were
outstanding under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
during the year:

36 MMEREE W

(iii)

HROMEREMARETD
BEBEARNFE—RRR_ZEZT _Ft
ARRABBZEMRAZSE AR A
MmERAFREREBERETE KX
TR IRE A S AR F2 F Br Y [ B3 AR 4
E] — - ARAR _TETRFNA
—+BREE R AAEREBRERT
S B A o

FARBE X AREREZERETZ
MARITEZEBRE (1TEHH=_FT
EENA-+RE-_E—AFHA
+AB)MT:

Number of share options granted on 20 September 2005

RISBIFAA-TABHZBRERE

At 1 July 2009 Granted during the year Exercised during the year At 30 June 2010
RZSEAFLRA-H FREH FERTE RZE-BEXAZTH

Before After Before After Before After Before After

Name or category the share the share the share the share the share the share the share the share

of participant consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation

BHRERRUAR Kinats BRa#E ROHGHN  RRESHE ROAHKE  RHEHE RREGHN  RIASHE

Exercise price per share ~ BRIT{EE HK$0.114%8 7T HK$0.570% 7T HK$0.11487L HK$0.570/8 7L HKS0.114/8 L HKS0.6570%87L HK$0.11487L  HK$0.5707% 7T
Other employees and

consultants Hitnfe 8 RER 1,000,000 200,000 - - - 1,000,000 200,000

1,000,000 200,000 - - - 1,000,000 200,000

Exercisable share options A {T{EE& ki 1,000,000 200,000 1,000,000 200,000
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36 SHARE 0PT|ON SCHEMES (continued)

(iv)

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by the sole
shareholder of the Company on 5 July 2002, the
Company adopted the Post-IPO share option scheme,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Schemes” in Appendix IV of the
Prospectus. Options were granted by the Company
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 23 August
2007.

The following share options with an exercise period from
23 August 2007 to 22 August 2017 were outstanding
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during the
year:

36 MERHEE W

(iv)

HROMEKREMARETD
BEBEARRE—RRERR_ZEZT _Ft
ARABBZEmMAZSE  ANAEHF
MEX ARAEREERENS HE
TR TRE P S AR F2 H B Y [ B3 AR
FE| S R—TTEFNA-T=
B AREREHXAREREZER
RERT B3R AR AE -

FRREBEBE X AFAEREBRETS
MARITE 2 BIRE (1TFEHH=ZZFZ
tENA=-+=B=2_F—+FN\A
—+=ZH)WT:

Number of share options granted on 23 August 2007
REBBLFNAZTZABRHCHBRERA

At 1 July 2009 Granted during the year Exercised during the year At 30 June 2010
RZEEAFLRA—-H FREH FER{TE RZE-BFERA=TH

Before After Before After Before After Before After

Name or category the share the share the share the share the share the share the share the share

of participant consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation

BRERRNAR Biradta  RiDAHE ROEHH ROAHE RRASHN  RNAHE ROEHE  RbHeH®

Exercise price per share  FR1THE(E HK$0.630% 7 HK$3.150% T HK$0.630EL HK$3.15087T HKS0.630/8 L HKS3.150% 7T HKS0.630/87L HK$3.1507% T

Directors 2 34,720,000 6,944,000 - - - - 34,720,000 6,944,000

Senior management BRERE 22,190,000 4,438,000 - - - - 22,190,000 4,438,000
Other employees and

consultants Hitfe 8 KB 12,870,000 2,574,000 - - - - 1287000 2,574,000

69,780,000 13,956,000 - - - - 69,780,000 13,956,000

Exercisable share options AT {F & i 69,780,000 13,956,000 69,780,000 13,956,000
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36 SHARE 0PT|ON SCHEMES (continued)

142

(v)

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by the sole
shareholder of the Company on 5 July 2002, the
Company adopted the Post-IPO share option scheme,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Schemes” in Appendix IV of the
Prospectus. Options were granted by the Company
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 9
September 2008.

The following share options with an exercise period
from 9 September 2008 to 8 September 2018 were
outstanding under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
during the year:

36 MMEREE W

(v)

HROMEREMARETD
BEBEARRE—RRR_ZEZT _Ft
ARRABBZEMRZSE AR A
MmERAFEREBERETE KX
TR IRE P S AR = F2 F SR Y [ B3 AR A
E] —f e ARAR T NFNA
NBREE X QRS REERETE
B B RRAE

FRREERAFERZBERETE
RARITEZBERE (TEHH-FF
NEFELANBEZZ—N\FAANB)
LI

Number of share options granted on 9 September 2008
RESBNFEAANLARHZERERA

At 1 July 2009 Granted during the year Exercised during the year At 30 June 2010
RZEBAFLRA-H FREH FERTE RZE-BERAZTH

Before After Before After Before After Before After

Name or category the share the share the share the share the share the share the share the share

of participant consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation

BHRERRUAR Kinats BRa#E ROHGHN  RRESHE ROAHKE  RHAHE RRESHN  RIASHE

Exercise price per share ~ BRITEE HK$0.174% 7T HK$0.870% T HK$0.17487L HK$0.870/87L HKS0.174 7L HKS0.870%7L HK$0.17487L HK$S0.8707% 7T

Senior management BRERRE 10,363,746 2,072,749 - - - - 10,363,746 2,072,749
Other employees and

consultants HAifE & KBRS 20,485,619 4,097,124 - - - - 20,485,619 4,097,124

30,849,365 6,169,873 - - - - 30,849,365 6,169,873

Exercisable share options ] {T{ 85 i 30,849,365 6,169,873 30,849,365 6,169,873
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36 SHARE 0PT|ON SCHEMES (continued)

(vi)

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by the sole
shareholder of the Company on 5 July 2002, the
Company adopted the Post-IPO share option scheme,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Schemes” in Appendix IV of the
Prospectus. Options were granted by the Company
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 11
September 2008.

The following share options with an exercise period
from 11 September 2008 to 10 September 2018 were
outstanding under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
during the year:

36 MERHEE W
(vii BROMSREMRETR

BEARRE—RRR_ZEZT _Ft
BFRBRBZEMRZER AR AA
AN E XA RS REEIRES
g EFXrZHRAERNEREREMEED
[BRENE] — - ARFR_ZTF
NENA+—BREEAAHERE
BE AR ST B B AR A -

FRREBEERAFERZBRETE
RARTTEZEEE (ITEHE-FF
NEAR+—BZEZZE-N\FAAT+
H)WT:

Number of share options granted on 11 September 2008

RESBNEAA+—ARHZRERERE

At 1 July 2009 Granted during the year Exercised during the year At 30 June 2010
RZEEAFLR-H FREH FERTTE RZE-BFEXA=TH

Before After Before After Before After Before After

Name or category the share the share the share the share the share the share the share the share

of participant consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation

BHRERRNAR Biradta  RiDAHE ROEHH RhAaKE RRESHN  RNAHE ROEHE  RbHeh®

Exercise price per share ST (E HK$0.195% 7 HK$0.975% T HK$0.195E 7T HK$0.97570 HKS0.195 7 HKS0.975/87 HK$0.195%87 HK$0.9757% 7T
Other employees and

consultants Hifg 8 REM 22,000,000 4,400,000 - - - - 22,000,000 4,400,000

22,000,000 4,400,000 - - - - 22,000,000 4,400,000

Exercisable share options A 1T & R 22,000,000 4,400,000 22,000,000 4,400,000
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36 SHARE 0PT|ON SCHEMES (continued)

144

(vii) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by the sole
shareholder of the Company on 5 July 2002, the
Company adopted the Post-IPO share option scheme,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Schemes” in Appendix IV of the
Prospectus. Options were granted by the Company
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 24
November 2008.

The following share options with an exercise period
from 24 November 2008 to 23 November 2018 were
outstanding under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
during the year:

36 MMEREE W
(vi) HROMEREMAER

BEBEARNFE—RRR_ZEZT _Ft
FRBRBZEMRZE AR AA
BT RAE R ARERZBRER
g EFrZRAERERERW T
[BRETE —f-ARFAR_ZEZ
NEFE+—BA-+HOBEBEERXARE
% 1% B8 A% A 5T 2 5% S B AR A o

FRIREE XA SR IL B2
MAITEZERE ((TEHA-ZT
NE+—A=tmMRZE=2—N\%
+—AZ=+=B)@T:

Number of share options granted on 24 November 2008

RIBENF+-AZ+HARHZHEERE

At 1 July 2009 Granted during the year Exercised during the year At 30 June 2010
RZEBAFLR-H FREH FERTE RZE-BERAZTH

Before After Before After Before After Before After

Name or category the share the share the share the share the share the share the share the share

of participant consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation

BHRERRUA Kinats BRa#E ROHGHN  RRESHE ROAHKE RHEHE RRESHN  RIASHE

Exercise price per share ~ BRIT{EE HK$0.070% 7T HK$0.350% 7T HK$0.070E7L HK$0.350/87T HKS0.070/8 L HKS0.350/87 HK$0.070/87T HK$0.3507% T
Other employees and

consultants HifE 8 RERM 13,900,000 2,780,000 - - (13,900,000) (2,780,000) - -

13,900,000 2,780,000 - - (13,900,000 (2,780,000) - -

Exercisable share options A {T{E 88 ki 13,900,000 2,780,000 - -
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36 HRBxHERT & (m)
(viii) B X2 PSR & Mt

36 SHARE 0PT|ON SCHEMES (continued)
(viii) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by the sole
shareholder of the Company on 5 July 2002, the
Company adopted the Post-IPO share option scheme,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Schemes” in Appendix IV of the
Prospectus. Options were granted by the Company
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 16
December 2008.

The following share options with an exercise period
from 16 December 2008 to 15 December 2018 were
outstanding under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
during the year:

BEBEARRE—RRERR_ZEZT _Ft
BFRABRBZETRZER AR AA
RN E XA RS R E B EST
g EFXrZHRAEREREZEREMEED
[BRENE] — - ARFR_ZTF
NEFTZ A+ BREEXARER
% BB AT B B IR o

FRREBEE X AFAEREBRETS
MARITE 2 BIRE (1TEHH=ZZFZ
NE+-A+ABE-_ZE—N\E+=
A+HRB)WMT:

Number of share options granted on 16 December 2008

RIBBNE+ZA+RARHZRRERE

At 1 July 2009 Granted during the year Exercised during the year At 30 June 2010
RZBSAFELA-H Fhi Fh{TE R=B-BEXAZTH

Before After Before After Before After Before After

Name or category the share the share the share the share the share the share the share the share

of participant consolidation  consolidation  consolidation  consolidation  consolidation  consolidation ~ consolidation  consolidation

SRERANAA BfatE  RiAHE  RRAHE  RRAKE  ROAHE  RRAME  RIAAHN  RRAHE

Exercise price per share BRTER HK$0.0762/87C  HKS0.381% 7 HK$0.0762%87  HK$0.381 L HK$0.0762% L  HK$0.381/8 HK$0.07628 7L  HK$0.3817%7T

Senior management BRERE 4,750,000 950,000 = = = = 4,750,000 950,000
Other employees and

consultants Hinlg 8 REMH 21,250,000 4,250,000 - - (4,000,000) (800,000) 17,250,000 3,450,000

26,000,000 5,200,000 - - (4,000,000) (800,000) 22,000,000 4,400,000

Exercisable share options A7 B Ak 26,000,000 5,200,000 22,000,000 4,400,000
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36 SHARE 0PT|ON SCHEMES (continued)

146

(ix) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by the sole
shareholder of the Company on 5 July 2002, the
Company adopted the Post-IPO share option scheme,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Schemes” in Appendix IV of the
Prospectus. Options were granted by the Company
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 17
February 2009.

The following share options with an exercise period from
17 February 2009 to 16 February 2019 were outstanding
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during the
year:

36 MMEREE W
(ix) HROMEREMARETR

BEBEARRE—RRR_ZEZT _Ft
FRBRBZEMRZE AR AA
BT RAE R ARERZBRER
g EFZHRAERERERW T
[BRETE — - ARFAR_ZEZ
NE_A+EBREEXAHEERE
BE AR R B B AR A o

FRREBEE X AFAEREBRES
mARITEERE(TEHR =TT
hE-_RA++tBE-_ZE—hF_-A
AN =D N

Number of share options granted on 17 February 2009
RISBAFZA+tARMZBRERA

At 1 July 2009 Granted during the year Exercised during the year At 30 June 2010
RZBSAFELA-H Fhi Fh{TE RZB-ZFXA=1+H

Before After Before After Before After Before After

Name or category the share the share the share the share the share the share the share the share

of participant consolidation  consolidation  consolidation  consolidation consolidation  consolidation ~ consolidation  consolidation

SRERANER Bfats  RiAHE  RRAAHE  RRAKE  ROHAHE  RRAHE  RRAAHN  RRAKE

Exercise price per share BRTER HK$0.0098 7  HKS0.4958 7L HK$0.099E T HK$0.495%7T  HKS0.099%T  HK$0495%7  HKS0.009%7  HKS0.495% T
Other employees and

consultants Hitrfg 8 kR 12,000,000 2,400,000 - - - - 12,000,000 2,400,000

12,000,000 2,400,000 - - - - 12,000,000 2,400,000

Exercisable share options W47 ki 12,000,000 2,400,000 12,000,000 2,400,000
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36 SHARE 0PT|ON SCHEMES (continued)

(x)

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by the sole
shareholder of the Company on 5 July 2002, the
Company adopted the Post-IPO share option scheme,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Schemes” in Appendix IV of the
Prospectus. Options were granted by the Company
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 29 May
2009.

The following share options with an exercise period from
29 May 2009 to 28 May 2019 were outstanding under
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during the year:

36 MERHEE W

(x)

HROMEREMARERTD
BEARRE—RRR_ZEZT _Ft
BFRBRBZEMRZER AR AA
AN E XA RS REEIRES
g EFXrZHRAERNEREREMEED
[BRENE] — - ARFR_ZTF
NERA-THLBREEIAHER
1% BERR R AT S 9% L BB IR A

FRREBEERAFERZBRETE
RARTTEZEEE (ITEHE-FF
NERAZ+HNBEZZ-NFHA
—FTAB)WT:

Number of share options granted on 29 May 2009
REBBAFEAZTARBHCBRERA

At 1 July 2009 Granted during the year Exercised during the year At 30 June 2010
RZEEAFLRA-H FREH FER{TE RZE-BEXA=TH
Before After Before After Before After Before After
Name or category the share the share the share the share the share the share the share the share
of participant consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation consolidation
BHRERRNAR Biradta  RiDAHE ROEHH ROAHE RASHN  RNAHE ROEHE  RbHeHE
Exercise price per share  FR1THEE HK$0.088% 7T HK$0.440% 7T HK$0.088% T HK$0.44087T HKS0.0887 L HKS0.4408 7L HKS0.088/87L HK$0.4407% T

Other employees and

consultants Hifg 8 REM 12,000,000 2,400,000 -

- = 12,000,000 2,400,000

12,000,000 2,400,000 =

= = 12,000,000 2,400,000

Exercisable share options I {7 B i 12,000,000 2,400,000

12,000,000 2,400,000
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36 SHARE 0PT|ON SCHEMES (continued)

(xi) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

Inno-Tech Holdings Limited E&IiZBx H R 2 7

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by the sole
shareholder of the Company on 5 July 2002, the
Company adopted the Post-IPO share option scheme,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Schemes” in Appendix IV of the
Prospectus. Options were granted by the Company
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 31
December 2009.

The following share options with an exercise period
from 31 December 2009 to 30 December 2019 were
outstanding under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
during the year:

36 MMEREE W

(xi) HROMBEERMEREND
BEBEARNFE—RRR_ZEZT _Ft
FRBRBZEMRZE AR AA
BT RAE R ARERZBRER
g EFrZRAERERERW T
[BRETE —f-ARFAR_ZEZ
NE+-A=1t—BREBEEBXARE
% 1% B8 A% A 5T 2 5% S B AR A o

FRREE X AFEREERETE
MARITEZEBRE ((TEFH-ZT
hE+ZA=+—B&==-F—h*
+ZA=+H)TF:

Number of share options granted on 31 December 2009

REBBAF+-A=t—HBHZMEERE

Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed

Name or category of At 1 July during during during during At 30 June
participant 2009 the year the year the year the year 2010

RZBBAE R-B-2%
SRERRLER tA-H FREH FRTHE FREH ER%¥ ARA=tH
Exercise price per share BT E - HK$0.225%B7T HK$0.225/7C HKS0.22557 HK$0.225/8 70 HK$0.225% 7T
Directors S - 300,000 (200,000) - - 100,000
Senior management RREEE - 1,900,000 (1,200,000) - - 700,000
Other employees and AR B RER

consultants - 31,228515  (30,659,620) - - 568,895
- 33428515 (32,059,620) - - 1,368,895

Exercisable share options A 71 B A - - 1,368,895
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36 SHARE 0PT|ON SCHEMES (continued)

A=+H

(xii) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

36 MERHEE W
(xii) HRAMREEEMAETR

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by the sole
shareholder of the Company on 5 July 2002, the
Company adopted the Post-IPO share option scheme,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Schemes” in Appendix IV of the
Prospectus. Options were granted by the Company
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 15 January
2010.

The following share options with an exercise period from
15 January 2010 to 14 January 2020 were outstanding
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during the

BEBEARRE—RRERR_ZEZT _Ft
BFRABRBZETRZER AR AA
RN E XA RS R E B EST
g EFXrZHRAEREREZEREMEED
[BREE] — - ARFR_F—
TE—A+ABREEXAHAERE
BE AR AT B B AR A o

FAREERAREREE RS
AT 2 B (1T =T —
26— A+HERAE-_F_FF— 7

year: +HBE) T
Number of share options granted on 15 January 2010
RIB-BE-A+RABHcHRENE
Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed
Name or category of At 1 July during during during during At 30 June
participant 2009 the year the year the year the year 2010
RIZTAE RZE-Z%
SHRERRHER tA-H FEREH ERTE FREH ER%¥ AA=TH
Exercise price per share ~ FRATHE(E - HK$0.365%7T HK$0.365/% 7 HK$0.365% T HKS0.365%8 7 HK$0.3657 7T
Other employess and il 8 RER
consultants - 12,000,000 - - - 12,000,000
- 12,000,000 - - - 12,000,000
Exercisable share options A 71 B A1 - 12,000,000
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36

150

SHARE 0PT|ON SCHEMES (continued) 36
The fair values of the options granted on 20 September 2005,
23 August 2007, 9 September 2008, 11 September 2008,
24 November 2008, 16 December 2008, 17 February 2009,
29 May 2009, 31 December 2009 and 15 January 2010
determined using the Binomial Option Pricing Model and the
Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model were HK$2,459,600,
HK$32,590,077, HK$13,654,408, HK$5,868,400,
HK$2,597,910, HK$4,093,100, HK$1,071,600, HK$948,000,
HK$5,495,000 and HK$3,225,000 respectively. The significant
inputs and assumptions to the model were as follows:

L2 T ))
W-ZERFHALA-tH —ZTZTLFN\A
—+t=H ZEZENFALANE -ZTEN
FANA+—B —ZEZENF+—A=-+M@
B ZZZNF+_A+~H ZZEZNF
—At+ttH —EEAFEA-_tAIH =
ZEENFF+_A=+—BE_ZT—ZTF—
A+HBMBELEREZAFEES AR
EAERETEEERRIA T — &7 BT H R
EBENE E 52,459,600/ 7T * 32,590,077
77T+ 13,654,408 It * 5,868,400/ 7T
2,597,910 7T - 4,093,100/ 7T ~ 1,071,600
7 7T~ 948,000 It~ 5,495,000 7T &
3,225,000 7T sz A8 2 2 B B A BUE R R
B /UlNE

20 September 23 August 9 L 11 Septemb 24N 16 D l 17 February 29May 31 December 15 January

Grant date 2005 2007 2008 2008 2008 2008 2009 2009 2009 2010
ut £ 333 jut £ 202:3 ut 17183 jut 4 J1%:3 ut £718:3 jut 4 J18:3 ut £ 8- jut 1 J %3 ZEENE i 2 2

e AB=+H  NAZt+ZR ABRE ABt-B +-B=tEA t+ZA+XAE ZR+tB ER=tAB +=B=+-H —-A+3A

Stockassetsprice ~~ RVEAEEBAL  HKSO.MOBT  HKS063ET  HKSOA74ETL  HKSOA95HT  HKSO.OTETL

Exercise price Eopid HKS0.11478 7 HK$0.63%7T  HKS0.A74%T  HKS0.195% 7T HKS0.07% 7T
Expected volatility BHRiE 107% 77.37% 95.077% 95.255% 98.732%
Expected lfe BHERE 5 yearsF 10 years 10 years 10 yearsE 10 yearsF
Risk free nterestrate % 4.012% 4.480% 2.848% 2.799% 1.467%
Expected dividend yield & 53k 8132 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Expected volatility was based on weekly historical volatility since
the establishment of the Company.

The Binomial Option Pricing Model and the Black-Scholes
Option Pricing Model require the input of highly subjective
assumptions, including the volatility of share price. Any changes
in subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair
value estimate.
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HKS0.076% 7T HK$0.099%T  HKS0.0877T HK$0.23% 1T HK$0.378 7T
HK0.076278 7 HK$0.099B  HKS0.088ET  HK$0.2257  HKS0.3657 7T

100.409% 102.361% 102.323% 96.04% 97.35%
10 yearsF 10 yearsF 10 yearsE 5 years 5 yearsE
1.530% 1.586% 2.767% 1.93% 1.86%
0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

TRHPR MR I IRAR AR R RIS AR 2 BB 2

MIREETE °

“HABREEEEARB N R - FRHB
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37 RESERVES 37 GEfm
(@) The Group (@ Z*KME
Share Capital Investment Non-
Share option Convertible ~ Contributed Jempti Exch luati (A lated lling
premium reserve  notes reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve losses) interest Total
[ 3] THRER Fie
BiF@R L1 REGE BARR RERORR ERHE RAEGHE (RHEH) g8 #it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FhL FhL FHET FiEL T Th FiHn FEL T Th
At 1 July 2008 RIZTNE
+tA-B 342,866 23,220 = 5,625 43 (245) = (60,332) = 311,177
Loss for the year TEEEE - - - - - - - (391,000) - (391,000)
Issuance of shares Bakin 49,957 - - - - - - - = 49,957
Fair value of options BHBRELTE
granted - 28,233 - - - - - = = 28,233
Equity component of BIAREER
convertible notes RiESD
issued - - 15,448 - - - - - - 16,448
Exercise of share options g 29,416 (15,055) = = - - = = - 14,361
Share issuance costs (1,881) - - - - - - - - (1,881)
Exercise of convertible
notes, net of Zg BEHBRS
transaction costs A 21,202 - (6,817) - - - - - - 14,405
Fair value changes of
avallable-for-sale
investment - - - - - - (640) - - (640)
Release of exchange
reserve upon disposal
of foreign subsidiaries - - - - - 72 - - - 72
Exchange difference
on consolidation - - - - - 82 - - - 82
At 30 June 2009
441,580 36,398 8,631 5,625 43 (205) (640) (451,332) - 40,100
At 1 July 2009
tA-R 441,580 36,398 8,631 5,625 43 (205) (640) (451,332) - 40,100
Loss for the year TEERE - - - - - - - (140,706) (86,686) (227,39)
Issuance of shares BR1 31,026 - - - - - - - - 31,226
Fair value of options RitERE A TE
granted - 8,720 - - - - - - - 8,720
Equity component of BITAREER
convertible notes RiEHsH
issued - - 15,184 - - - - - - 15,184
Exercise of share options ~ {T{5 & i 11,332 (6,404) - - - - - - - 4928
Deferred taxation EEHE - - (2,505) - - - - - - (2,505)
Share issuance costs R E{TEA (1,257) - - - - - - - - (1,257)
Exercise of convertible {7 A IRTEAT
notes, net of R ENRRS
transaction costs RA 21,898 - (6,620) - - - - = = 15,278
Transfer to proft or HETHREERAR
loss on disposal of BRZER
avallable-for-sale
investment = = = = = = 640 = = 640
Acqisition of a subsidiary W —FIHBA - - - - - - - - 96,135 9,135
Exchange difference RECEREE
on consolidation - - - - - (16) - - - (16)
At 30 June 2010
504,779 38,714 14,690 5,625 43 (221) - (692,038) 9,449 (18,959)
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(b)

37 RESERVES (continued) 37 ﬁﬁ (#8)
The Company F 27
Share Capital
Share option Convertible Contributed redemption  (Accumulated
premium reserve  notes reserve surplus reserve losses) Total
R DE: 1 B
Ririam 11 RERR HARE REG R (RHER) &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT THT THT THT
At 1 July 2008 i e JAN:E s =] 342,866 23,220 - 5,625 43 (62,653) 309,101
Loss for the year AEEER - - 13219 13219
Issuance of shares BaRG 49957 - - - - - 49,957
Fair value of options granted Bt BIREATE - 28,233 - - - - 28,233
Equity component of convertiole %17 A4 R Z iRk
notes issued #5 - - 15,448 - - - 15,448
Exercise of share options pid i 29,416 (15,055) - - - - 14,361
Share issuance costs RAETER (1,881) - - - - = (1,881)
Exercise of convertiole notes, /T TARZE -
net of ransaction costs ENBRRZHA 21222 = (6:817) - = = 14,405
At 30 June 2009 \ZZENERAZTA 441,580 36,398 8,631 5,625 43 (475,872 16,405
At 1 July 2009 R-ZEZNELA-H 441,580 36,398 8,631 5,625 43 (475,872) 16,405
Loss for the year AEEHE - - - - - (153,102) (153,102)
Issuance of shares R 31,206 - - - - = 31226
Fair value of options granted R EEMRIEZ AT - 8,720 - - - - 8,720
Equity component of BEIUARE Eﬂx% %)
convertible notes issued - - 15,184 - - - 15,184
Exercise of share options TR E 11,332 (6,404) - - - - 4928
Deferred taxation EERE - 2,505) - - - 2,505)
Share issuance costs RHETER (1,257) - - - - - (1.257)
Exercise of convertiole notes, T AIARTEAZE
net of transaction costs BNBRRZKA 21,808 - (6,620) - - - 15,278
At 30 June 2010 WZE-TF A=1H 504,779 38,714 14,690 5,625 43 (628,974) (65,129)
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37 RESERVES (continued)
Nature and purpose of reserves

(c)

()

(i)

(i)

7

v)

Share premium and Capital redemption reserve
The application of the share premium account
and capital redemption reserve are governed
by Section 40 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (“Companies Act”).

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair value
of the actual or estimated number of unexercised
share options granted to employees of the Group
recognised in accordance with accounting policy
adopted for share-based payments in note 4(o)(ii).

Convertible notes reserve

Convertible notes reserve have been set up and
will be dealt with in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policies.

Contributed surplus

Pursuant to the Re-organisation as set out in the
prospectus, the Company became the holding
company of the Group on 5 July 2002. The excess
of the consolidated net assets represented by
the shares acquired over the nominal value of the
shares issued by the Company in exchange under
the Re-organisation was transferred to contribute
surplus. Contributed surplus is available for
distribution to shareholders subject to the provision
of Section 54 of the Companies Act.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 4(y).

37

i 0 ()

(c)

EREERAE

()

(i)

(i)

17

v)

S5 5 18 R % 7 FE [0] (7 1
J& B A% 17 ) 18 BR M j% S BB [o) {56
BEXERE—NN\—FREE
([RRLE]) FBA40IREEE »

BRI

5 AR 5 1 PR AR B BT 54 (0) i)
LM EERZIHREAZ S
AHRATERZETASERE
8 7 BB S AaT R1TE B R
HEAFEAK-

CIE e g

AR ERFEEREASEZ
SRFBFEREY M RIEZEFR
RERTE

VN
RIEERERMLCEA X2
AR ZEE_F+ARHKA
REB IR AR - BRIFELEAR
ARIFTRERGBEMIEAR
BREBAETRMD CEB L
EEEFERTEEEEAAA
B o A BERAIRIZ A RIA 554
1R 1A A% 3R 9 I

V& 5 1
PE 53 e f R IR BB IN TS S 3R
RFEEE Z A BB S =AM o
IR AR M 5T A(y) Pk < & 5T
RERHE
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37

38

154

RESERVES (continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(i) Investment revaluation reserve

The Investment revaluation reserve represents
accumulated gains and losses arising on the
revaluation of available-for-sale investment that
have been recognised in other comprehensive
income, net of amounts reclassified to profit or loss
when those investment have been disposed of or
are determined to be impaired.

(vii)  Distributable of reserves
At 30 June 2010, no aggregate amount of reserves
was available for distribution to shareholders of the
Company (2009: HK$NIl).

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 27 October 2009, the Group acquired 47.2% equity
interest in Gaofeng Holding Co. Limited (‘HK Gaofeng”) at
a consideration of HK$75,000,000 (the “Acquisition”). HK
Gaofeng directly owns 100% equity interest of Jiu Jiang
Gaofeng Mining Company Limited (“Jiu Jiang Gaofeng”), a
company established in the PRC. Jiu Jiang Gaofeng owns
81.5% equity interest of Zhang Jia Fan Gold Mine, a company
established in the PRC and is engaged in the business of gold
mine in Zhang Jia Fan, the PRC and has not commenced
production activities. Prior to the Acquisition, the Group held
15.4% equity interest of HK Gaofeng and this has been
allocated for as available-for-sale investment (note 27). As a
result, HK Gaofeng became 62.6% owned subsidiary of the
Group subseguent to the Acquisition.

As mentioned by the Company’s circular dated 11 September
2009 (the “Circular”), Jiu Jiang Gaofeng 81.5% equity interest
of Zhang Jia Fan Gold Mine was yet to be approved by Jiangxi
Commerce Administrative Bureau when the Company made
its announcement for the Acquisition. The consideration of
the Acquisition was made by reference to a management
agreement entered into between Jiu Jiang Gaofeng and Zhang
Jia Fan Gold Mine with terms as mentioned in the Circular
(the “Management Agreement”). The Management Agreement
was automatically terminated, in accordance with the term,
when the approval was obtained from Jiangxi Commerce
Administrative Bureau on 9 July 2009. At date of completion of
the Acquisition on 27 October 2009, Zhang Jia Fan Gold Mine
is already a subsidiary of HK Gaofeng.

37

38
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38 ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued) 38 UxhE—RIMIE 2 F ()
The assets and liabilities of HK Gaofeng acquired at the date of RUEEEIE TR B 8]+ FTUE 2 HK Gaofeng

completion of the Acquisition are as follows: BERBENT:
HK$’000
FHE T
Assets and liabilities acquired: FIIBEERARE:
Property, plant and equipment and ME BELREEAREELRE
construction in progress 2,872
Intangible assets EEE 212,535
Accounts receivables, deposits and other receivables — FEULER 7K ~ & I E i & U 7038 3,089
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEED 159
Inventories BE 85
Trade payables, accrued expenses and B EMNER BB kAR T FRIE
other payables (23,135)
195,605
Less: Non-controlling interest B IEVE MR (96,135)
Less: Interest in available-for-sale investment held B BRI 2 N SR E s
prior to the acquisition (24,470)
Consideration RAE 75,000
Represented by RIATARNES
Convertible notes issued BETAUBRER 75,000
Net cash inflow arising from acquisition: WIS FTE AR S MAFE :
Bank balances and cash acquired FTU BB IR 1T SR RIS 159

The subsidiary acquired did not contribute significantly to the

Group’s reserve and results during the year.

During the year 2009, the Group acquired 100% of the issued
share capital of Dragon Emperor International Limited for a total
consideration of HK$20,906,000 (including professional fee of
HK$536,000). The amount of goodwill arising as a result of the

acquisition was HK$4,322,000.

ELEIE S

4,322,000 7T, ©

PAT YR RE BT B8 2 AT R A Al AN SR B KR D

RZEZ NG AEE ALK {E20,906,000
B 7T (B 15 B 3 B F536,0008 T)
Dragon Emperor International Limited& 2
TRAZ100%  WIBFTELERESEA
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38 ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued) 38 UWehE—RIMIE 2 E (=)
The net assets acquired in the transaction and the goodwill REGEMKB 2 EEFERMEERDEN
arising are as follows: s
HK$'000
FHEIT
Fair values of net assets acquired: FrEFEEE s A FE:
Available-for-sale investment AHEERE 16,600
Other payable W AN (16)
16,584
Goodwill arising from the acquisition W FTE £ 2 P9 B 4,322
Consideration KB 20,906
Represented by: AIATAHRXZ:
Convertible notes issued BETR R ER 13,816
Promissory note ETE S 6,554
Direct expenses incurred for the acquisition WEEFTEA 2 BEERX 536
20,906
Net cash outflow arising from acquisition: WS FTEE AR ZR & I F 58
Cash consideration HeRE 536
Dragon Emperor International Limited contributed HK$16,000 AR = =TT N F RS HIR - Dragon
to Group’s loss for the period between the date of acquisition Emperor International Limited 2 7% 5 & #5 3k
and the end of the reporting period in 2009. 16,0008 7T 2 HAN &518 o
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39 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 39 HEHRBAT
The Group has disposed certain subsidiaries during the year AEBRZZTENFRNHESE THE AR
2009, the net assets of those subsidiaries at their dates of ZEMBARNEHEERANEEFENOT :

disposal were as follow:

2009
ZETNF
HK$’000
T
Net assets disposed of HEZREE
Property, plant and equipment Y% BB R 6,857
Prepaid lease payments A EIE 33,439
Accounts receivables B UL AR R 170
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables TERTRIE - 1R & R H At FE Y GR IR 14,911
Amounts due (to) subsidiaries BB ET 217)
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries R E SN 43
Amounts due (to) associated companies FE () B R A (286)
Amounts due (to) directors fE () ESHE (7)
Inventories FE 286
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREFEEY 283
Bank loans RITERK (21,667)
Trade payables, accrued expenses and BIEMNFIE BrEST R
other payables H b &~ 5008 (2,509)
Provision for taxation TR IE R (17)
31,286
Attributable goodwill FEEEE 60,643
Release of translation reserve ELREEE 72
92,001
Loss on disposal s EE (84,375)
Total consideration BRE 7,626
Satisfied by: AR %1 & 18 s'z F:
Other receivables H b YRR 225
Promissory note ZINES 4,256
Cash He 3,145
7,626
Net cash inflow arising on disposal HHEEEZReRAFRE
Cash consideration HeRE 3,145
Cash and cash equivalents HeRIREEED (283)
2,862
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40 BEXEBEER
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the REEE I§E§$ BREEBEAIREE
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while BEREREE WHEBEBERRRALE
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation ﬁﬁé i Hﬁ}\’%tXE*K@# NS
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy REE B EFARMEFTE -
remains unchanged from prior year.
The Group manages the capital structure and makes REBERE ARG  WHLBEMRNI 2 E
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions REMEE 2 RBFEIEL AR - SR
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to FRENRGEE  ANEES2HERBREIRST
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust H& 2R MIREGR BN « B TR D
the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital SHMEB 2B R EEENREER -
to shareholders, issue new shares, raise new debt financing, EA_iE Ti&_ STNFFE BERE
or sell assets to reduce debt. No changes were made in the Fr I 48 {m] 5
objective and processes during the year of 2010 and 2009.
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio. The Group’s REBEREEBGBLERERER - AEH
policy is to keep the gearing ratio at a reasonable level. ZBERRBEFREEABLENGIEKF-
During the vyear, the Group’s gearing ratios exceeds 100%. In FRN - AEBEZEEBBHEBERBI00% © &
order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the REFSAREZLE  AEE T FAR MR RIK
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, NzBREERE BTHKR E5FHEERE
raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt. S HEEERDER
The Group’s gearing ratios at 30 June 2010 and 30 June 2009 AEBRZZE—ZTFA=THAEKZ=ZZEZTN
were as follows: FERNA=ZTRHZEEBEBRENT :
The Group
T5HE
2010 2009
—Z—ZF —ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
Debt (Note i) &% (Hati) 66,752 40,765
Cash and cash equivalents and pledged R& KIREEEBYIA KB BFFRK
deposits (10,326) (10,735)
Net debt B FHE 56,426 30,030
Equity (Note i) At (Hfazin) 45,795 82,984
Net debt-to-equity ratio BRI A L X 123.2% 36.2%
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40 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 40

(i) Debt comprises total bank borrowings, promissory notes and
convertible notes.

(i) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group.

Neither the company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

41 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 41
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods
adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses
are recognised, in respect of each class of financial assets and
financial liabilities are disclosed in note 4.

BEXRBEERw
) EEERTHEEE ANZHERTH
B

(i)  REBEAREEMARA R

AR A RAL A EL BT R R SNSRI I 2
BABERMR -

&MTHR
FRSEEREERERMABIEIESFK
KNP TE (RIEERIGM FTEEE
KR S 2 B ) FH G W EE NI EE4

Categories of financial instruments eMIRERN
The Group The Company
F%H b /N
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-Bf _—TTHhF CZEB-BE _—IZTTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET FTEXT FHET
Financial assets SHEE
Available-for-sale financial assets A EeRERE - 18,900 = =
Fair value through profit or loss FABERLATE 7,495 = - -
Loans and receivables Bk EY A 61,633 19,959 86,672 99,289
Financial liabilities EWARE
Amortised cost B PR 100,078 53,209 81,826 45,637
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks,
including credit risk, liquidity risk, equity price risk, foreign
currency risk and cash flow interest rates risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance
and are set out below.

@)

Interest rate risk

The Group has no interest-bearing borrowing and
variable-rate bank balances as at 30 June 2010. The
directors consider that the exposure on cash flow
interest rate risk is insignificant. Accordingly, no sensitivity
analysis has been prepared for the year ended 30 June
2010.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
on variable-rate bank borrowings as at 30 June 2009.
Management monitors the related cash flow interest rate
risk exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
cash flow interest rate risk exposure should the need
arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the end of the reporting period.
For variable-rate borrowings, the analysis is prepared
assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the end of
the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year.
A 100 basis point increase or decrease is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of
the possible change in interest rate.

At 30 June 2009, if interest rates had been 100 basis
points higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s loss after tax would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$18,000. This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on
its bank balances and bank loans.

41
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41 £MTIHRm
Financial risk management objectives and policies HMERREEARREE (@)
(continued)
(b)  Liguidity risk b) TEEDEE
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, MBEGEMBEREE ARAES
the directors of the Company have given careful ERAEARASERBE_ZT—TF
consideration to the future liquidity and going concern NAZTHLEFEEEABEY
of the Group in the light of the Group incurred loss 227,392,000 L (ZZE T N F:
for the year ended 30 June 2010 of approximately 391,000,000/ 7T ) e AR Al F FH R
HK$227,392,000 (2009: HK$391,000,000). The directors REBEES R LA e PR A B EA 2 Bt
of the Company are satisfied that the Group has so far BEERIBME UREBREAETAR
meet all the financial obligations as and when they fall SEHEBEERATAZ TAEEES
due and will consider to raise fund by ways of issuing FRTHEENSTEREREFES N
debt and equity instruments of the Group or to obtain JERNERRRBE ST -
adequate committed lines of funding from financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in future.
The following table details the remaining contractual TRAFVWAEERARRENTAER
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the BMEERMEHRRNRE MR
Group’s and the Company’s non-derivative financial TRBEHRMIRRERE (BHFEK
liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted BAEHMEFE 2 F B F kB
cash flows (including interest payments computed using FENFE  AIRIE RS HRE K2 F
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at K)o PARAREB MR RD Bl B SR
the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the ==
Group and the Company can be required to pay:
The Group
50
2010 2009
-3-3% LIV
Total Morethan ~ More than Total More than More than
contractual Within ~ 1yearbut 2 years but contractual Within 1yearbut 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or less than lessthan  More than Camying  undiscounted 1 year or less than less than More than
Amount  cashflow ondemand 2years 5 years 5 years Amount cashflow  on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
B2 A
AR -FAR  BA-F  @dRE RER RN BE-F  BERF
BEE AeRR ASEXME EORRE EOREE GEEE  FEE  SARE EAEGME PONAE  E0NEE  gans
HKSODD  HKSOOD  HKSODD  HKSO00  HKSODD  HK$O00  HKSOOD  HKSOD  HKSODD  HKSOD  HKSD0  HKOD
FHT  TAR  TET TR TERT  TER  TAr  TAn  TAR AR TAR Tan
Bank loans and BIEFRES
overdrafts - - - - - - 11,957 (11,957) (11,957) = = =
Trade payables, acorued & 5831
expenses and other
payables - 32,758 (32,758) (32,758) - - - 10,304 (10,304) (10,304) - - -
Promissory note payable  fEfS - - - - - - 6,702 (7,820) (7,820) - - -
Amounts due to directors EffE 568 (568) (568) - - - 2,140 (2,140) (2,140) - - -
Convertible notes pE:Ed 66,752 (77,078) (15,878) (61,200) - - 22,106 (29,508) (1,827) (27,681) - -
100,078 (110,404) (49,204) (61,200) - - 53,209 (61,729 (34,048) (27,681) - -
Annual Report 09/10 £ ¥} Inno-Tech Holdings Limited FE & #2 B 5 IR 2 5 161



Notes to the Financial Statements

SRR ot

For the year ended 30 June 2010 #H %= —

41

162

—ZEFXA=1H

=i
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41 &@mMIRm
Financial risk management objectives and policies MERREEEERBE (@)
(continued)
(b)  Liguidity risk (continued) b)) mEETEE (#
The Company
08
2010 2009
It 2 23 “EINE
Total Morethan  More than Total More than More than
contractual Within ~ 1yearbut  2years but contractual Within yearbut 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or less than lessthan ~ More than Carying  undiscounted 1 year or less than less than More than
Amount  cashflow  on demand 2years 5 years 5 years Amount cashfiow  on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
ash aan
FHE —FhE Bl-= BamE AR e BE-F BARF
EaE AeRE ARERME GIRAE EIRIF  @E1F RHE  ReNE RREXER EIRWE  EIRDF BBLF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEn FiEn FiEn T TET FET TR TiEn T T ThT T
Amounts due to ERHEAANE
subsidiaries 13471 (13471) (13471) - - - 13,757 (13,757) (13,757) - - -
Amounts due to directors & 160 (160) (160) - - - 245 (245) (248) - - -
Trade payables, accrued &
expenses and other
payables 1443 (1,443) (1,443) - = = 2807 2:827) 2:827) = = =
Promissory note payable &S - - - - - - 6,702 (7,.820) (7,820) - - -
Convertible notes THRESE 66,752 (77,078) (15,878) (61,200) - - 22,106 (29,508) (1,827) (27,681) - -
81,826 (9215 (30952  (61,200) - - 45,637 (54157) (6476 (27.681) - -
(c)  Equity price risk ) RIEREE
The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising NR-E—FTEG -FEFENEN ﬂ =+
from equity investments classified as trading securities BASKSESR AR EAR 3;

(see note 23) and available-for-sale investment securities
(see note 21) as at 30 June 2010 and 2009 respectively.

Sensitivity analysis
At 30 June 2010, if equity prices at that date had
been 5% higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, loss after taxation would decrease/increase by
HK$375,000 as a result of the changes in fair value of
trading securities.

At 30 June 2009, if equity prices at that date had been
5% higher/lower with all other variables held constant,
other equity reserves would increase/decrease by
HK$945,000 as a result of the changes in fair value of
available-for-sale investment.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

@)

(©

®

Credit risk

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales
of products are made and services are provided to
customers with an appropriate credit history. Bank
deposits are limited to high-credit-quality financial
institutions. The Group has policies that limit the amount
of credit exposure to any financial institution.

At 30 June 2010, the Group had certain concentration
of credit risk as 93% (2009: 100%) of the total trade
receivables of the Group were due from 1 customer
(2009: 4 customers). In addition, the Group had
concentration of credit risk on geographical area since its
total trade receivables consist of customers entirely from
the PRC of 100% as at 30 June 2010 (2009: 100%).
Those transactions expose to significant concentrations
of credit risk at the end of reporting period.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from accounts receivables
are set out in note 25.

Foreign currency risk

The Group does not have a significant foreign currency
risk exposure arising from its sales and purchases
transactions as these transactions are mainly carried out
in Hong Kong dollars. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis
has been prepared.

Fair value measurerments recognised in the statement of

financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of
the reporting period, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on
the degree to which the fair value is observable.

EMTRm
HMERMEEEERBE (@)

@)

(©

®

15 /2 B2
AEBYEEARRBESTER-
AEE 2 BRERRAAE RIFERTD
B E P & B M ER RS o SR1T
TFRERRDERFR M BEHE-
AEERTBBRRRH S BEIEZ
EERMmEE-

NR-B—TENA=1H KAEEN
BEETEESYRAR REEASHE
JEWE B HIBARRERRI0B% (T
NE 1 100% ) RE—& (ZETNEF:
mB)BF N AEB B EE
BEEhRBR FRAREE_ZT—TF
ANAZTRAIENERE 5 RIERE
FEI100% (ZZZNF : 100% ) 5K A
FRNEF SR SHREBRPLER
RASZBEANEESTER-

BRAARNSERKRREI B2 ERRAR
ZHE— T EIB R B OM 525 -

SR B
HREBERZTEUBTET HA
SEYEZEXHELEZEXNINER
2 o It - 3 AR BB R E D AT o

R BRI LR A FlEE

TEREARHERRRAFEFELZ
ERTEAIN EXRBEAFEZAER
ERERERF EZE-
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(continued)

®

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41 £MIHRm
Financial risk management objectives and policies MERREEEERBE (@)
Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of 0 REBRAKERZ N FELFE ()
financial position (continuead)
Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from F—EBAFEFEHIERERTS L
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical HREESEEZRE (TEEMB
assets or liabilities. BISHZAFEE-
Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from F_EAFEFENERAE-—EAZ
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 WEAIINZ AT EZ (BMER) &
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (BIEEREL) BRmMEEEN AR
(.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). HE 2B ASIRSEH 2 AFEFTE-
Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from FEZBATEAENIEHRBRELIEE
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or RABEMSEE cEEXBE LA
liability that are not based on observable market data A AR (T ERE ARE) 2
(unobservable inputs). BERMEH 2 AT EFE-
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the AREBEHEAATFEEBEF ZELRS
fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety is HEPERB AT EAESEREMNS B
determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is BEAZKERERBASBIEET -
significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.
The Group The Company
*5E SN
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
- %R $ZR #it - R EE it
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000
TET THET THET FET THET THET FET THET
Financial assets at RATEF AR
fair value through LEREE
profit or loss
Non-derivative financial 3 ER 5 ik 2
assets held for trading fTESREE 7,495 - - 7,49 - - - -
Total @it 7,49 - - 7,495 - - - -

There were no significant transfers between instruments
in Level 1 and Level 2 during the year.
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BEBHzENRREERERER

42 COMMITMENTS
(a) Operating leases commitment
At 30 June 2010, the total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases are

(b)

payable as follows: EERINE
2010 2009
—E—8F —TTNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Within 1 year —F A 961 785
After 1 year but within 5 years —FRERFNA - =
After 5 years AF% - =
961 785

The Group leases a number of properties under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of one
to two years, with an option to renew the lease when
all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes

contingent rentals.

Capital commitments

Capital commitments outstanding at 30 June 2010 not
provided for in the financial statements of the Group were

AEBREBELEHOEELEY R
HO—RNLHH—EMF HOE
MR TEEEEMEYN WENETM
BIEK - ZFHOLEBEHREE -

(b) BEFHiE

R-ZE-—TFEXA=THHREEM
WARRA R E 15 TR B 2 B A

as follows: BT
2010 2009
—E—-ZF ZEENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET T

Contracted but not provided for: EHENEE L E

Acquisition of a subsidiary WiE— R E A A - 75,000
Investment in joint venture RELARIKE 18,661 18,333
18,661 93,333
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43 LEGAL DISPUTE 43 E#EUB
A High Court action was commenced against the Company’s BEEGERZZE—SF\AHEARRER
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and the Company in August TTE&%@%&$ AMAIRERRE - ARF]
2010 in respect of alleged breach of investment agreement EERITBBHEIT L 2IRE HZE RIS H
and placing agreement between the plaintiff, the Company’s ZRAFR REABRERREE REYD
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The plaintiff has filed 15,838,000/ 7T
a statement of claim claiming damages in the amount of
approximately HK$15,838,000.
The directors, based on legal advice, consider that the case is EFRBEEERRBAZEMFNERII R
in its pre-mature stage in which it is not possible to estimate E&- /\E’\fﬁﬁé‘“ﬁﬁﬂ/ﬂﬁﬁ?WZ? BEER-
the eventual outcome of the claims at this current stage. In PEAN WS A B BN ER - HEE R EETE AR
addition, it would not be possible to quantify reliably the likely SEAEEACEERER-
potential damages and cost to be incurred by the Group in the
event that the Company fails in its defence.
44 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 4 BREFRS
(a) The following represents a summary of material (@) AEBEHEZZFMARNEELSRFANE
transactions during the year between the Group and TZERRSBEWNT :
related parties identified by the directors:
2010 2009
—E—F —ZETNF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt THET FET
Operating expenses paid BEfNEERY () 449 636
Consultancy fee paid B EMNE (i) 157 174
Loan interest income B IF B U A (i) — 369
Impairment loss recognised in &t 3% H T — & AT & A &)
respect of loan to a former ERERBIEEE
associate (iv) - 12,440

Reversal of impairment loss in 343 5T — & AT = A &)
respect of loan to a former B RERIERED
associate (i) 6,249 -
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44 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

(continued)

Note:

(i)

(v)

The directors, Ms. Wong Yuen Yee, Mr. Wong Yao Wing,
Robert, Mr. Lam Shiu San and Mr. Wong Kwok Sing, and
related companies paid certain operating expenses on
behalf of the Group.

Consultancy fee paid to Digital Bank Technology Limited,
of which Mr. Lam Shiu San is the common director, for
the provision of technical support.

Loan interest income from United Premier Medical Group,
a former associate of the Group.

Impairment was made for loans to United Premier
Medical Group, a former associate of the Group in
previous year and partial repayment made during the
year.

In previous year, purchases of Great China Media
Holdings Limited, an associate of the Group, from Capital
Base Holding Limited, of which both Ms. Wong Yuen
Yee and Mr. Wong Kwok Sing are executive directors
and owners. The consideration involved amounting to
HK$43,384,000 which has been satisfied by issuance of
convertible note as detailed in note 34.

In previous year, directors of the Company provided
personal guarantee for banking facilities to the extent of
HK$12,000,000 granted to the Group and the Company.

Mr. Lam Shiu San resigned as director of the Company
on 1 June 2010.

Mr. Wong Kwok Sing resigned as director of the
Company on 23 March 2010.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
above transactions with related parties were conducted
on normal commercial terms and in the ordinary course
of business.
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SRR ot

For the year ended 30 June 2010 BZE—_Z—ZTF/, A=+H

44 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

4 BREFXHw

Compensation of key management personnel b) ETEEBARZEHS
The remuneration of directors and other members of key FRAESEREMETBEEEAEZHE
management during the year was as follows: R
2010 2009
—Z—ZF —ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FHTT
Basic salary, allowance and EARFH e EZMR
other benefits H 48 F) 6,535 6,638
Recognised retirement pension BERRZENRE 71 72
Share-based payments VARG 0 B EEHE 2 2 i 295 1,033
6,901 7,743
45 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 45 HEMESEE
The Company entered into a sales and purchases @ WAARHHBHA-_Z—ZF+ A

46
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@)

agreement to acquire 100% equity interest in Active Link
Investments Limited (“‘Active Link”) for a consideration
of HK$105,600,000 as set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 21 July 2010 and circular dated
24 August 2010. The Company had paid a refundable
deposit of HK$10,000,000 during the year and the
acquisition is yet to be completed as at the date of this
report.

Active Link was established on 19 May 2010 and is
principally engaged in investment holding Active Link’s
subsidiaries engage in design, production and publication
of outdoor advertisements in the PRC. The Group is
expected to further expand its business in outdoor
advertising industry in the PRC through the acquisition.

It is impractical to disclose the pro forma revenue and
profit of the Group for the year had the acquisition
been effected at the beginning of the year, disclose the
carrying amount, fair value of the net assets acquired and
any goodwill arising from the above acquisition as the
information for business combination is incomplete at the
time the financial statements are authorized for issue.

A High Court action was commenced against the
Company subsequent to the reporting period as detailed
in note 43 to the financial statements.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to
conform with current year’s presentation.
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—t+—HBZ2AMkBEHAEZZT—ZF
NAZ+HB ZBEETE - ARFET
3 B B ek AR E 105,600,000/
JC U BE Active Link Investments Limited
([Active Link]) 100%M% 78 # 25 °
AARRFEFANESZNA FRERZS
10,000,000/ 7T » M AN zRk< B HE » 7%
W g =5 I8 18 R FEAK ©

Active Linkk—Z—ZFH A+ H
FRAL  E BB E R ETS o Active
LinkZ Fi B A 7] 2 7% B R BRAT
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BUESEE—PHREGERRZF

SNEE R
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